
 

(i UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549-4561

DIVSION OF
CORPORATION FINANCE

March 30, 2011

Justin P. Klein
Ballard Spah LLP
1735 Market Street, 51st Floor
Philadelphia, PA 19103-7599

Re: Penn National Gaming, Inc.

Incoming letter dated Februar 11,2011

Dear Mr. Klein:

\
Ths is in response to your letters dated Februar 11,2011, March 4,2011,

March 17, 2011, and March 25,2011 concernng the shareholder proposal submitted to
Penn National by UNITE HERE. We also have received letters from the proponent dated
Februar 24, 201 i and March 22,2011. Our response is attached to the enclosed
photocopy of your correspondence. By doing this, we avoid having to recite or
sumarze the facts set forth in the correspondence. Copies of all of the correspondence
also wil be provided to the proponent.

In connection with this matter, your attention is directed to the enclosure, which
sets forth a brief discussion of the Division's informal procedures regarding shareholder
proposals.

Sincerely, 
Gregory S. Belliston
Special Counsel

Enclosures

cc: Kate O'Neil

Senior Research Analyst
UNITE HERE
P.O. Box 667
Tunica, MS 38676



March 30,2011

Response of the Office of Chief Counsel
Division of Corporation Finance

Re: Penn National Gaming, Inc.

Incoming letter dated February 11,2011

The proposal recommends that the board take the steps necessar to amend the
company's bylaws to provide that director nominees shall be elected by the afrmative
vote of the majority of votes cast at an anual meeting, with a plurality vote stadard
retained for contested director elections.

We are unable to concur in your view that Penn National may exclude the
proposal under rule 14a-8(i)(4). We are unable to conclude that the proposal relates to
the redress of a personal claim or grievance againstthe company. We also are unable to
conclude that the proposal is designed to result in a benefit to the proponent, or to fuher
a personal interest, which is not shared by the other shareholders at large. Accordingly,
we do not believe that Penn National may omit the proposal from its proxy materials in
reliance upon rule 14a-8(i)(4).

Sincerely,

Reid S. Hooper
Attorney-Adviser



DIVISION OF CORPORATION FINANCE 
INFORMAL PROCEDURES REGARDING SHARHOLDER PRQPOSALS 

The Division of Corporation Finance believes that its responsibility with respect to 
matters arising under Rule 14a-8 (17 CFR 240. 
 14a-8), as with other matters under the proxy 
rules, is to aid those who must comply With the rule by offering informal advice and suggestions 
and to determine, initially, whether or not it may be !lPpropriate in a paricular matter to_ 
recommend enforcement action to the Commission. In connection with a shareholder proposal 
under Rule 14a-8, the Division's staff considers the information fuished to it by the Company 
in support of its intention to exclude the proposals from the Company's proxy materials, as well 
as any information fushed by the proponent or the proponent's representative. 

Although Rule 14a-8(k) does not require any communcations from shareholders to the 
Commission's staff, the staffwill always consider information concerning alleged violations of 
the statutes admnistered by the Commission, including argument as to whether or not 
 activities 
proposed to be taken would be violative of the statute or nile involved. The receipt by the staff 
of such information, however, should not be constred as changing the staff's informal 
procedures and proxy review into a formal or adversar procedure. 

It is important to note that the staff's and Commission's no-action responses to 
Rule 14a-8G) submissions reflect only informal views. The determinations reached in these no-
action letters do not and cannot adjudicate the merits of a company's position with respect to the 
proposal. Only a cour such as a U.S. District Cour can decide whether a company is obligated 
to include shareholder proposals in its proxy materials. Accordingly a discretionary 
determination not to recommend or tae Commission enforcement action, does not preclude a 

company, from pursuing any rights he or she may have againstproponent, or any shareholder of a 

the company in cour, should the management omit the proposal from 
 the company's proxy 
materiaL. 
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March 25. 20 I 1 

Via E-mail 

U.S. Secuiities and Exchange Commission
 
Division of Corporation Finance
 
Office of Chief Counsel
 
100 F Street, N.E
 
Washington, D.C. 20549
 

Re: Third Supplement to Letter Dated February 11,2011 Related to the Shareholder Proposal of 
UNITE HERE 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

As a tùrther supplement to the letters submitted on behalf of Penn National Gaming, Inc. (the 
"Company"), to the staff of the Division of Corporation Finance (the "Staff") of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), we are submitting this Jetter in response to UNITE 
HERE's (the "Proponent") letter to the Staff dated March 22, 2011. The Company has provided to 
the Staff more than ample proof of the Proponent's sole motive -- to attack the Company until it 
capitulates on the Proponent's demand for a union card check arrangement that will result in 
substantial additional revenuestì'om the collection of union dues from thousands of 
 the Company's 
employees. Instead of 
 reciting tàcts from our earlier conespondence, this letter will brietly address 
the credibility of the Proponent's arguments. To that end, please consider the following: 

1. The Company has provided a detailed chronology demonstrating the personal grievance that 
justifies omission of 
 the Proponent's shareholder proposal from the Company's proxy statement. 
Despite several opportunities, the Proponent has not refuted even a single fact presented by the 
Company. On this issue, the Proponent would ask the Staff 
 to believe its motives are solely to 
increase shareholder value despite being unable to deny any of the numerous facts presented. 

2. The atìdavits now otIered by the Proponent are (like the ones previouslyotTerecl) evasive at 
best. This new set of affdavits merely shows that the Proponent's attacks on the Company are not 
all undertaken by the same Proponent employees. The affidavits do not address the undisputed facts 
that comprise the corporate campaign. In addition, conspicuous by its absence is any atTidavit from 
the Proponent's executives who threatened the Company with a corporate campaign. On this point, 
the Proponent claims that the attacks against the Company are simply coincidental and unrelated. 
FlIthermore, the argument that the proposal was sent by an employee of an aHiliated branch of the 
Proponent does not change the íàct that the proposal was submitted by the Proponent, as a 
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shareholder of the Company, which is an affliate of the various union-branches that have taken 
action against the Company. 

3. In the Proponepts March 22,2011 response Jetter, the Proponent suggests that its 
"legislative research report" is intended to encourage behavior by the Company that will lead it to 
greater business success. If 
 that was at all true, the Proponent would have most likely first raised 
those issues in a private meeting with or in conespondence to the Company, rather than in a widely 
distributed research report. The Company finds it remarkable that the Proponent had the temerity to 
represent to any regulatory body, let alone the Commission, that its widespread publication of a 
misleading research report was somehow intended to improve shareholder value. 

The Company would be pleased to provide the StatI with any additional information, and answer any 
questions regarding this letter. Please do not hesitate to contact me at 215.864.8606 if you require 
additional information or want to discuss this letter tùrther. Thank you again for your consideration 
of this matter. 

Very truly yours, 

~f: c?K~
 
Justin P. Klein 

JPK/ls 

cc: Jordan B. Savitch. General Counsel
 

Carl Sottosanti, Deputy General Counsel 

();vIEAST t:13527510 vI 



March 22, 2011 

Via E-mail 

OFFICE OF THE CHIEF COUNSEL
 
DIVISION OF CORPORATION FINANCE
 
SECURITIES & EXCHAGE COMMISSION
 
450 FIFTH STREET, N.W.
 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549
 

Re: Second Response to Penn National Gamg, Inc's No-action Request Related to 
Shareholder Proposal from UNITE HERE 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

I wrte on behalf of 
 UNITE HERE in response to Penn National Gaming, Inc.'s ("Penn" or the 
"Company") second supplemental 
 letter dated March 17, 2011 to its no-action request made in 
previous letters to the Division of 
 Corporate Finance (the "Staff') ofthe Securties and Exchange 
Commission dated Februar 11,2011 and March 4,2011. Penn seeks no-action relief 
 under 
Rule 14a-8(i)(4), which applies to proposals related to a "personal grievance." In Penn's second 
supplemental letter the Company references a legislative research report circulated at a Marland 
legislative committee hearing as evidence that UNITE HERE's shareholder proposal is related to 
a personal grievance. The contact person identified on the report is Roxie Herberkian. Ms. 
Herberkian is the president of 
 UNITE HERE Local 7 in Baltimore, Marland. 

As indicated in our previous correspondence, the Proposal and Supporting Statement were
 
drafted and submitted by Kate O'Neil, a senior research analyst with UNITE HERE, under the
 
supervision of Mary Lear, UNITE HERE's Deputy Director of 
 Capital Stewardship. Both Ms. 
O'Neil and Mr. Leary are employees of 
 UNITE HERE International Union, not UNITE HERE 
Local 7. Both Ms. O'Neil and Mr. Lear have signed statements under penalty of 
 perjur stating
 

that they did not author or authorize the legislative research report. (See signed statements 
contained in Appendices A and B.) Likewise, Ms. Herberkian did not direct Ms. O'Neil and Mr. 
Lear to submit the shareholder proposal. Local 7 was not involved in the submission of UNITE 
HERE's shareholder proposal. 

Furhermore, we do not thnk it is in the best interest of shareholders for Penn to continue to 
engage in conflicts with governent agencies and elected offcials, as detailed in the legislative 
research report referenced by Penn. Such behavior by Penn could lead to widespread distrst of
 

the Company in an industr where the trust of regulators and the public is required for success. 
Furermore, unon communication with state legislators is protected by the constitutional right 
to petition governent. It is within the rights of affiliates of 
 UNITE HERE to offer analysis
 
related to legislative issues in Marland and other jursdictions. As detailed in our first letter to
 

. the SEC, the Staff 
 has not found a labor dispute between a unon and a company, nor an active 



unon organzing campaign at a company, to be sufficient for the exclusion of a proposal under 
14a-8(i)(4). See Dresser-Rand Group (Februar 19,2008), Cintas (July 6,2005), General 
Electric Company (Februar 3,2004), International Business Machines Corporation (Februar 
2,2004). Staff should deny the relief Penn seeks. 

Please do not hesitate to call me at 662-801-2241, if 
 we can provide additional inormation. As 
requested in our first letter, if Staff intends to issue a no-action letter we request a personal 
meeting before Staff does so. 

Sincerely, 

!:Nei~ '1~
 
Senior Research Analyst
 
UNITE HERE
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UNITEHERE!
 
1775 K Street, NW, Suite 620, Washington, DC 20006 · TEL (202) 393-4373 . FAX (202) 223-6213 . WWW.UNITEHERE.ORG
 

I, Kathleen O'Neil, am an employee and representative of 
 UNITE HERE. In my capacity as a 
senior research analyst for UNITE HERE, I wrote and submitted the shareholder proposal for 
inclusion on Penn National Gaming, Inc.'s 2011 Proxy. I did not wrte or authorize the 
legislative research report titled "Penn National: Broken Promises and Hardball Tactics." 
UNITE HERE's proposal requests that the Company amend its bylaws to adopt a majority vote 
stadard in director elections, with a plurality vote stadad retained in the case of contested 
director elections. I believe that ths proposal wil assist shareholders by increasing the 
accountabilty of the Board of Directors of the Company to its owners- the shareholders. 

I declare under penalty of perjur of the laws of the United States that the foregoing is tre and 
correct. Dated this ~;; day of March, 201 1.
 

riJ ()1 iJ
 

*.~3
 
JOHN W. WILHELM, PRESIDENT 

GENERAL OFFICERS: Sherri Chiesa, Secretary.Treasurer; Peter Ward, Recording Secretary; D. Taylor, General Vice President; 

Tho Thi Do, General Vice President for Immigration, Civil Rights and Diversity 
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UNITEHERE!
 
1775 K STRe. NW. SUIT 620. WMHINTON. DC 200. TE (202) 09337 . FAX (202) 22-6213. Vl.UNllERe.ORG
 

I, Mar Lea, am an employee and reestive of UNTE HERE. As UNITE HERE's 
Capital Stewship, I oversaw th prepartion ofUNTE HERE'sDe Dior of 


shaeholder proposa submtted for inclusion on Pen Natonal Gag. mc.'s 2011 Prxy. J did 
not autorze or prduc the legslative researh reott titled "Penn National: Broken Promises
 

and Hardball Tactics." I fiy believe that ths proposal to adot a majority vote stdad will 
benefit the shholde otPenn Nationa Gamin, In.c., and I believe shaeholder of the 
Compay wi sup.rt ths prposa as they have SUpo.rted oter goverce reforms in the pas 
inluding ones we have prposed. 

i declare under penalty of peur of the laws of the Unite Staes that the forgoing is tne and 
correct. Dated ths 22nd day ofMarcb, 201 1.
 

l7J t ß, 

JOHN W. WILHEM, GENlRA PReSIDENT 
F.ECUTII VlCE "RESIONT Mle Ca"'. Stri CIf Mø ElM ii. He TeWln. D.~. pei IMni
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1ì35 Market Street. 51S1 Floor Justin P. Klein 
Philadelphia. PA 191°3-7599
 Direct: 215.864.8606 
TEL 215.665.8500 Fax: 215.864.9166 
FAX 215.86+8999
 kleinj(fbaJlardspahr. com
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March 17,2011 

Via E-mail 

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
Division of 
 Corporation Finance 
Offce of Chief Counsel
 

100 F Street, N .E. 
Washington, D.C. 20549 

Re: Second Supplement to Letter Dated Februar 11,2011 Related to the Shareholder Proposal 
of UNITE HERE 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

By letters dated February 11,2010 and March 4, 201 i (collectively, the "No-Action Request"), on 
behalf of Penn National Gaming, Inc. (the "Company"), we requested confiration that the staff of 
the Division of Corporation Finance (the "Staff") of 
 the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
"Commission") would not recommend enforcement action if 
 the Company omitted a proposal (the 
"Proposal") submitted by UNITE HERE (the "Proponent") from the Company's proxy statement and 
fonn Óf proxy for its 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. As counsel to the Company, this letter 
is being submitted to further supplement the No-Action Request and to update the Staff on recent 
developments involving the Proponent. 

The No-Action Request provided an uncontroverted and detailed chronology of the continuing 
harassment by the Proponent against the Company that fonned the basis of our belief 
 that the 
Proposal should be excluded from the 2011 proxy materials pursuant to Rule 14a-8(i)(4) because the 
Proposal relates to the redress of the Proponent's personal claims and grievances against the 
Company. In addition to all the actions set forth in the No-Action Request, on March 15,2011, the 
Proponent distnbuted the attached self-styled "legislative research report" maliciously disparaging 
the Company at a Maryland legislative committee hearing on potential subsidies for race tracks, 
including the Rosecroft Raceway facility recently purchased by the Company out of bankruptcy and 
for which the redirected and already eararked subsidies represent a critical building block in re­
opening the facility and hiring a new complement of employees (see Exhibit A). The report attempts 
to paint the Company as dishonest by purporting to accurately describe various past events involving 
the Company. The Proponent's recitations, however, are rife with intentionally misleading 
inaccuracies and statements deliberately taken out of context. While the Company certainly wil 
address the inaccuracies of 
 these allegations in the appropriate forum, the mere fact that the 
Proponent would develop and widely distribute this article speaks volumes about their singular 
motivation. This latest missive by the Proponent is simply another example of 
 the Proponent's 

Di-lEAST # 134883 I 6 vg 
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singular focus on tring to coerce the Company into capitulating to its desire to represent (and collect 
dues from) the Company's employees without the benefit of giving those employees a meaningful 
option or a'secret ballot. 

In sum, the Proponent's so-called "research report" provides further support for the Company's No-
Action Request, as it demonstrates the Proponent's personal animus against the Company as well as 
its continued efforts to har shareholder value. Despite the Proponent's contention that it has an 
interest in shareholder value (see paragraph 2 of page 3 of the Proponent's letter to the Staff dated 
Februar 24, 2011), there is no circumstace under which its "research report" could possibly 
increase shareholder value. In fact, the report is a direct attempt to damage the Company's 
operations and growth initiatives in Maryland and across the countr thereby directly haring 
shareholder value. Furthermore, the Proponent's established and repeated efforts to harm 
shareholder value indicate that the Proponent's sole purpose in owning Company stock, as described 
in the No-Action Request, is to harass the Company with the additional mechanisms made available 
to shareholders, such as the shareholder proposal process. The Company believes that the timing of 
this latest action by the Proponent is particularly curious given that it clearly shows a disregard for 
shareholder value - directly contrary to the statements made by the Proponent to the Staff in their 
letter dated February 24, 201 1 and in light of the Staffs pending review of 
 the Company's No-
Action Request relating to a personal grievance.l Moreover, this latest development is virtally 
dispositive of its retaliatory motive with respect to the Company's detailed exposition of the 
Proponent's campaign in the No-Action Request and its utter disregard for shareholder value. 

the foregoing and the Company's No-Action Request, the Gompany believes that the 
Proponent's Proposal is simply another attempt to exert pressure on the Company in order to redress 
and pursue a personal grievance particular to the Proponent, and is therefore excludable under Rule 
l4a-8(i)(4). Accordingly, we respectfully request that the Staff confirm that it wil take no 
enforcement action if the Company excludes the Proposal from its 2011 proxy materials. The 

On the basis of 


with any additional information, and answer anyCompany would be pleased to provide the Staff 

questions regarding this letter. Please do not hesitate to contact me at 215.864.8606 if 
 you require 
additional information or want to discuss this letter further. 

In the Proponent's letter to the Staff dated February 24, 2011, the Proponent stated 
working with Penn shareholders"(f)urthermore UNITE HERE has a proven track record of 


to enhance shareholder value." 
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this letter, as well as our prior correspondence. 

Very truly yours, 

Thank you for your consideration of 


f .,¡.a!L
Justin P. Klein 

JPK/ls 

cc: Jordan B. Savitch, General Counsel
 

Carl Sottosanti, Deputy General Counsel 
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Penn National:
 
Broken Promises and Hardball Tactics
 

Roxie HerbekianLegislative Research Report 
(301 ) 651-8526 

March 14. 2011 rherbekian~unitehere.org 
Penn National Gaming has a history or breaking promises and using hardball tactics against states and local governments. 
On Februmy 3rd of this year, Penn National Chairman and CEO Peter CarHno said. "We planted a large flag in Marfland. 
and we're there for the long haul.'" But Penn National's commitment to Maryland has been 'on" one minute and 'off the next. 

According to the Washington Post. the pattern of broken promises started in 2007 when Penn National initially committed te 
buy Rosecroft Raceway, promising thaI the purchase was "not contingent on the approval of video lottery termmals at Ihe 

track" Then. Penn National withdrew its offer when the track did not get slots! 

In 2010 Penn National joined in the Maryland Jockey Club's attempt to wrest away a slot liCense from the Arundel MWs 
Casino. According to the Baltimore Sun. when the Maryland lót.tery Commission discussed taking action in response, Penn 
National took the unusual step of asking the commission to delay issuing its Pi:myvilie license. ¡¡ Sy threatening to delay the 

opening or its Perrrue casino, Penn risked depriving the Maryland Education Trust Fund. of $6.5 millìon in revenue from the 
casino's opening through November 1st, 2010,'" 

Despile agreeing to ihe terms before ii -planted its nag" in f.4aryland. Penn National sought to have a competing casino 

eliminated. Maryland is not a unique case: Penn National has a history of conflct with governments in other jurisdictions, 
including Ohio. Kansas. and ltinois: 

. Penn Nationalis considering moving Raceway Par'i( away from Toledo after promising the city it wouid keep 

the track open. according to the Toledo Blade 

Penn National is demanding $8 milion in annual tax breaks for its casino in Columbus after spending $24 
milHon to win the right to operate slots in the state. according to the Columbus Dispatch 

Penn National benefitted from a legislative push to overturn an IHinois Gaming Board ruling requiring it to divest 

itself or some of its caSinos. according to the 51. Louis Post Dispatch 

. Penn National allegedly broke a commitment to build a $250 milfion casino in Cherokee County, Kansas.
 

"i Was Basically Lied to'! 
RosenoH is not the only race track Penn National suddenly changed its plans for. Penn National o~vns Raceway Park in 

Toledo. Ohio. and recently announced thal it is investigating the possibiliy of relocating the racing !lcense. Accoròing to the 
Toiedo Blade. fifteen months ago Penn National 'unequivocally' stated they "have no plans to close Raceway Park"ioledo 
Disrncl 6 Councilman Lindsay Webb says that "I was basically lied to on the record." by Penn Naliona!." 

Penn National is apparently trying to squeeze Columbus taxpayers to add to their casino 
profis 
First. Penn National spent over $24 million to back an Ohio Siate Constitutional Amendment legalizing casinos.V. Then. the 
company asked Columbus for tax breaks for its casino. including $8 milion annually to fund road work and other 
infrastructure for the project." The request caught the city by surprise: Prior to t1e referendum legalizing slots in Ohio. Penn 

National "repeatedly said it wouid pay for any necessary pUblic improvements." according to the Columbus Dispatch. ,.,; The 
city has so far refused to give Penn National the tax breaks. Now. Penn National says it may oppose Columbus annexiig its 
casino site. costing the city millons of doliars in lost revenues annua!ly. Penn National's site is not covered by Columbus' 

water and sewer services, according to the Columbus Dispatch. Instead, Penn National fied permit applications with the 

UNITE HERE IS the hospitality worKers ii(lion lhal represents workers m the gaming imlusrry across the country. The Research Department 
piOV1(Jf,:~'S H~SHarch on the gaming indu~try f10Hl the perspect(ve of lhOSf! who work in the indu:-~tfy. 



UNITE HERE!
 

Ohio DEP to driU wells to provide water for the casino. " According to the Columbus Dispatch a nearby city was approached 
by an 'anonynious client' - represented by Penn National's project manager - who wants to truck in 120.000 gallons of raw 

sewage daily The Columbus Mayor's spokesman Dan Willamson responded "If they're looking for leverage. maybe 
something less ridiculoiiS. It doesn't pass the smeli test: ' 

Penn National promises compliance with regulatory agreements-until they can get them
 

overturned 
As a condition of Penn National's buyout of Argosy Gaming. the Ilinois Gaming Board required that Penn National had to sell 
two riverboats in Ilinois. Penn National .could ask the board to re-consider. But according to the Si. Louis Dispatch, in 2007 a 
bill fied with the legislature was amended to .overrulfe) state gambling regulators who'd ordered the company to selL." .. The 
legìsjative effort failed. but uttmately the company got the regulatory decision it wanted and kept the casinos it had promised 

to divest. '" 

Penn National "Bailed Out" on Cherokee County 
Penn National planned to build a casino in Cherokee County, Kansas.'" On April 9. 2008 the Kansas City Star reported thaI 
'Penn National Gaming is pressuring Kansas to b.ack off a requirement in stale law that companies invest at feast $250 miiion 
in state gambling casinos.""'" The Associated Press reported that Penn National sought the changes because of competition' 
from a nearby casino owned by the Quapaw tribe. Penn National COO Timothy Wilmott said "we applied before Uio Quapaw 
were on anybody's radar screen," xv But the record shows that the Quapaw Tribe broke ground for their c.'1sino on July 31st. 

2007, thirt days before Penn National filed it" proposal on August 31st of the same year.'" 

The iegis!alure rejected efforts to change the law, and Penn National C"-ancelJed the project According to the Kansas City Star. 
Penn Nationai af!Jued the casino "required too large an investment: Kansas State Representative Doug Gatewood 

11,disagreed, saying ..1 think they're just making excuses right now. ,,"" Cherokee County sued Penn National on September 


2008, seeking $53 milion in damages alleging breach of contract. According to the Associated Press two mediation sessions 
between the parties failed to reach a settement and the case will likely go to triaL. 'v"~ 

The Baltimore Sun: "Be skeptical about whether Penn National is the right partnet' 
After canceilíng its deal in 2007. Penn National announced it acquired Rosecroft Raceway on March 1 st. 2011. ," The 

Baltimore Sun reports that Penn National wants siots at Rosecroft, and is looking at semng its sitars of the /i-lryland Jockey 
Cub,"" An editorial in the Baltimore Sun written after Penn National announced its investment in the JocKey Club strikes true ­
"Horsemen should be skeptical about whether Penn National is the right partner. or if its iust another entity looking to cash in 

on Maryland slots: x." 

'Cho, ~1ó1nah_ ~13QWt)r; on Mary130cL" g~H'm¡,)(n Sw~ n Feb. 2011.. Business sa-.
 
"VVagnuf, .r.jhn. "SkJ~s TéstirnùoySeeil in a Nøw LighL¥ W3bh¡rh)t~ Post ()nline, 30 Nov, 2007.
 
"-' F~¡Ul;r, Nicrnc. "Cecil Siots ~..1íght Be Delayed by Claims in An.mdel Dispu1o," BaUlf'o:e Suo -;7 Sep!. 20 1ü~
 
" SlOs Re_el1li publlShf by In.. Maryland Siai.. LaUer CÖ"'itiiiku, from Si:pl. & (XI. 2010
 

Mf.isz:n(l, Igna:Óo ''Toíedo Coom'åman CÎaims Raceway Park O'Mlè:fS Limi'" The- Bh:de IT(lì~do. OHI2"t Jail. 2011 
:. C;¡rnoaiiin Fman-cf. Disdosure fìit.~ bv Ohio Jobs and Gro'Mh Committee. 
,.. Vìtal~~. R.:ibo)rt "C-iir,O auik~er Now SeeJwiy City tncentivcs for Its t.Jew Site. ~ Cejumbus Oispt¡(ch 24 Oel.. 20 ~O 
~.., Ectiodâl Stâff. ~Sitt;'k 10 the DeaL." Crnur\bus Oispl.tcn 5 O~~C. 2010
..1 C~ruso. Doug. -CaSiOO Can Get Enough \lJaìor Via V'iell$," Columbus Dísp-itch i DB'c. 2010. 

. Gib51)¡'. Elii:;\.flhy and Holty Zachariah. "1ruckJrig Out SUW1lgc a Castiy Fix, ~ Coiumbus Dlsp;:ldi 25 Jr.n, 20i !
 
'. Ì\k.'Ü~rml)n. Kevin. "C~~~lOú Owner is Hitting Jackpo( ~ 51. Louis Post-Di5paU.,h ~ June 200ï.
 
.. eken, i3. "Perm Keeps Hald of Emprlgss. ~ s.uthtown Star tChicago. iq :l"i Feb. 200e,
 
", .Penn Ná!l(mal Gam,ng Files Avpl~aoon to ßeeome lottery G(imm:g F.:cilit:i Manager in S()lJlhlJil~l K.3(I~;;'S" BW:,;;nc-s$ Wi(f:~ j1 30 Aug. 2¡,x)'r
 
... AIm. Rk"J.. ~Pt:nn Nalional Gaming Wants Kansas. to Relax 5250 f\tii1ion lnvt!stn'leri RUlè," KH!lSl-~:; Ci~y st."), 9 A~):. 20ß.C¡
 
." Ruckman. S,E, "'Qv.;.paws Break Ground to, Huge Cas.ir,o. ~~otel.- Tulsa '¡lVctld í Aug, 2007.
 
.,. .Penn Natiomd Gamj!)g FiiCS AripUcrttK)f1 10 Become Lct1ery Gam1l9 FRCt!ity Managr in Suutheast Kansa:..~ Busint'S5 WirP. 31 Aug 2DO'l
 
.~.. Hanna. Jor;n. ~PA Ccmp.any Witht!mws Kan. Casfno Phlti.'" AssOCl3fed Press lTopka. Kan.l 11 Sept 200
 
,.. "No Oeîsl ii PenH Na~¡onai MediaHon 'N~;h KS County: Assudal~j Press fCùlumbus, KSi 16- Feb. 2011

h .Pi:i-n NaIiCJnal Gaming AcqU!leS Rosecmft RarÆ'way in Chon Hil;. r...,ai)fand, ~ Busioess V'¡¡m 1 Mar 2011 
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Ballard Spall
 

1735 Market Street, 51St Floor 
Justin P. KleinPhiladelphia, PA '9103-7599 
Direct: 215.864.8606TEL 215.66,.8,00
 

Fax: 215.864.9166FAX Z1,.864.8999
 

kJeinj§balJardspa hr.coniwww.ballardspahr.com 

March 4,2011 

Via E-mail 

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
 
Division of Corporation Finance
 
Office of Chief Counsel
 
100 F Street, N.E.
 
Washington, D.C. 20549
 

Re: Supplement to Letter Dated February 11,2011 Related to the Shareholder Proposal of 
UNITE HERE 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

On February 11,2010, on behalf of 
 Penn National Gaming, Inc. (the "Company"), we submitted a 
letter (the "No-Action Request") to the staff of the Division of Corporation Finance (the "Staff') of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") regarding the Company's intention to 
omit UNITE HERE's (the "Proponent") proposal (the "Proposal") from the Company's proxy 
statement and form of proxy for its 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. This letter is in response 
to the letter to the Staff, dated February 24,2011 (the "Response Letter"), submitted by Kate O'Neil 
on behalf of the Proponent and supplements the No-Action Request. 

The No-Action Request indicated our belief 
 that the Proposal could be excluded from the 201 1 proxy 
materials pursuant to Rule l4a-8(i)(4) because the Proposal relates to the redress of 


the Proponent's
personal claims and grevances against the Company, which are not shared by other shareholders at 
large. In the Response Letter, the Proponent makes a number of conclusory and unsupported 
arguments as to why the Proposal should be included in the Company's proxy materials. As 
described below in further detail, the Proponent's response can most charitably be characterized as 
evasive as they cleverly seek to hide behind (a) coyly scripted affidavits, (b) a misunderstanding of 
the applicable rule, and (c) the cloak of 
 being a "shareholder advocate." This letter will briefly 
highlight the serious shortcomings and misunderstandings of 
 Rule 14a-8(i)(4) in the Proponent's 
arguments. Following our review of 
 the Response Letter, the Company believes even more strongly 
that the Proposal should be excluded pursuant to Rule l4a-8(i)( 4) and therefore respectfully reiterates 
our request in the No-Action Request that the Staff concur with the Company's view and confirm it 
will not recommend enforcement action to the Commission if 
 the Company omits the Proposal from
its 2011 proxy materials. 

DMEAST #13433522 ,'6 

Atlanta I Baltimore I Bethesda Denver! Las Vegas I Los Angeles I New Jersey I Philadelphia I Phoenix I Salt Lake City I San Diego 
Washington. DC ! Wilmington 



U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
March 4, 2011 
Page 2
 

i. The Response Letter Fails to Demonstrate the Absence of a Personal Grievance
 

In the Response Letter, the Proponent claims that the "Company has no evidence that súbmission of 
the proposal was motivated by a personal claim." This conclusion is fanciful. In fact, the No-Action 
Request recites a litany of conduct by the Proponent/union occurrng over the course of five years 
which forcefuJly and repeatedly demonstrates the Proponent's animus against, and their real 
motivations relative to, the Company. This conduct, as described in detail over several pages in the 
No-Action Request, is par and parcel of a calculated and ongoing national campaign by 
Proponent/union with the sole and express intent of pressuring the Company into agreeing to a card 
check arrangement with the Proponent-in order to make it easier for the Proponent to expand its 
membership by organizing the Company's workers. 

Most notably, in the Response Letter, the Proponent cannot and does not refute or contest even a 
single instance of the many components of 
 their corporate campaign listed in the No-Action Request-
many orwhich were harmful to the Company, its employees and shareholders. These uncontroverted 
facts are further supported by the affidavits of certain members of 
 the Company's senior 
management, which are attached hereto as Exhibit A, and clearly establish a campaign with the goal 
of influencing the Company to accede to the Proponent's demand for a card check arrangement (an 
arrangement, which not coincidentaJly, is likely to prove quite lucrative to the Proponent). In 
addition, the cleverly drafted affidavits submitted by the Proponent are no more persuasive than the 
Response Letter. Those affidavits carefully avoid denying the ongoing corporate campaign or the 
animus against the Company, and those affidavits were not issued by the executives who have 
engaged in and directed this conduct. For example, notably absent was an affidavit from Dee Taylor, 
the Proponent's General Vice President who stated in a press interview that a "nationwide campaign. 
. . is in the works."! This is the same union executive who boasted about defeating certain Company 
growth initiatives in a meeting with Company representatives (as further described in the No-Action 
Request and Exhibit A to this letter). 

The Proponent's argument that an entity must actually threaten use of 
 the shareholder proposal 
process as a disruptive tactic in order to establish a personal grevance would enable shareholder-
proponents to escape exclusion by merely remaining silent or otherise cleverly concealing their tre
 

purpose. Further, contrar to the Proponent's argument in the Response Letter, there is nothing in 
the Commission's no-action positions taken with respect to Dow Jones & Company, Inc. (January 24, 
1994) or Cabot Corporation (September 13,1990) that requires such an obvious threat to be made as 
a condition to establishing a personal grevance. Based on this faulty premise, the Proponent now 
seeks to absolve itself of five years of a corporate campaign that included several actions that proved 
harmful to the Company and its shareholders with the excuse that it never explicitly threatened 
disruptive shareholder action as a result of its campaign. Especially against this set of facts, this 
argument cannot survive. The Proponent/union's now undisputed conduct and statements described 

See Exhibit B to the No-Action Request. 
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in the No-Action Request establish that the Proponent/union is engaged in an ongoing campaign to 
pressure the Company into agreeing to the card check arrangement and, together with the history of 
other disruptive actions, demonstrate that the Proposal is just the latest element of the campaign. If 
the Proponent's argument that an explicit threat to take shareholder action is required to establish a 
personal grevance is accepted, then their proposed exception wil swallow the clear intent of the 
rule. 

2. The Proposal is Designed to Provide a Particular Benefit to the Proponent
 

The Proponent objects to the Company's failure to provide evidence of 
 how adoption of the Proposal 
would further the Proponent's goals. However, this objection suffers from a misunderstanding of 
Rule l4a-8(i)(4). As described in the No-Action Request, under Rule 14a-8(i)(4), the Staff 
 has
 
granted no-action letters, where a proposal was viewed as an attempt to harass an issuer. See Dow
 
Jones. Accordingly, the subject matter ofthe Proposal is not required to immediately or directly 
effect a benefit particular to the Proponent; rather, it is the submission of the Proposal by itself that is 
part of a series of attempts to harass and coerce the Company into agreeing to the card check 
arrangement. The No-Action Request also describes how pressurng the Company into the card 
check arrangement will provide a substantial and much needed financial benefit to the Proponent. 

The Proponent cites several precedent no-action request letters in the Response Letter that relate to a 
labor dispute or active union organizing campaign. However, unlike those precedent letters, this case 
does not relate to a current labor dispute or union organizing campaign involving employees of 
 the 
Company, but instead involves a well-documented campaign by executives of 
 the Proponent/union 
against the Company with the purpose of gaining leverage in their efforts to institute a card check 
arrangement with the Company. In addition, those cases do not involve shareholder proposals that 
were submitted as part of campaigns consisting of the extensive list of actions taken by the Proponent 
against the Company. 

3. The Response Letter is Misleading and Mischaracterizes the Facts
 

The Response Letter is misleading when it states that the Proponent has an interest in increasing 
shareholder value because the "(Proponent) holds over $4 billion in financial assets contained in 
jointly-trsteed pension plans held in various funds."i Even taking the Proponent's inaccurate claim
 

that it "holds" such pension plan assets at face value, the reference to "$4 billion in financial assets" 
is especially misleading as there is no evidence that any plan actually holds any stock of the 

Under federal law, the assets of a jointly-trsteed pension plan are actually held in trst for
 

the exclusive benefit of 
 workers who participate in the plans. The Proponent does not (and 
cannot) hold, and has no interest in, any of the assets of these pension plans. In fact, if the 
Proponent does hold pension assets or otherwse has an interest in such assets, the pension 
plans will have engaged in a prohibited transaction under federal 
 law. 
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Company. The Proponent's alleged interest in shareholder value is furher belied by its failure to 
provide any evidence of such interest other than the 135 shares of 
 the Company purchased by the 
Proponent in September 2006, shortly after its campaign against the Company commenced. Even 
more telling, the Response Letter fails to address the actions taken by the Proponent and described in 
the No-Action Request that actively sought to harm shareholder value for its own benefit. It is 
inconceivable how the Proponent could claim "a proven trck record of 
 working with (Company)
 
shareholders to enhance shareholder value" when the only track record demonstrated by the
 
Proponent is the ability to consistently attempt to find new ways to inhibit the Company's growth
 
and to frstrate the Company's efforts to increase shareholder value.3
 

The Proponent states in its Response Letter that the No-Action Request fails to cite a "decision where 
the mere background of a labor dispute has been found suffcient" to exclude a neutral proposal that 
is used as a tactic to redress a personal grievance. This statement is misleading and mischaracterizes 
the facts at issue. In particular, the Company has not asserted or relied upon a labor dispute at any 
point in the No-Action Request as the reason for seeking an exclusion. The basis for the Company's 
no-action request is instead the Proponent/union's ongoing and calculated attempts to gain leverage 
over the Company in connection with its demand for the Company to agree to a card check 
arrangement that would fill their coffers with union dues. 

CONCLUSION 

Based upon the foregoing analysis and the Company's No-Action Request, we respectfully request 
that the Staff confirm that it wil take no enforcement action if 
 the Company excludes the Proposal
 
from its 201 i proxy materials. The Company would be pleased to provide the Staff with any
 
additional information, and answer any questions regarding this lettr. Please do not hesitate to
 
contact me at 215.864.8606 if 
 you require additional information or want to discuss this letter further. 

Thank you for your consideration of this letter. 

Very truly yours, 

1/ uAf. alL-
Justin P. Klein 

JPKIs 

See Response Letter, page 3, paragraph 3. 
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AFFAVI OF CAR SOTTOSANTI
 

1, Carl Soltosanti, hereby declare under penalty of perjury as follows: 

1. I am Vice Preident and Deputy General Counsel of 
 Pen Nalional Gamig, Inc. (the
"Company"). I have held this position since 2003. I am familar with and have reviewed the Proposal 
and supporting statement submitted by the Proponent for inclusion in the proxy materals to be distributed 
in connection with the Company's 201 I Anual Meeting of 
 Shareholders. 

2. I verifY tht the statement made by the Eastern Regional Head of 

the Proponent at a 2005meeting in King Prussia, Pennylvania, that the Company was a target for the Proponent's card check
 

plans and that the Proponent would not stop the corporate campaign until a card check arrangement is
 
accepted by the Company is tre and correct to the best of my personal knowledge of information and
 
belief.
 

3. I verifY that the statement described in the No-Action Request made by an executive of
 

the Proponent at a)uly 2008 meeting in Atlantic City, New Jersey, providing that the executive took
 
credit for, among other things, defeating the Company's county-wide campaign to permit table games at
 
its facility in West Virginia is true and correct to the best of my personal know ledge of information and
 
belief.
 

4. I verif that the description in the No-Action Request ofthe Proponent's claim made at a
 

July 2008 meeting in Atlantic City, New Jersey, providing that its intention was to continue its corporate
 
campaign against the Company until such time as a card check demand is accepted is true and correct to
 
the best of my personal knowledge of information and belief.
 

5. I verifY that the description in the No-Action Request ofthe Proponent's attempt to
 

disrupt the Company's growth activities by demanding that the Company execute an extremely one-sided
 
neutrality agreement in connection with the opening of a new gaming facilty in Maryland despite an
 
existing deal with two local unions is true and correct to the best of 
 my personal knowledge of
information and belief. 

6. I verifY that the description in the No-Action Request of the Proponent's attempt to
 

persuade the Maryland State Lottery Commission that the Company was acting in violation of applicable 
gamig law is true and correct to the best of my personal knowledge of infonnation and belief. 

Under penalty of perjury, I declare that the foregoing is tre and correct. 

By: .'
Carl 0 ti .
 ~'


March ~, 2011
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Sworn to and SUqnbe to 
before me this day
 
of March, 2011. 

Notary Public
 ~~~ i Vy~ 

CO"""'ONWEALTH OF PENNlYLVANIA 

NOTARIA SEAL
 
D~BRA $. SEYL.ER, Nota Public
 

Wyisng Boo., Serb Counly
CommssiOn ExpIre Novemb 14, 2011 
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AFFIAVI OF GENE CLAR 

I, Gene Clark, hereby declare under penalty of perjury as follows: 

i. I am Senior Vice President - Human Resources of 

Penn National Gaming, Inc. (the"Company"). I have held this position since 2005. I am familar with and have reviewed the Proposal 

and supporting statement submitted by the Proponent for inclusion in the proxy materials to be distributed 
in connection with the Company's 2011 Annual Meeting of 


Shareholders. 

2. I verify that the description in the No-Action Request ofthe reports received from
 

employees that representatives of 

the Proponent had been 
 involved in aggressive recruiting and

harassment of such employees, including repeated and unwelcome home visits, physically intimidating 
conduct, late night phone calls and recruiters posing as government offcials is tre and correct to the best
 

of my personal knowledge of information and belief and in many instances supported by written
 
statements received from such employees.
 

3. I verify that the statement described in the No-Action Request made by an executive of
 

the Proponent at a July 2008 meeting in Atlantic City, New Jersey, providing that the executive took 
credit for, among other things, defeating the Company's county-wide campaign to permit table games at 
its facilty in West Virginia is true and correct to the best of my personal knowledge of information and 
belief. 

4. I verify that the description in the No-Action Request of the Proponent's claim made at a
 

July 2008 meeting in Atlantic City, New Jersey, providing that its intention was to continue its corporate
 
campaign against the Company until such time as a card check demand is accepted is tre and correct to
 
.the best of my personal knowledge of information and belief.
 

Under penalty of perjury, I declare that the foregoing is true and correct. 

BY'~ 
Gene Clark .
 

March 4, 201 i 

SWall.l to and S~lb cribed to 
before me this day
 

of March, 20i i. 

Nomoy P~bliC lJ¿"?
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UNITEHERE!
 
1775 K Street, NW, Suite 620, Washington, DC 20006 · TEL (202) 393-4373 · FAX (202) 223-6213 · WWW.UNITHERE.ORG 

r~ 
"reo'; 

.-r ,-r 
Februar 24, 2011 'CO 

1')
Cd 

Via Express Mail ~;;;¡:,..p:: 
\DOffice of the Chief Counsel ..

Division of Corporate Finance ­
c. 

Securties & Exchange Commission 
450 Fifth Street, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20549 

Re: Shareholder Proposal from UNITE HERE to Penn National Gaming, Inc. 

Dear Sir or Madam: 

Enclosed please find a copy of 
 UNITE HERE's response to Penn National Gaming, Inc.'s no-
action request letter filed with the SEC on Februar 11,2011. This response has also been 
submitted via electronic maiL. If 
 you have any question, please contact me at 662-801-2241. 

Sincerely, 

r~01~Kate O'Neil 
koneil(funitehere.org 

Enclosure 

*~3
 
JOHN W. WILHELM, PRESIDENT 

GENERAL OFFICERS: Sherri Chiesa, Secretary-Treasurer: Peter Ward, Recording Secretary: D. Taylor, General Vice President; 
Tho Thi Do, General Vice President for immigration, Civil Rights and Diversity 



Februar 24,2011
 

OFFICE OF THE CHIEF COUNSEL 
DIVISION OF CORPORATION FINANCE 
SECURTIES & EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
450 FIFTH STREET, N.W. 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549
 
Re: Shareholder proposal from UNITE HERE to Penn National Gaming, Inc.
 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

I wrte on behalf of 
 UNITE HERE in response to the letter from counsel for Penn National 
Gaming, Inc. ("Penn") dated Februar 11,2011 requesting tht the Staff of the Division of 
Corporate Finace (the "Staff") concur with Penn's request to omit UNITE HERE's shareholder 
resolution from the Company's 2011 proxy materials. UNITE HERE's shareholder resolution 
(the "Proposal") requests that the Company amend its bylaws so that directors are elected by a 
majority of the votes cast in uncontested elections, with a plurality vote stadard retained in the 
case of contested director elections. Staff should deny the relief Penn seeks. 

Penn has asked for no-action relief 
 under Rule 14a-8(i)(4), which applies to proposals related to 
a "personal grevance." Penn has the burden under Rule 14a-8(g) to demonstrte that it is 
entitled to exclude a proposal. Penn has failed to meet this burden, paricularly as we provide 
declarations herewith under penalty of perjur rebutting its claim. 

Penn clais that UNITE HERE's proposal should be excluded because it "relates to the redress 
of the Proponent's personal clais and grevances against the Company, which are not shared by 

other shareholders at large." Penn argues the Proposal "meets the definition of a personal 
grevance," and is excludable because it is designed "to give the proponent some paricular 
benefit or to accomplish objectives particular to the proponent." Penn argues that the Proposal, 
while neutral on its face, may be excluded because "the Proponent is clearly using the Proposal 
as a tactic to seek redress of a personal grevance." We address each of 
 the Company's 
objections below. 

1. "Redress of a personal claim or grievance" 

Penn claims that UNITE HERE's proposal "meets the definition of a personal grevance." 
proposals pursuat to Rule 14a 8(i)(4) onlyHowever, Stahave generally permtted exclusion of 

when the registrant proves improper intent though direct evidence that the proponent was 
motivated by a personal claim or grievance, evidence either in the content of the proposal or in 
statements made about the proposal by its proponent. The Commission has noted that 
"application of the exclusion is paricularly difficult when the proposal is neutral on its face, 
meaning that the proposal itself does not by its terms relate to a personal grievance or special 
interest of the proponent. In those situtions, the Division must make factul determnations, 
sometimes involving the proponent's or the company's credibilty, based normally on 
circumstantial evidence presented in the paries' submissions. In practice, the Division has 



infequently concured in the exclusion ofa 'neutral' proposal under rue 14a-8(c)(4)" (SEC 
Release No. 34-39093). 

While Penn's counsel clais that affliates of 
 UNTE HERE have underten certai 
activities related to organing workers in the gaming industr and at Penn Penn has not 
submitted any direct evidence showing that UNITE HERE's motivation for the shareholder 
Proposal is to secure some ultenor benefit. Moreover, we have denied such motive under penalty 
ofpeIjur (see Appendix A).
 

The Company relies on Dow Jones & Company, Inc. (Januar 24, 1994). However in 
that case, the union explicitly stated in publications that shareholder proposals were related to 
collective bargaiing with the Dow Jones. No such statement is cited here, and no such 
statements have been made. 

Penn also cites Cabot Corporation (December 3, 1992). There a former employee of 
Cabot had submitted almost identical proposals four years in a row and had made a statement at 
Cabot s 1990 Anual Meeting connecting his proposal with his belief that Cabot had mistreated 
him by not grossing up certain settlement payments he received from the company (see Cabot 
Corporation, September 13, 1990). 

In contrast, UNITE HERE has never threatened Penn with shareholder activity in 
connection with labor negotiations, nor used shareholder meetings as a platform to complain of 
worker or unon mistreatment. UNITE HERE has never failed to present proxies or proposals in 
response to mangement changes in labor relations. None of the unon activities cited by Penn 
were directed by the undersigned or by the proposal's co-author, Mar Lear. Nor were the 
undersigned ordered to engage in activities at Penn. The Company has no evidence that 
submission of the Proposal was motivated by a personal claim. 

2. "designed to result in some partcular benefit or to accomplish objectives particular to 
the proponent" 

The Company also claims the Proposal may be excluded because it "is designed to fuer the
 

personal interest and financial aspirations of the Proponent, which is not shared with the other 
shareholders at large" and "the Proponent seeks to pressure the Company into agreeing to the 
card check arangement from which the Proponent would benefit by garering substatial
 

additional unon dues revenue from the representation of thousands of additional Company 
employees." Agai, the Company provides no evidence of how adoption of the Proposal to 
adopt a majonty vote stadard in director elections would fuer UNITE HERE's purorted 
goals. 

The Staffhas histoncally required that a company seeking to exclude a proposal pursuat to Rule 
the proposal would assist the14a-8(i)(4) provide direct evidence of how the adoption of 

proponent in obtainig a paricular benefit, see Trans World Airlines (Janua 25, 1978), Stewart 
Sandiches (September 10, 1981), Minnesota Mining and Manufacturing (March 28, 1980). 
Penn has not provided any evidence of how adoption of the Proposal would assist the Proponent 
in organzing additional workers at Penn's properties. 



In recent cases involving shareholder proposals from labor organizations, the Staff has not found 
a labor dispute between a unon and a company, nor an active unon organzing campaign at a 
company, to be sufficient for the exclusion of a proposal under 14a-8(i)( 4). In Dresser-Rand 
Group (February 19,2008) Sta did not concur with the company's no-action request, even 
though an afliate of 
 the proponent had recently engaged in a stre at the company's facility. In 
Cintas (July 6, 2005), the company claimed the proposal was connected to a publicized unon 
organzing campaign but Staff did not concur that the proposal could be excluded. In General 
Electric Company (Februar 3, 2004), Sta did not concur with the company, despite the fact 
that the unon affliated with the proponent was engaged in negotiations with the company on 
substantially similar issues as those contaied in the proposaL. In International Business 
Machines Corporation (Februy 2,2004), Staff did not concur with the company, despite the 
company's contention that the proposal was a tactic in a union organzing effort. 

Penn goes on in its letter to clai "that the Proponent has no interest in increasing shareholder 
value." That is simply false. UNITE HERE holds over $4 billon in financial assets contained in 
jointly-trusteed pension plans held in varous fuds. UNITE HERE also maintais direct 
ownership of stock in paricular companes, including Penn. Consequently shaeholder value is 

participants in the UNITE 
HERE's pension plans depends in large measure on assets that are invested in the stock market. 
UNITE HERE has long been a member of the Council of Institutional Investors. 

of high importance to the Proponent. The retirement secunty of 

Furermore UNTE HERE has a proven track record of working with Penn shareholders to 
enhance shareholder value. Last year at Penn's 2010 Anual Meetig, UNITE HERE's proposal 
to declassify the board of directors won the support of a majority of shareholders. Over 44 

the proposal, with less tha 22.5 milion cast against 
(Appendix B, PENN 8-K, June 15, 2010). Our proposal also received the recommendation of 
the proxy advisory service, ISS. (Appendix C, ISS Report on Penn National Gaming, 2010). 

millon votes were cast in favor of 


Four years ago, UNITE HERE led a successful campaign agaist the 2007 Employees Long 
Term Incentive Compensation Plan and the 2007 Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan for 

the Company proposed by Penn management. Shareholders voted to 
reject these compensation plan. (Appendix D, PENN 8-K, June 12,2007). 
Non-Employee Directors of 


Ths is not like those cases where the proponent submits a proposal with an inflamatory 
supporting statement designed only to embarass management, but then does not care whether 
the proposal actully passes and does nothg to achieve passage - in other words, where the 
proponent's primar interest is to make management endure bad publicity in the proxy statement 
without any hope of actually prevailing at the polls. To the contrar, here the supporting

likely of
statement is a sober reasoned document, and UNITE HERE is makng a proposal 


support and will work for its enactment, as with its pnor work among its fellow Penn 
shareholders. 
shareholder 

The Proposal and Supporting Statement were drafted by Kate O'Neil, a senior research analyst 
Mar Lear, UNITE HERE's Deputy Director ofwith UNITE HERE, under the supervision of 


Capital Stewardship. Both Ms. O'Neil and Mr. Lear have signed statements under penalty of 
perjur stating that they believe the Proposal would benefit the shareholders of Penn by 



increasing the accountabilty of the Board to its shareholders. (See signed statements contaned 
in Appendix A.) 

3. "even though a proposal is neutral on its face, it may be excluded" 

The Company argues a neutral proposal can stil be excluded if "used as a tactic to redress a 
personal grevance", but cites no decision where the mere background of a labor dispute has been 
found suffcient to meet this exclusion. Here, UNITE HERE has demonstrated its credibilty 
among Penn shareholders. As mentioned above, in 2010 iSS, a respected proxy advisory 
service, recommended that shareholders vote for UNITE HERE's proposal to declassify the 
Board of 
 Directors, and the resolution won the vote of shareholder by a substantial margin. 

The Company attempts to discredit UNITE HERE by arguing the Supporting Statement "relies 
on specific executive compensation matters unelated to its majority voting proposal." In fact 
compensation matters are very much tied to the ProposaL. Directors serving on Penn's 
compensation committee have received substantial withhold votes in recent years. Notably in 
2010, Barbara Shattck, a member of 
 the compensation committee, received 22.8 milion 
withhold votes, with 44.5 milion votes cast in her favor (Appendix B, PENN 8-K, June 15, 
2010). Similarly, Director David Handler, also on Penn's compensation committee, received 
substantial withhold votes in 2009 (Appendix E, PENN 10-Q, August 7, 2009). Substantial 
proportions of 
 withhold votes indicate concern among shareholders regarding the board's 
decisions as to executive compensation. 

With the passage of the Dodd-Fran Act, shareholders will now have a vote on executive 
compensation, but only an advisory one. If companies fail to respond to the votes of 
shareholders on executive compensation, the primar means for shareholders to hold companes 
accountable wil be through the election of directors. Therefore the Proposal to increase the 
voting power of shareholders by adopting majority voting is very much tied to executive 
compensation. 

We would be happy to provide you with any additional information, or answ~r any questions you 
may have. Please do not hesitate to call me at 662-801-2241. If Staff intends to issue a no-action 
letter we request a personal meeting before Sta does so. 

Sincerely, 

1! 0 11tJ

Kate O'Neil 
Senior Research Analyst 
UNITE HERE 
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I, Mar Lear, am an employee and representatve of UN HE. In my capacity as UN 
HE's Deputy Diror of Capital Stewardship, I oversaw the prepartion of UN HERE's 
sheholde propoal submitt for inclusion on Per Natona Gamg, Inc.'s 2011 Proxy. The 
resoluton requests that the Company amd its bylaws to adopt a majority vote standa for 
unconteste diror elections and thereby incre the accountailty of the Company's Boar of
 

Direcors to its shaholder. Our ai is not to harss mangement, but rather to achieve
 

corprate goverance reor that wil mutuly benfit shaholders, employees, and the unon.
 

I fiy believe tht th proposal will benefit the shholder of Penn Nationa Gamg, Inc., 
and I believe shareholders at the Company wil support ths prposal as they have support 
other goverance reform in the past, includig ones we have proposed. 

I declare under penaty of perjur of the laws of the Unite States that the foregoing is tre and 
corrct. Dated this 2~1ay of Febniar, 2011.
 

-l~ l l~\ 



I, Katheen O'Neil, am an employee and representative of 
 UNTE HERE. In my capacity as a 
senor researh analyst for UN HERE, I submitted the shareholder proposal for inclusion on 
Pen Nationa Gamg, Inc. 's 201 1 Proxy. The resolution contaied in the proposal requests that 
the Company amend its bylaws so that diectors are elected by a majority of 
 the votes cast in 
uncontested elections, with a plurty vote standard retaed in the case of contested diector
 

elections. The purose of 
 ths proposal is to assist sharholder by increasing the acountabilty 
of the Boar of Directors of the Company to its owner- the sharholders. I do not intend to 
has magement, but rather to achieve goverance reforms that wil mutually benefit 
shaeholdes, employees, and the unon. I believe strongly tht ths proposal will benefit the 
shareholders of 
 Pen National Gag, Inc., and I believe shaeholders at the Company will 
support ths proposaL.
 

I declar under penaty_ qf perur of the laws of the United States that the foregoing is tre and 
correct. Dated ths ';;i~ay ofFebniar, 2011. 

t~ tJrlJ 
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UNITED STATES
 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 

FORM 8-K 

CURNT REPORT
 
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

Date of Report - June 9, 2010
 

(Date of earliest event reported) 

PENN NATIONAL GAMING, INC. 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charer) 

Pennsylvania 0-24206 23-2234473 

(State or other jursdiction (Commission File Number) (IRS Employer 
of incorporation) Identification 

Number) 

825 Berkshire Blvd., Suite 200, Wyomissing Professional Center, Wyomissing, P A 19610 
principal executive offces) (Zip Code)(Address of 


Area Code (610) 373-2400 

(Registrant's telephone number) 

Check the appropriate box below if the form 8-K filing is intended to simultaeously satisfY the filing obligation of the registrant 
under any ofthe following provisions (see General Instrction A.2 to Form 8-K): 

o Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425) 

o Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)
 

o Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d- 2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240. 14d-2(b )) 

o Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4( c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240. 13e-4( c))
 



Item 5.07. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders. 

Penn National Gaming, Inc. (the "Company" or the "Registrant") held its Annual Meeting of 
 Shareholders (the "Anual 
Meeting") on June 9, 2010, at 10 a.m., local time, at the offces of Ballard Spah LLP, 1735 Market Street, 51st Floor, Philadelphia, 
Pennsylvania 19103. Of the 79,203,435 shares of the Company's common stock outstading as of the close of business on April 13, 
2010, the record date for the Annual Meeting, 74,435,350 shares, or approximately 94%, of the total shares eligible to vote at the 
Anual Meeting, were represented in person or by proxy. Three proposals, including one shareholder proposal, were submitted to the 
shareholders at the Anual Meetg and are described in detail in the Company's previously filed Proxy Statement for the Anual 
Meeting. The following is a brief description of each matter voted upon at the Annual Meeting and the number of votes cast for, 
against or withheld, as well as the number of abstentions and broker non-votes, with respect to each matter, as applicable. 

Election of Directors. Each of Wesley R. Edens, Robert P. Levy and Barbara Z. Shattck were elected to hold offce, 
subject to the provisions of the Company's bylaws, until the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company to be held in the year 
2013 and until their respecive successors are duly elected and qualified, as follows: 

Diretor Vote FOR Vote WILD Broker Non-Votes 

Wesley R. Edens 50,294,160 17,093,801 7,047,389 
Rober P. Levy 63,790,377 3,597,584 7,047,389 
Barbara Z. Shattck 44,532,582 22,855,379 7,047,389 

Ratif Independent Registered Public Accountants. The appointment ofEmst & Young LLP to act as the Company's 
independent registered public accountig fi for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2010 was ratified, as follows:
 

Votes FOR Vote AGAINST Abstentions Broker Non-Votes 

74,228,296 156,629 50,425 None 

Shareholder Proposal to Declassif the Board of Directors. The shareholders voted in favor of the proposal presented 
by a shareholder ofthe Company asking the Company, in compliance with applicable laws, to tae the steps necessar to reorganize 
the Board of Directors into one class with each director subject to election each year, as follows: 

Votes FOR Vote AGAINST Abstentions Broker Non-Vote 
44,092,075 22,471,242 824,644 7,047,389 

Item 8.01. Other events. 

On June 9, 2010, the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") authorized the repurchase of 
 up to $300 milion 
of the Company's common stock effective imediately and continuing until the Anua Meeting of Shareholders in 2011, unless 
otherwise extended or shortened by the Board. The new repurchase program replaces the program authorized by the Board in 
July 2008 under which the Company repurchased 8,984,984 shares of common stock in open market trsactions for approximately 

$153.8 milion at an average price of $17.09 per share. 

Under the new repurchase program, purchases may be made from time to time in the open market or in privately 
negotiated tranactions in accordance with applicable securities laws. The actual number of shares to be purchased, if any, will 
depend upon market conditions and no assurance can be given that all or any porton of the $300 millon authorization wil be utilzed 

by the Company. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of 
 the Securties Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrt has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

Dated: June 15,2010 PENN NATIONAL GAMG, INC. 

By: Isl Robert S. Ippolito 
Robert S. Ippolito 
Vice President, Secretar and Treasurer 

3 

Created by Mornjngstar~ Document Research'" 
htto:lldocumentresearch. morninQstar.com 
Source: PENN NATIONAL GAMING INC. 8-K, June 15, 2010 



Appendix C
 



..........
.. ... .ll..... ...-.:.- 155 Proxy Advisory Services 

RiskMetncs Group
th Cei: b th Ana Col'unlt USA 

Research Analyst
 

Patty MitchelPenn National Gaming, Inc. 
usresearch~riskmetrics. com 

Ticker: PENN ¡Index: N/A I Sector: Casinos & Gaming I GICS: 25301010
 

Meeting Type: Annual I Meeting Date: 9 June 2010 I Record Date: 13 April 2010
 
State of Incorporation: Pennsylvania I Meeting 10: 579844
 

Executive Summary 

· Director Wesley R. Edens serves on the board of nine public companies other than his own.
 

· The compensation committee has implemented several problematic pay practices with respect to executive 
compensation. 

· Annual board elections would enable shareholders to evaluate and cast votes on all directors each year. 

Financial Performance Profies and Data 

1-year 3-year 5-year Financial Profile................ ................................. 2
 

Governance Risk Indicators.................................... 3
Company TSR (%) 27.17 -13.23 -2.13
 Compensation Profile ................ .... 0......... ............ 4

Sector TSR (%) 42.24 -13.25 -5.28 Vote Results for Annual Meeting 3 June 2009............... 5
 

Board Profile.................................................... 6
Index TSR (%) 25.46 -7.38 -1.20
 
Company Updates.. ............................................. 7
Company TSR as of its fiscal year end. Sector and Index TSR as of closest calendar 

quarter end to company FYE. More information Equity Ownership Profie ..................................... 11
 
Additional Information ........................................ 11
 

Agenda and Recommendations United States Policy

Item Code Proposal Mgt. Rec. 155 Rec. Focus
 
Management Proposals
 

1.1 M0201 Elect Director Wesley R. Edens FOR .:.WITHHOLD

1.2 M0201 Elect Director Robert P. Levy FOR FOR 

1.3 M0201 Elect Director Barbara Z. Shattuck FOR WITHHOLD .:.2 M010l Ratify Auditors FOR FOR 

Shareholder Proposals
 

3 50201 Declassify the Board of Directors AGAINST FOR .:. 
::'Recommendations against management I . Items deserving attention due to contentious issues or controversy 
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-------

Financial Prof 
 He 

Business Description 

Owns and operates gaming and pan-mutuel properties 

Company Snapshot Stock Performance 

$80Industry: Hotels Restaurants & Leisure 
(GICS 25301010) $60 
Market Cap $2,147.3M $40
 
Shares Outstanding 79. OM
 

$20
 
YTD Performance 27.2%
 

$0

Closing Pnce $27.19
 
EPS 

May-OS Mar-06 Jan-07 Nov-07 Sep-08 Jul-09

$-3.39 

Book Value/share $7.63 
Sales/ share $30.00 Historical Financial Performance ($ inillions) 

Annual Dividend
 $0.00 Profit & Loss 2009 2008 2007 
Dividend Yield 0.0% Revenue 2,369 2,423 2,437 
Pnce to Earnings
 -8.0 Operating Income after Dep. 344 395 498 
Pnce to book value 1.2 Net Income -265 -153 160 
Pnce to cash flow -30.5 Working Capital 508 436 -191 
Pnce to sales 0.9 EBITDA 538 568 646 
Data as of fiscal-year end. 

Cash Flow 2009 2008 2007 
Operating Activities ($ Flow) 338 420 431 

Total cash from investing -263 -391 -612 

Total cash from financing -109 543 186 

Net change in cash -33 5n 6 

Comparative Performance 

PENN I CBRL JACK BKC IGT BOBE 
i 

Gross Margin 39.7% I 70.1% 21.7% 36.8% 63.8% 19.2% 

Profit Margin -13.8% ! 3.8% 8.5% 11.2% 11.3% 0.9% 

Operating Margin 14.5% 6.0% 6.2% 14.1% 20.6% 6.0% 

EBITD Margin 22 7%' 084% 0103% 017 9% 337% 0106% 

Return on Equity -14.3% 48.6% 25.0% 20.5% 15.4% -0.9% 

Return on Investment -6.5% 8.5% 14.9% 11.1% 4.8% -0.7% 

Return on Assets -5.6% 5.3% 9.0% 7.4% 3.4% -0.4% 

PIE -8.0 9.8 8.9 11.7 42.1 -142.6 

Debt/ Assets 49.5 51.8 29.2 32.8 49.6 23.5 
Debt/Equity 126.0 475.9 81.1 91.2 224.8 45.2 
Total Return PENN CBRL JACK BKC IGT BOBE 

1 Yr TSR 27.17% 23.57% -2.89% -34.79% 28.21% -11.43% 

3 Yr TSR -13.23% -1.79% -7.74% 4.02% -18.04% -3.77% 

5 Yr TSR -2.13% -0.82% 5.24% N/A -8.09% -2.74% 
Source: Standard 8: Poor's (oinpustat Xpressfeed. 
(oinpustat data is "standardized data" not "as reported" so there may be a difference from what is reported in the 10-K or 10-Q. (oinpustat standardizes the 
original filings to allow for accurate coinparison across coinpanies and industries. For a list of frequently asked questions, go to 
http:// ww.riskmetrics. coinl iss~overnance I research I companvfinancialsF AQ. html 
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Governance Risk Indicators 
As of21 May 2010
 

Board StructureO o MEDIUM CONCERN Compensation 0 :, ). HIGH CONCERN 

Factor Impact Factor Impact 
85.71 % of the board is independent and was elected by The company discloses complete information on the

+- +­shareholders short-term cash incentive plan 

All directors attended at least 75% of the board The average annual bum rate over the past three 
meetings or had a valid excuse for absences +- fiscal years is 2% or less, or is within one standard +­

deviation of the industry meanOutside directors met without management present +­
The employment/severance agreement with the CEO


0% of directors were involved in material RPTs +­ is fixed - 3 year(s) +­
The chainnan of the board is an executive/insider -+ There Is no disclosure regarding a holding period for 
1 non-executive(s) serve on an excessive number of stock option grants to executives. -+ 

-+outside boards There is no disclosure regarding a holding period for 
The company does not disclose board/governance restricted shares granted to executives. -+ 

-+guidelines The company discloses that it doe not have stock 
The company has a plurality vote standard without a ownership guidelines or does not disclose stock -+-+ 
director resignation policy ownership guidelines for the CEO 

The multiple of salary plus bonus in the change-in­
control severance agreements for the CEO upon a -+ 
change-in-control is excessive -----~_._----------­
The company provides exdse tax gross-ups in 1 or 
more contracts, but none were entered into or -+ 
materially amended last year 

Shareholder RightsO o MEDIUM CONCERN Audit. o LOW CONCERN 

Factor Impact Factor Impact 
Mergers/business combinations may be approved by a Non-audit fees represent 0% of total fees II
 
simple majority vote +­

The auditor issued an unqualified opinion in the past 
The company does not have classes of stock with year II
 

unequal voting rights and/or unequal abilty to elect ..
 The company has not restated financials for anydirectors .. 
period within the pat 2 years
 

The company does not have a poison pil that was not 
II The company has not made late financial disclosure

approved by shareholders ..fiings in the pat 2 years
 
The board is classified -+
 ----~-~~-----------~- A securities regulator has not taken action against the 

IIThe board is authorized to issue blank check preferred company in the past 2 years
-+stock There were no material weaknesse in its internal ..The company requires a super-majority vote to controls disclosed in the past 2 years
 

approve amendments to the charter and/or bylaws -+
 

Shareholders may not call special meetings -+ 

-+ indicates practices that increase concern, +- indicates practices that reduce concern, II indicates practices with no impact on concern. 

The GRid assessment incorporates many factors that help investors assess companies' governance practices. There is no simple, one-to.one correspondence 
between GRid concern levels and ISS' recommendations. Some GRid factors may not always be addressed by items on a meeting agenda. Similarly, concerns 
raised in proxy voting analyses may not always be factors in GRid. The proxy voting implications of companies' governance practices vary from meeting to 
meeting, from company to company, and from market to market. For more information about the GRid methodology and data visit ww.riskmetrics.com/grid­
info 
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Compensation Profile 

Pay for Performance 

Pay ys. TSR 
16000 Indexed TSR representsI 200.00
 

value of $100 invested in¡ I 180.00
 
14000 company at beginning of

n 160.00
 period, including 
d 140.00 12000 reinvestment of dividends. 

Ce 10000 E Total pay is sum of all
0 reported pay elements, 

x 120.00
 

e 100.00 8000 
using Black-Scholes estimate 

d 80.00 for option grant values.6000 p60.00 
4000 a Pay information prior toT 40.00
 

2007 is based on previousYS 20.00
 - 2000 SEe disclosure requirements.
R 0.00 

0F'r005 F'r006 F'r007 F'r008 F'r009
 
_Pay 13604 10964 11345 5804 6757
 

-TSR 100.00 126.31 180.73 64.89 82.52
 
Name CARLINO CARLINO CARLINO CARLINO CARLINO 

Components of Pay 

($ thousands) CEO Peer Median Other NEOs 

P. CARLINO P. CARLINO P. CARLINO. 
2009 Change 2008 2007 2009 2009 

Base Salary $1,605 2.9% $1,560 $1,500 $950 $2,969
BASE Deferred comp 6: pension o 0 0 0 0
_4_~____~_______._

All Other Comp 289 3.5% 279 462 171 256
Bonus o 0 0 376 0


STI 
Non-Equity Incentives 900 0 2,250 802 1,189

Restricted Stock 707 0 0 1,233 934


LTI 
Option Grant 3,255 -17.9% 3,965 7,133 1,008 4,449 

Total $6,757 16.4% $5,804 $11,345 $3,948 $9,797% of Net Income NA NA% of Revenue 0.29% 0.41% 
Peer companies; Bob Evans Farms, Inc., Boyd Gaming Corporation, Brinker International, Inc., Burger King Holdings, Inc., The Cheesecake 
Factory, Inc., Cracker Barrel Old Country Store, Inc., International Game Technology, Jack In the Box Inc., Tim Hortons Inc., 
Wendy's! Arby's Group, Inc., Wyndham Worldwide Corporation, Wynn Resorts, Limited Information on peer groups.
 

Dilution Burn Rate 
Dilution (%)
-~-~--------------~------~-----­

Non-Adjusted (%) Adjusted (%)
Penn National Gaming, Inc. 18.84

1-year 2.79 3.22Peer group median 12.00
3-year average 2.33 2.58Peer group weighted average 8.18 

Peer group 75th percentile 16.29
 
Dilution is the sum of the total amount of shares available for grant and outstanding under options and other equity awards (vested and unvested) expressed as 
a percentage of total basic common shares outstanding as of the record date. The dilution figure typically excludes employee stock purchase plans (ESPPs) and 
401 (k) shares. The underlying information for the company is based on the company's equity compensation table in the most recent proxy statement or 10-K. 

Burn rate is calculated as the number of shares granted in each fiscal year, including stock options, restricted stock (units), actual performance shares 
delivered under the long.term incentive plan or earned deferred shares, to employees and directors divided by weighted average common shares outstanding. 
The adjusted burn rate places a premium on grants of full-value awards using a multiplier based on the company's annual volatility. 
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Vote Results for Annual Meeting 3 June 2009 

Proposal 

1.1 Elect Director David A. Handler 
1.2 Elect Director John M. Jacquemin 
2 Ratify Auditors 

Mgmt 
Rec 

For 

For 

For 

Disclosed 
Result 

Majority 
Majority 

Pass 

% For 

69.7 
91.3 
99.9 

Impact of 
excluding 
abstains* 

Focus" 

'Change in "% For" if only votes cast FOR or AGAINST are counted. 
"Items with a majority of votes cast FOR shareholder proposal or AGAINST management proposal or director election 
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Board Profile 
Vote standard: The company has a plurality vote standard for the election of directors. 

Director Independence 8: Affiiations 

Executive Directors 

On 155 Atten- ¡Term Outside Key Committees
Name Affllation Age Tenure E dBallot Classification dance Boards CEO Audit Comp 
Peter M. Carlino CEO/Chair Insider 63 16 2011 0 

I ì n s Nom 

I 

Non-Executive Directors 

On I Outside Key CommitteesAffliation I 155 I Atten- I TermAge Tenure i EndsBallot ¡Name Classification dance Boards CEO Audit Comp Nom I 
I IndependentL 82~ld Cramer 16 2011 0 M COutsider -~--i---.--i

Independent 48
i --~ -~- C 

Ii Wesley R. Edens NEW 2013 9¡Outsider 

IndependentDavid A. Handler 45 16 2012 0 M MOutsider 

IndependentJohn M. Jacquemin 63 15 2012 0 C FOutsider ,~
IndependentIi Robert P. Levy 79 15 2013 0Outsider 

IndependentIi Barbara Z. Shattuck 59 6 2013 0 M M MOutsider 

100% 100% 100%Average: 63 12 indep indep indep 
. = Board and 155 independence classifications differ M = Member I C = Chair
 

F = Financial Expert
 

Affiliation Notes 
Peter M. Carlino Peter M. Carlino, CEO and chairman of the board, is the son of Peter D. Carlino, former chairman and CEO, and 

the father-in-law of Eric Shippers, senior vice president, public affairs and government relations of the 
company. The company entered into a consulting agreement with Peter D. Carlino in August 200. Pursuant to 
the consulting agreement, Peter D. Carlino receives an annual fee of $135,000. Source: Penn National Gaming 
Inc., most recent Proxy Statement, p. 55. In addition, the company currently leases 42,348 square feet of 
executive office and warehouse space from affiliates of Peter M. Carlino. Details of this transaction can be 
found on page 55 of the company's 2010 Proxy Statement. 

Wesley R. Edens In connection with the termination of the agreement and plan of merger, the company entered into an investor 
rights agreement with certain affiiates of Fortress Investment Group LLC (Fortress), certain affiliates of 
Centerbridge Partners, L.P., Deutsche Bank Investment Partners, Inc. and Wachovia Investment Holdings, LLC 
(collectively, the Investors). Pursuant to the investor rights agreement, the Investors will have the right to 
appoint a director as long as one or more affiliates of Fortress hold at least two-thirds of the shares of the 
company's Series B Redeemable Preferred Stock issued to them. The Investors designated Wesley R. Edens on 
the bord. Mr. Edens is the founder, CEO, and chairman of the board, of Fortress. This agreement does not
 

qualify as material under ISS' definition of independence. The board attested to the independence of this 
director under NASDAQ listing standards. Source: Penn National Gaming Inc., most recent Proxy Statement, pp. 
11 and 12. 

Barbara Z. Shattuck Kohn Pedersn Fox Asocates PC (KPF) provides preliminary casino design services to the company and 
received approximately $160,000 for such servces during 2010. Barbra Z. Shattuck's spouse, Eugene Kohn, is a 
principal at KPF. The amount of this transaction does not qualify as material under ISS' definition of 
independence. The board attested to the independence of this director under NASDAQ listing standards. 
Source: Penn National Gaming Inc., most recent Proxy Statement, pp. 11 and 55. 

. = Board and 155 independence classifications differ 

Board and Committee Summary 

Members Indepedence MeetingsFull Board 7 86% 8-------------_._----------­Audit 3
 100% 8 

Compensation 3
 100% 8 

Nomination 3
 100% 1 
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----Director Employment &. Compensation 

VotingPrimary i t I Totaln er- Shares Held Options TotalName Outside Boards powerEmployment lock Compensation (000) (000) (000)($) (%) 

CEO, Chairman ­
Peter M.
 Penn National * 10,047 1,461 11,508 14.27Carlino 

Gaming, Inc. 

Harold Cramer Retired 326,560 8,650 163 8,812 11.11---------------------_.._­
Newcastle
 
Investment Corp .,
 
GateHouse Media,
 
Inc., Aircastle
 
Limited, Brookdale 

i 
Senior Living Inc., 
EurocastleWesley R. 

Retired Investment 449,480 179 0 179 ..1Edens 
Limited, 
RaiLAmerica Inc.,
 
GAGFAH S.A.,
 
Fortress 
Investment Group
 
LLC, Mapeley
 
Limited 

David A.
 
316,560 61 118 179 ..1Handler ¡financial Servces 

John M.
 
Financial Servces 316,560 24 178 201 ..1Jacquemin 

Robert P. Levy Other 306,560 24 50 74 ..1 

Barbara Z. 
¡Financial Servces 326,560 51 118 168 ..1Shattuck 
i Average # of Outside I Directors Total 

Ownership:SUMMRY , Boards: 1.3 J Stoc~~\dci~i 
21,121 

Interlock = this director is an executive at a company where a board member serves as an executive of the current company. 
Options = shares that can be acquired upon exercise of options within 60 days 
"For executive director data, please refer to the Compensation Profile section. 

Company Updates 

2009 Vote Results 

At the 2009 annual meeting, David A. Handler received approximately 30 percent withhold votes from shareholders. Last 
year, ISS issued a WITTHOLD vote recommendation with respect to Compensation Committee members for proving single 
trigger in control agreements. 
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Meeting Agenda and Proposals
 

Items 1.1-1.3. Elect Directors SPLIT
 
i Vote Recommendation 

I A vote FOR all director nominees with the exception of Wesley R. Edens is warranted.
. A WITHHOLD vote from Wesley R. Edens is warranted for servng on more than six publiC boards. 
. A WITHHOLD vote is warranted for Barbara Z. Shattuck for being a member of the compensation committee 

which implemented poor pay practices 

Background Information 

Policies: Board Accountabilitv I Board Responsiveness I Director Independence I Director Competence 

Vote Requirement: The company has a plurality vote standard for the election of directors. 

Problematic Pay Practice 
As discussed in 155' 2009 analysis of Penn National Gaming, Inc., the company maintains single-trigger change in control 
agreements with its named executive officers that are not in the best interests of shareholders. No termination of 
employment is required for the executive to receive such a package, so executives stand to receive a windfall in the event 
of a change in control. Under the provisions, executive officers at Penn National Gaming would receive a cash payment 
equal to three times the sum of their annual base salary and highest annual cash bonus over the two years preceding the 
change in control. 

In addition, on Apr. 28, 2010, the company entered into a new employment agreement with Peter M. Carlino, the 
company's Chairman and CEO. Under the new agreement, in addition to the single trigger benefit originally provided to Mr. 
Carlino, he also remains entitled to receive excise tax gross-ups on any of the severance payments subject to the taxes 
imposed by Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. 

155 believes that executive officers should be responsible for their individual tax liabilties. Common market practice does 
not justify extraordinary financial burdens to companies and their shareholders. As a result of these arrangements, the 
executive may be encouraged to negotiate merger agreements that may not be in the best interest of shareholders and has 
little incentive to stay at the newly formed company and the new company may need to offer a more lucrative 
compensation package in order to retain the executive. 

The Compensation Committee is responsible for establishing, implementing, and continually monitoring adherence to the 
company's compensation philosophy and that compensation paid to the executive officers is fair, reasonable and 
competitive. 155 finds the single-trigger change in control arrangements and excise tax gross- up provision in Mr. Carlino's 
new agreement to be problematic and recommends that shareholders WITHHOLD votes from Compensation Committee 
members. Due to the company's classified board structure, only one Compensation Committee member, Barbara Z. 
Shattuck, is up for election at this year's annual meeting. Accordingly, WITHHOLD votes are warranted for Compensation 
Committee member Barbara Z. Shattuck. 

Analysis 

Overboarded Director 
In addition to servng as a director of Penn National Gaming, Inc., Wesley R. Edens serves on more than six bords of 
publicly-traded companies. 

Governance experts have raised concerns abot the possibility that directors who serve on multiple boards may be 
overextended and may not be able to meet the time commitments required to be an effective director. By servng on 
multiple boards, directors may compromise their ability to serve as representatives to shareholders in the full capacity 
required by today's demanding governance environment. Given an estimate of 300 hours per year of board servce required 
for a public company, an individual cannot reasonably be expected to serve on more than six public boards at one time. 
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Item 2. Ratify Auditors FOR
 
I Vote Recommendation 

A vote FOR the ratification of the company's auditor is warranted. 

Background Information 

Policies: Auditor Ratification 

Vote Requirement: Majority of the votes cast (abstentions and broker non-votes not counted) 

Discussion 

The board recommends that Ernst & Young LLP be approved as the company's independent accounting firm for the coming 
year. 

Accountants Ernst & Young LLP 

Auditor Tenure 4 
Audit Fees $2,906,190 
Audit-Related Fees $35,000 
Tax Compliance/Preparation*
 $0 
Other Fees
 $0 
Percentage of total fees attributable to non-audit 

0.00%
("other') fees 
.Only includes tax compliance/tax return preparation fees. If the proxy disclosure does not indicate the nature of the tax services and 
provide the fees associated with tax compliance/preparation, those fees wil be categorized as "Other Fees."
 

Note that the auditots report contained in the annual report is unqualified, meaning that in the opinion of the auditor, the 
company's financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Analysis 

This request to ratify the auditor does not raise any exceptional issues, as the auditor is independent, non-audit fees are 
reasonable relative to audit and audit-related fees, and there is no reason to believe the auditor has rendered an 
inaccurate opinion or should be held accountable for poor accounting practices. 

Item 3. Declassify the Board of Directors FOR
 
Vote Recommendation 
A vote FOR this proposal is warranted because it would enhance shareholder rights. 

Vote Requirement: Majority of the votes cast (abstentions and broker non-votes not counted) 
Proposal 

Unite-Here (the "Union"), which is the beneficial owner of 135 shares, has submitted this shareholder proposal calling for 
the repeal of the company's classified board structure and for the annual election of all directors. Currently, the board 
comprises three director classes, each of which serves a three-year term. More specifically, the resolution reads: 

" That the shareholders of Penn National Gaming, Inc. (the "Company") ask that the Company, in compliance with applicable 
laws, take the steps necessary to reorganize the Board of Directors into one class with each director subject to election 
each year. The implementation of this proposal should not affect the unexpired terms of directors elected to the board at 
or prior to the 2010 annual meeting." 
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Shareholder's Supporting Statement 
The proponent believes that current classified board insulates directors and executives from the ramifications of por 
performance. The proponent believes that requiring annual elections of all directors would increase the accountability of 
the bord to shareholders and improve finandal performance.
 

The proponent also states that shareholders are concerned with the lack of independence of several directors, excessive 
executive compensation, and the board's failure to connect executive pay to performance. 

Board's Statement 
The board argues that the classified board structure supports and protects the company's long-term growth initiatives. The 
board believes that the company has a proven track record of enhancing shareholder value under the guidance and 
oversight of the classified board. 

The board further argues that the concerns raised by the Union lack merit. The board further believes that the Union's 
proposal is not primarily motivated by corporate governance concerns and that the proposal is simply another attempt to 
assert pressure on the company by causing it to expend significant resources to address an issue that has not proven to be 
detrimental to the company's growth, prospets or ability to create shareholder value. 

Analysis 

Although a majority of U.S. public companies have classified boards, most that have emerged in the past decade were put 
into place at the time of initial public offerings. Managements argue that staggered boards provide continuity and stability, 
but empirical evidence has suggested that such a structure is not in shareholders' best interests from a financial 
perspective. Speifically, staggered boards provide a potent antitakeover defense, particularly when coupled with a poison 
pil, by fordng unsolicited bidders to win two board elections in order to gain control of the company. 

Conclusion 
The ability to elect directors is the single most important use of the shareholder franchise, and all directors should be 
accountable on an annual basis. A classified board can entrench management and effectively preclude most takeover bids 
or proxy contests. Board classification forces dissidents and would-be acquirers to negotiate with the incumbent board, 
which has the authority to decide on offers without a shareholder vote. 
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FBR Fund Advisers, Inc. 

Vanguard Group, Inc. 

CARLINO PETER M 

BlackRock Global Investors 

Fidelity Management 8: Research 

TIAA-CREF Asset Management LLC 

PAR Capital Management, Inc. 

BlackRock Advisors LLC
 

Munder Capital Management, Inc. 

JPMorgan Asset Management, Inc. 

Pyramis Global Advisors LLC
 

Roosevelt Investment Group, Inc. 

RiverSource Investments LLC
 

Wellington Management Co. LLP 

Fred Alger Management, Inc. 

Akre Capital Management LLC 

Columbia Wanger Asset Management LP 
i!2007 Factset Research Systems, Inc. All Rights Reserved. As of: 02/18/2010 

Additional Information 
Meetrng Location Ballard Spahr LLP, 1735 Market Street, 

51st Floor, Philadelphia, PA 19103 

Meeting Time 10:00 a.m. 
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Security IDs 707569109(CUSIP) 

Votes per share Issued 
1.00 79,203,435 

Number of Shares % of Class 
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7,385,296 9.34
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4,126,000 5.22
 
2,885,220 3.65
 
2,230,887 2.82
 
2,164,425 2.74
 
2,149,392 2.72
 
1,767,064 2.24
 
1,590,245 2.01
 
1,410,970 1.78
 
1,389,737 1.76
 
1,361,327 1.72
 
1,252,963 1.59
 
1,212,975 1.53
 
1,198,215 1.52
 
1,109,981 1.40
 
1,030,705 1.30
 
1,002,560 1.27
 
8n,449 1.11
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Research office locations include Brussels, london, Manila, Melbourne, Pans, Singapore, Tokyo, Toronto, and
 
Washington DC/Rockville. 

.
. ....
.. ..
. .

..11. ...
... ...
. ....
 

RiskMetrics Group 
This proxy analysis and vote recommendation has not been submitted to, nor received approval from, the United States Securities and
 
Exchange Commission or any other regulatory body. While 155 exercised due care in compiling this analysis, it makes no warranty, express
 
or implied, regarding the accuracy, completeness or usefulness of this information and assumes no liability with respect to the 
consequences of relying on this information for investment or other purposes. In particular, the research and voting recommendations 
provided are not intended to constitute an offer, solicitation or advice to buy or sell securities nor are they intended to solicit votes or 
proxies. 

Institutional Shareholder Services Inc. ("155") is a wholly-owned subsidiary of RiskMetrics Group, Inc. ("RMG"). The following are other 
wholly-owned subsidiaries of RMG: RiskMetrics Solutions, Inc. ("RMI"); Research Recommendations and Electronic Voting Ltd. ("RREV"); and 
155 Corporate Services, Inc. ("IC5"). While these subsidiaries are separate legal entities, the products and servces provided by these 
companies are all branded as part of the RiskMetrics Group family. 

RMG is a publicly traded company on the NY5E (Ticker: RISK). As such, RMG is not generally aware of whom its stockholders are at any
 

given point in time. RMG is, however, aware that at the moment, three of RMG's largest stockholders are General Atlantic, Spectrum Equity
 

Investors and Technology Crossover Ventures. These stockholders are private equity investors whose business activities include making 
equity and debt investments in publicly- and privately-held companies. As a result, occasionally one or more of RMG's stockholders or their
 

affiiates (or their representatives who serve on RMG's Board of Directors) may hold securities, serve on the board of directors and/or have
 

the right to nominate representatives to the board of a company which is the subject of one of 155' proxy analyses. 155 has established
 

policies and procedures to restrict the involvement of any of RMG's non-management stockholders, their affiiates and board members in 
the content of 155' analyses and vote recommendations. Neither RMG's non-management stockholders, their affiiates nor RMG's non-
management board members are informed of the contents of any of 155 analyses or recommendations prior to their publication or 
dissemination. 

The issuer that is the subject of this proxy analysis may be a client of 155, IC5, RMI or another RMG subsidiary, or the parent of, or affiiated
 

with, a client of 155, IC5, RMI or another RMG subsidiary. 

One, or more, of the proponents of a shareholder proposal at an upcoming meeting may be a client of 155, IC5, RMI or another RMG
 

subsidiary, or the parent of, or affiiated with, a client of 155, IC5, RMI or another RMG subsidiary. None of the sponsors of any shareholder
 

proposal(s) played a role in preparing this report. 

155 may in some circumstances afford issuers, whether or not they are clients of IC5 or any other RMG subsidiary, the right to review draft 
research analyses so that factual inaccuracies may be corrected before the report and recommendations are finalized. Control of research 
analyses and voting recommendations remains, at all times, with 155. 

155 makes its proxy voting policy formation process and summary proxy voting policies readily available to issuers, investors and others on 
its public website: http://www.riskmetrics.com/policv. 

This issuer may have purchased self-assessment tools and publications from 155 Corporate Servces, Inc. ("CS"), a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Institutional Shareholder Servces Inc. ("55"), or ICS may have provided advisory or analytical servces to the issuer in connection with 
the proxies described in this report. No employee of ICS played a role in the preparation of this report. If you are an 155 institutional 
client, you may inquire about any issuer's use of products and servces from ICS byemailngdisclosure€riskmetrics.com. 
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UNITED STATES
 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 

FORM 8-K 

CURNT REPORT
 
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15 (d) of the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

Date of Report - June 6, 2007 
(Date of earliest event reported) 

PENN NATIONAL GAMING, INC. 
(Exact name ofregistrt as specified in its charer) 

Pennsylvania 0-24206 23-2234473 

(State or other jurisdiction (Commssion Pile Number) (IRS Employer 
of incorporation) Identification 

Number) 

825 Berkshire Blvd., Suite 200, Wyomissing Professional Center, Wyomissing, P A 19610 

(Address of pricipal executive offces) (Zip Code) 

Area Code (610) 373-2400 
(Registrt's telephone number)
 

Check the appropriate box below if the fonn 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the fiing obligation of the 
registrant under any ofthe following provisions (see General Instrction A.2 to Ponn 8-K): 

o Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securties Act (17 CPR 230.425) 

o Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CPR 240. 14a-12) 

o Pre-commencement communcations pursuat to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CPR 240 . 14d-2(b )) 

o Pre-commencement communcations pursuat to Rule 13e-4( c) under the Exchange Act (17 CPR 240. 13e-4( c))
 



Item 5.02 Departre of Directors or Certain Offcers: Election of Directors: Appointment of Certain Offcers: 
Compensatory Arranl!ements of Certin Offcers.
 

On June 6, 2007, the shareholders of Penn National Gaming, Inc. (the "Company") approved the Company's Anual Incentive 
Plan (the "Plan") and the perfonnance goals thereunder. The Plan provides for cash bonuses payable upon the atnment of pre­
established corporate perfonnance goals. The Compensation Commttee approved a perfonnance measure offree cash flow compared 
to the results of a peer group of the Company's competitors and a perfonnance measure of earings before interest, taes, 
depreciation, and amortization ("EBIDTA") compared to plan as the business criteria upon which perfonnance goals are based. 
Parcipants may receive a bonus with a threshold, taget and maximum payout. The Committee may detennine to pay the bonus in 
shares of the Company's common stock, instead of cash, under the Company's equity-based incentive compensation plans. The 
Compensation Committee may reduce, but may not increase, any bonus. Eligible employees of 
 the Plan include the Company's Chief 
Executive Offcer, the other executive offcers of the Company and other key offcers ofthe Company. 

The Plan wil be administered by the Compensation Committee of 
 the Board of Directors of the Company who wil, among 
other things, designate paricipants from among the eligible employees of the Company, estalish perfonnance goals within the 
parameters of the Plan and administer the Plan as it deems necessar or advisable. The Compensation Committee also has the right to 
tenninate or amend the Plan, without shareholder approval, at any time and for any reason. 

A full description of the Plan is attched as Exhibit 10.1 and incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 8.01 Other Events.
 

On June 6, 2007, the Company issued a press release anouncing the results of its 2007 Anual Meeting of Shareholders and 
that, as a result of the fact that the 2007 Employees Long Tenn Incentive Compensation Plan and the 2007 Long Tenn Incentive 
Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors ofthe Company were not approved by shareholders, the Company will not proceed 
with its previously anounced program to repurchase up to $200 milion ofthe Company's common stock, as it was conditioned on 
shareholder approval of such plans. 

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits. 

(d) Exhibits. 

Exhibit No. Deription 

10.1 Description of the Penn National Gamng, Inc. Annual Incentive Plan. 

99.1 Press Release of Penn National Gaming, Inc., dated June 6, 2007 
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SIGNATUS
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securties Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

Dated: June 12,2007 PENN NATIONAL GAMG, INC. 

By: Isl Robert S. Ippolito 
Robert S. Ippolito 
Vice President, Secreta and Treasurer 
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EXHIBIT INEX 

Exhibit No. Desnption 

10.1 Description of the Penn National Gamg, Inc. Annual Incentive Plan. 

99.1 Press Release of Penn National Gaming Inc., dated June 6, 2007 
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Exhibit 10.1
 

Description of 
 the Penn National Gaming, Inc. Annual Incentive Plan 

The Anual Incentive Plan provides for cash bonuses payable upon the attinment of pre-established performance goals. The Anual 
Incentive Plan wil enable Penn National Gaming, Inc. (the "Company") to claim ta deductions for all bonuses payable under the 
Anual Incentive Plan, including bonuses for the 2007 calendar year and bonuses for calendar years though 2011. Without such 
Annual Incentive Plan, Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, would deny the Company a deduction for 
bonuses under the Anual Incentive Plan paid to the Chief Executive Offcer and the four other most highy compensated executive 
offcers, to the extent each offcer's compensation that is subject to Section 162(m) exceeds $1 milion. The unavailabilty ofthis 
deduction would cause the Company to pay higher Federal income taes. 

Administration. The Anual Incentive Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee wil, 
among other things, designate parcipants from among the eligible employees, establish performance goals within the parameters 
described below and adinister the Anual Incentive Plan as it deems necessar or advisable. The Compensation Committee has the 
right to termnate or amend the Anual Incentive Plan, without stockholder approval, at any time and for any reason. The Company 
also may adopt other bonus or incentive plans. 

Eligible Employees. Employees eligible to parcipate in the Anual Incentive Plan include the Chief Executive Offcer, the other 
executive offcers of the Company and other key offcers of the Company, which currently consists of approximately nine individuals. 

Performance Goals. The Annual Incentive Plan is an incentive compensation plan designed to promote teamwork towards achieving 
pre-established corporate performance goals each year. The Compensation Committee approved a performance measure of free cash 
flow compared to the results of a peer group of the Company's competitors and a performance measure of earngs before interest, 
taes, depreciation, and amortization ("EBIDT A") compared to plan as the business criteria upon which performance goals are based. 

Plan Benefits. Paricipants in the Annual Incentive Plan may receive a bonus with a theshold, target and maximum payout. The 
anual bonus wil be paid depending on whether the performance cnteria established for the year are achieved. No bonuses wil be 
paid if performance criteria established for the year do not meet the threshold. If the Company's performance with respect to any or 
all of the performance criteria meets or exceeds the theshold, then a varing amount of cah, up to the maximum, may be achieved. 
A maxmum of $6,000,000 may be paid each year to each executive who parcipates in the Anual Incentive
 



Plan. The Committee may determine to pay the bonus in shares of the Company's common stock, instead of cash, under the 
Company's equity-based incentive compensation plans. The Compensation Committee may reduce, but may not increase, any bonus. 



Exhibit 99.1
 

News Anouncement 
'liIi~;.\~G ~~Ni:IONAL
 

CONTACT: 
Wiliam J. Clifford Joseph N. Jaffoni, Richard Land 
Chief Financial Offcer Jaffoni & Collins Incorporated 
610/373-2400 212/835-8500 or penn~jcir.com 

PENN NATIONAL GAMNG REPORTS ON ANUAL MEETIG RESULTS 

- Two Class n Directors Elected and Annual 
 Incentive Plan is Approved ­

- Employees Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan and Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan for Non-Employee 
Directors of 
 the Company are Not Approved-

Wyomissing, Penn., (June 6, 2007) -- Penn National Gaming, Inc. (PENN: Nasda today announced results of 
 its Anua Meeting of 
Shareholders, which was held earlier today: 

· Shareholders voted to re-elect Robert P. Levy and Barbara Z. Shattck for thee yea terms as Class II directors. 

· Shareholders approved the Annual Incentive Plan and the performance goals thereunder, which specifies bonus compensation for
 

employees based upon the attinment of pre-established performance goals. 

· Shareholders voted against the 2007 Employees Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan and the 2007 Long Term Incentive
 

Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors of the Company ("the 2007 Equity Compensation Plans"). Accordingly, the 
Company wil not proceed with its previously announced program to repurchase up to $200 milion of the Company's common 
stock as it was conditioned on shareholder approval of the 2007 Equity Compensation Plans. 

About Penn National Gaming 
Penn Natonal Gaming owns and operats casino and horse racing facilties with a focus on slot machie entertinment. The 
Company presently operates eighteen facilties in fourteen jurisdictions including Colorado, Ilinois, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, Maine, 
Mississippi, Missoun, New Jersey, New Mexico, Ohio, Pennylvania, West Virginia, and Ontaio. In aggregate, Penn National's 
operated facilties feature nearly 23,000 slot machines, over 400 tale games, approximately 1,731 hotel rooms and approximately 
808,000 square feet of gaming floor space. 

### 

Created by Morningsta,. Document Research'" 
http://documentresearch . morninastar.com 
Source: PENN NATIONAL GAMING INC, 8-K, June 12, 2007 
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UNITED STATES
 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 

FORM lO-Q 

(Mark One)
 

(g QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUAN TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF TH SECURTIES 
EXCHAGE ACT OF 1934 

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2009
 

OR 

o TRSITION REPORT PURSUAN TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF TH SECURTIES
 
EXCHAGE ACT OF 1934
 

For the transition period from to 

Commission me number: 0-24206
 

PENN NATIONAL GAMING, INC. 
registrant as specified in its charer)(Exact name of 


Pennsylvania 23-2234473 

(Stae or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer 
incorporation or organiztion) Identification No.) 

825 Berkshire Blvd., Suite 200 
Wyomissing, PA 19610 

principal executive offces) (Zip Code)(Address of 


610-373-2400 
(Registrant's telephone number, including area code) 

Not Applicable 
(Former name, former address, and former fiscal year, if changed since last report) 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has fied all report required to be fied by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securties 
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to fie such reports), 
and (2) has been subject to such fiing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes (8 No 0 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every 
Interative Dat File required to be submittd and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation SoT during the preceding 12 months (or 
for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes 0 No 0 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated fier, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated fier, or a smaller 
reportg company. See the defiitions of "large accelerated fier," "accelerated fier" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 
ofthe Exchange Act:
 

Large accelerated fier (8 Accelerated filer 0 

Non-accelerated filer 0 Smaller reporting company 0 
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company) 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defied in Rule 12b-2 ofthe Exchange Act).Yes 0 No (8 



Indicate the number of shares outstading of each of the registrant's classes of Common Stock, as of the latest practicable date. 

Title Outstandiu2 as of July 29, 2009 
Common Stock, par value $.01 per share 78,551,680 (includes 485,500 shares of restrcted stock) 



This report contains forward-looking statements within the meang ofthe Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Actual 
results may var materially from expectations. Although Penn National Gaming, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the 
"Company") believe that our expectations are based on reasonable assumptions within the bounds of our knowledge of our business 
and operations, there can be no assurance that acal results wil not differ materially from our expectons. Meaningfl factors that 
could cause actual results to differ from expectations include, but are not limited to, risks related to the following: our abilty to 
maitai regulatory approvals for our existing businesses and to receive regulatory approvals for our new businesses; the passage of
 

state, federal or local legislation or referenda that would expand, restrct, fuer ta, prevent or negatively impact operations (such as 
a smoking ban at any of our facilties) in or adjacent to the jursdictons in which we do business; the acvities of our competitors and 
the emergence of new competitors; increases in the effective rate of tation at any of our properties or at the corporate level; delays 
or changes to, or cancellations of, planed capital projects at our gamng and par-mutuel facilties or an inabilty to achieve the 
expected retus from such projects; constrction factors, including delays and increased cost oflabor and materials; the abilty to 
recover proceeds on significant inurance claims (such as claims related to the fire at Empress Casino Hotel); the existence of 
attactive acquisition candidates and development opportities, the costs and risks involved in the pursuit of those acquisitions and 
development opportities and our abilty to integrate those acquisitions; the availabilty and cost of financing; the maintenance of 
ageements with our horsemen, pari-mutuel clerks and other organized labor groups; the outcome of legal proceedings institued 
against the Company in connection with the termination ofthe previously announced acquisition of the Company by certain affliates 
of Fortess Investment Group LLC and Centerbridge Parers, L.P.; the effects oflocal and national economic, credit, capital market, 
housing, and energy conditions on the economy in general and on the gaming and lodging industries in parcular; changes in
 

accounting stadards; our dependence on key personnel; the impact of terrorism and other international hostilties; the impact of 
weather on our operations; and other facrs as discussed in the Company's Anual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2008, subsequent Quarerly Reports on Form lO-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K as fied with the SEC. The 
Company does not intend to update publicly any forward-looking statements except as required by law. 
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PART I. Ff:ANCLl INFO~ATION 
ITEM 1. Ff:ANCLl STATEMENTS 

Penn National Gaming, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(in thousands, except share and per share data) 

Juue 30, Deember 31, 
200 2008 

(unaudited) 
Assets 
Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 795,117 $ 746,278 
Receivables, net of allowance for doubtfl accounts of $4,0 14 and $3,797 at June 30, 

2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively 45,463 43,574 
Insurance receivable 32,545 
Prepaid expenses and other curent assets 94,114 95,386 
Deferred income taes 21,541 21,065 

Total curent assets 988,780 906,303 
Propert and equipment, net 1,818,467 1,812,131 
Other assets 

Investment in and advances to unconsolidated affliate 13,754 14,419 
Goodwill 1,595,875 1,598,571 
Other intagible assets 690,443 693,764 
Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amortization of $4,533 and $38,914 at 

June 30,2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively 29,291 34,910 
Other assets 80,394 129,578 

Total other assets 2,409,757 2,471,242 
Total assets $ 5,217,004 $ 5,189,676 

Liabilties 
Current liabilties 

Current maturities oflong-tenn debt $ 99,106 $ 105,281 
Accounts payable 49,774 35,540 
Accrued expenses 91,200 106,769 
Accrued interest 62,050 80,190 
Accrued salaries and wages 57,849 55,380 
Gamg, pari-mutuel, propert, and other taes 42,211 44,503 
Insurance financing 8,093 
Oter curent liabilties 36,758 34,730 

Total current liabilties 438,948 470,486 

Long-term liabilties 
Long-ter debt, net of curent matuies 2,280,253 2,324,899 
Deferred income taxes 274,344 265,610 
Noncurent ta liabilties 52,625 68,632 
Oter noncurent liabilties 6,568 2,776 

Totallong-tenn liabilties 2,613,790 2,661,917 

Shareholders' equity 

Preferred stock ($.01 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized, 12,500 issued and 
outstading at June 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008) 

Common stock ($.01 par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized, 78,536,680 and 
78,148,488 shares issued at June 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively) 784 782 

Additional paid-in capital 1,463,757 1,442,829 
Retained eargs 731,496 662,355 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (31,771) (48,693) 

Total shareholders' equity 2,164,266 2,057,273 
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 5,217,004 $ 5,189,676 



See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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Penn National Gaming, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Income 

(in thousands, except per share data) 
(unaudited) 

Three Months Ended June 30, 
200 2008 

Six Months Ended June 30, 
2009 2008 

Revenues 
Gaming 
Management service fee 
Food, beverage and other 

Gross revenues 
Less promotional allowances 

Net revenues 

$ 526,390 
3,674 

86,247 
616,311 

(35,494) 
580,817 

$ 566,395 
4,694 

81,845 
652,934 

(32,348) 
620,586 

$ 1,086,293 
6,707 

170,869 
1,263,869 

(70,826) 
1,193,043 

$ 1,127,031 
8,679 

163,370 
1,299,080 

(65,000) 
1,234,080 

Operating expenses 

Gamg 
Food, beverage and other 
General and adinistrative 

Impairment loss for replaced Lawrenceburg vessel 
Empress Casino Hotel fire 
Depreciation and amortization 

Total operating expenses 
Income from operations 

286,620 
65,529 
93,001 
11,689 

331 
46,942 

504,112 
76,705 

302,112 
65,569 
94,132 

45,182 
506,995 
113,591 

584,182 
130,058 
192,471 

11,689 
5,731 

91,372 
1,015,503 

177,540 

601,545 
127,890 
187,521 

84,974 
1,001,930 

232,150 

Other income (expenses) 
Interest expense 
Interest income 
Loss from joint ventue 
Oter 

Total other expenses 

(29,851) 
1,603 

(416) 
2,887 

(25,777) 

(44,536) 
553 

(152) 
(574) 

(44,709) 

(61,089) 
4,694 

(719) 
4,979 

(52,135) 

(91,751) 
1,236 

(911) 
884 

(90,542) 

Income from operations before income taxes 
Taxes on income 

Net income 

50,928 
22,448 

$ 28,480 

68,882 
31,859 

$ 37,023 $ 

125,405 
56,264 

69,141 

141,608 
63,849 

$ 77,759 

Basic earnings per common share 
Diluted earnings per common share 

$ 0.29 
$ 0.27 

$ 0.43 
$ 0.42 

$ 

$ 

0.72 
0.65 

$ 0.90 
$ 0.88 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated fmancial statements. 
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Balance, Deceber 31, 2007 
Stock option activity, includg ta benefit 

of$414 
Restrcte stk
 

Change in fair value of intert rae swap 
cotr. net of income taes of$30
 

Foreign curency trslation adjustment 
Net income 

Balance Jwie 30, 2008 

Balance, Dember 31,2008 
Stock option acvity, including tax benefit 

of$I,457 
Retrcted stock 

Change in far value of interest rae swap 
cotrac. net of income taes of $4,817 

Chae in fai value of corpra debt 
secmities 

Foreign curency trlaton adjustment 
Net income 

Baance Jwie 30, 2009 

Penn National Gaming, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity
 

(in thousands, except share data) (unaudited)
 

Accuulate 
Additional Otber 

Preferr Stock Common Stock T..ury Paid.ln R~taned Compreensive-l .. Sbar ~ Stock Capita EaminES (Lss) Income 
88,579,070 $ 887 (2,379) $ 322,760 815,678 (15,984) $ 

60,250 9,755 
980 

(212) 
71,759 

$ 88,639,320 $ 887 $ (2.379) $ 333,495 893,437 (16,143) $ == = 53 

12,500 78,148,488 782 1,442,829 662,355 (48,693) $ 

282,692 2 19,634 
105,500 1,294 

8,556 

7,945 
421 

69,141 

12,500 $ 78,536,680 $ 784 $ - $ 1,463,757 731,496 $ (31,771) $ == = 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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Tota 
Sbarolden' 

Equity 
1,120,962 

9,755 
980 

53 

(212) 
71,759 

1,209,297 $ 

2,057,273 

19,636 
1,294 

8,556 

7,945 
421 

69.141 

2,164,266 

Compreensive
 
Income (loss)
 

53 

(212) 
71,759 

71,600 

8,556 

7,945 
421 

69,141 

86,063 



Penn National Gaming, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(in thousands) (unaudited) 

Six Months Ended June 30, 2009 2008 
Operating activities 

Net income $ 69,141 $ 77,759 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating actvities: 

Depreciation and amortization 91,372 84,974 
Amortization of items charged to interest expense 5,785 6,325 
Amortiztion of items charged to interest income (1,295) 
(Gain) loss on sale offixed assets 
Loss from joint venture 

(296) 
719 

357 
911 

Empress Casino Hotel fire 4,854 
Gain on accelerated payment of other long-term obligations 
Gain on sale of investment in corporate debt securities 

(1,305) 
(6,598) 

Deferred income taes 3,108 5,534 
Charge for stock compensation 15,272 9,528 
Impairment loss for replaced Lawrenceburg vessel 11,689 
(Increase) decrease, net of businesses acquired 

Accounts receivable (13,407) 1,746 
Prepaid expenses and other curent assets 

Other assets 

(Decrease) increase, net of businesses acquired 

3,110 

(3,303) 
(41,147) 
(10,686) 

Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 
Accrued interest 
Accrued salaries and wages 

(2,697) 
(14,815) 

(4,767) 
2,469 

857 

(23,270) 
(4,648) 
2,742 

Gamng, pari-mutuel, propert and other taes (2,292) 11,512 
Income taes payable 45,404 
Other curent and noncurent liabilties 5,820 9,904 
Other noncurent ta liabilties 2,750 1,808 

Net cash provided by operating activities 165,314 179,610 
Investing activities 

Expenditues for propert and equipment 

Proceeds from sale of propert and equipment 
(139,021) 

8,788 
(196,604) 

581 
Proceeds from sale of investment in corporate debt securities 50,603 
Proceeds from Empress Casino Hotel fie 16,000 
Acquisition of businesses and licenses, net of cash acquired (351 ) 

Net cash used in investing activities (63,630) (196,374) 
Financing activities 

Proceeds from exercise of options 3,473 794 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 122,684 118,000 
Prcipal payments on long-term debt 

Payments on insurance financing 
Tax benefit from stock options exercised 

(172,366) 
(8,093) 
1,457 

(136,420) 
(16,025) 

414 
Net cash used in fmancing activities (52,845) (33,237) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 48,839 (50,001) 
Cash and cah equivalents at begining of year 746,278 174,372 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 795,117 $ 124,371 

Supplemental disclosure 
Interest expense paid $ 66,292 $ 98,706 
Income taes paid $ 54,550 $ 9,934 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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Penn National Gaming, Inc. and Subsidiaries
 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
 

1. Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of Penn National Gaming, Inc. ("Penn") and its subsidiaries 
(collectively, the "Company") have been prepared in accordance with United States ("U.S.") generally accepted accounting principles 
("GAAP") for interim fiancial inormation and with the instrctions for Form 10-Q and Artcle 10 of Regulation SoX. Accordingly,
 

they do not include all of the inormation and footnotes required by GAAP for complete consolidated fiancial statements. In the 
opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurng accruals) considered necessar for a fair presentation have 
been included. The notes to the consolidaed financial statements contained in the Anual Report on Form IO-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2008 should be read in conjunction with these consolidated fiancial statements. For purses of comparabilty, certin
 

prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the curent year presentation. Operating results for the six months ended 
June 30, 2009 are not necessarly indicaive of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2009. 

2. Merger Announcement and Termination 

On June 15,2007, the Company anounced that it had entered into a merger ageement that, at the effective time ofthe 
transactions contemplated thereby, would have resulted in the Company's shareholders receiving $67.00 per share. Specifically, the 
Company, PNG Acquisition Company Inc. ("Parent") and PNG Merger Sub Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiar of Parent ("Merger 
Sub"), anounced that they had entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 15,2007 (the "Merger Agreement"), 
that provided, among other things, for Merger Sub to be merged with and into the Company (the "Merger"), as a result of which the 
Company would have continued as the suriving corporation and would have become a wholly-owned subsidiar of Parent. Parent is 
indirectly owned by cert fuds managed by afliates of Fortess Investment Group LLC ("Fortess") and Centerbridge 
Parers, L.P. ("Centerbridge"). 

On July 3, 2008, the Company entered into an ageement with certin affliates of Fortess and Centerbridge, terminating the 
Merger Agreement. In connection with the termination of the Merger Agreement, the Company agreed to receive a total of 
$1.475 bilion, consisting of a nonrefudable $225 millon cash termination fee (the "Cash Termination Fee") and a $1.25 bilion, zero 
coupon, preferred equity investment (the "Investment"). On October 30, 2008, the Company closed the sale ofthe Investment and 
issued 12,500 shares of Series B Redeemable Preferred Stock (the "Preferred Stock"). 

The Company used a portion of the net proceeds from the Investment and the after-ta proceeds of the Cash Termnation Fee 
for the repayment of some of its existing debt, repurchases of its Common Stock, lobbying expenses for efforts in Ohio and 
investment in corporate debt securities, with the remainder being invested primarily in short-term securties. The repurchase of up to 
$200 milion ofthe Company's Common Stock over the twenty-four month period ending July 2010 was authorized by the 
Company's Board of Directors in July 2008. During the year ended December 31,2008, the Company repurchased 8,934,984 shares 
of its Common Stock in open market transactions for approximately $152.6 milion, at an average price of$17.05. During the six 
months ended June 30, 2009, the Company did not repurchase any shares of its Common Stock. 

On December 26, 2007, the Company entered into a Change in Control Payment Acknowledgement and Agreement (the 
"Acknowledgement and Agreement") with certin members of its management team. Pursuant to the Acknowledgement and 
Agreement, a portion ofthe payment due on a change in control to such executives was accelerated and paid on or before 
December 31, 2007. The Acknowledgement and Agreements were entered into as par of actions taen to reduce the amount of 
"gross-up" payments perting to federal excise taes that may have otherwise been owed to such executives under the terms of their 
existing employment ageements in connection with the change in control payments due upon the consummation of the Merger. The 
accelerated change in control payments were subject to a clawback right in the event the Merger was terminated pursuat to the terms 
of the Merger Agreement or the closing of the Merger otherwse failed to occur or if the executive's employment with the Company 
was terminated prior to the effective date ofthe Merger under circumstances where the executive was not entitled to receive the 
remainder of his change in control payment under the terms of his employment ageement. In July 2008, the Company exercised its 
clawback right for the accelerated change in control payments in accordance with the Acknowledgement and Agreement, and advised 
the affected executives of the amounts to be repaid and the due date. Each executive has repaid to the Company all after-ta cash 
received by such executive and fied all retus and other instrents necessar to effect the refud of all applicable taxes. Furher, 
each executive has assigned his right to such ta refuds to the Company. 
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3. Summary of Signifcant Accounting Policies 

Revenue Recognition and Promotional Alowances 

Gaming revenue is the aggregate net difference between gaming wins and losses, with liabilties recognized for fuds deposited 
by customers before gamg play occurs, for chips and "ticket-in, ticket-out" coupons in the customers' possession, and for accrals 
related to the anticipated payout of progressive jackpots. Progressive slot machines, which contain base jackpots that increase at a 
progressive rate based on the number of coins played, are charged to revenue as the amount of the jackpots increase. 

Revenue from the management service contract for Casino Rama is based upon contracted terms and is recognized when 
services are performed. 

Food, beverage and other revenue, including racing revenue, is recognized as services are performed. Racing revenue includes 
the Company's share of par-mutuel wagenng on live races after payment of amounts retued as winning wagers, its share of 
wagenng from import and export simulcasting, and its share ofwagenng from its off-track wagenng facilities ("OTWs"). 

Revenues are recognzed net of certin sales incentives in accordance with the Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") consensus 
on Issue 01-9, "Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller ofthe Vendor's Products)" 
("EITF 01-9"). The consensus in EITF 01-9 requires that sales incentives and points eared in point-loyalty programs be recorded as a 
reduction of revenue. The Company recognizes incentives related to gaming play and points eared in point-loyalty programs as a 
direct reduction of gamng revenue. 

The retail value of accommodations, food and beverage, and other services furnished to guests without charge is included in 

gross revenues and then deducted as promotional allowances. The estimated cost of providing such promotional allowances is
primarly included in food, beverage and other expense. The amounts included in promotional allowances for the thee and six months 
ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 are as follows: 

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30, 
200 2008 2009 2008 

(in thousands) 
Rooms $ 5,500 $ 4,114 $ 10,824 $ 8,267 
Food and beverage 27,283 24,971 54,568 50,068 
Other 2,711 3,263 5,434 6,665 
Total promotional allowances $ 35,494 $ 32,348 $ 70,826 $ 65,000 

The estimated cost of providing such complimenta services for the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 are as 
follows: 

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30, 
200 2008 2009 2008 

(in thousands) 
Rooms $ 2,218 $ 1,600 $ 4,425 $ 3,327 
Food and beverage 18,811 17,829 37,384 35,727 
Other 1,630 1,386 3,134 2,800 
Total cost of complimenta services $ 22,659 $ 20,815 $ 44,943 $ 41,854 

Earnings Per Share 

The Company calculates eaings per share ("EPS") in accordance with Statement of Financial Accountig Stadads 
("SF AS") No. 128, "Earngs Per Share" ("SF AS 128"). Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income applicable to common stock 
by the weighted-average number of common shares outstading during the period. Diluted EPS reflects the additional dilution for all 
potentially-dilutive securties such as stock options. 
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Begig in the fourh quarer of2008, in conjunction with the issuance of 12,500 shares ofthe Company's Preferred Stock, 
the Company began to calculate EPS in accordance with SF AS 128, as clarified by EITF 03-6, "Paricipating Securities and the Two-
Class Method under F ASB Statement No. 128" ("EITF 03-6"). This was necessar as the Company determed that the Company's 
Preferred Stock qualified as a paricipating security as defied in EITF 03-6. Under EITF 03-6, a security is considered a parcipating 
security if the securty may paricipate in undistributed earings with common stock, whether that paricipation is conditioned upon 
the occurence of a specified event or not. In accordance with SF AS 128, a company is required to use the two-class method when 
computing EPS when a company has a securty that qualifies as a "paricipating security." The two-class method is an earings 
allocation formula that determnes EPS for each class of common stock and paricipatig security according to dividends declared (or 
accumulated) and paricipation rights in undistributed earings. A paricipating security is included in the computation of basic EPS 
using the two-class method. Under the two-class method, basic EPS for the Company's Common Stock is computed by dividing net 
income applicable to common stock by the weighted-average common shares outstading durng the period. 

The following table sets forth the allocation of net income for the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 under the 
two-class method: 

Three Months Ended June 30, 
2009 2008 

Six Months Ended June 30, 
2009 2008 

(in thousands) 

Net income 
Net income applicable to preferred stock 

Net income applicable to common stock 

$ 

$ 

. 28,480 
5,497 

22,983 

$ 37,023 

$ 37,023 

$ 69,141 
13,361 

$ 55,780 

$ 77,759 

$ 77,759 

The followig table reconciles the weighted-average common shares outstading used in the calculation of basic EPS to the 
weighted-average common shares outstanding used in the calculation of diluted EPS for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009 
and 2008: 

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2009 2008 2009 2008
 

(in thousands) 
Determination of shares: 
Weighted-average common shares outstading 77,996 86,560 77,905 86,541 
Assumed conversion of dilutive stock options 1,271 2,059 1,017 2,174 
Assumed conversion of preferred stock 27,778 27,778 
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding 107,045 88,619 106,700 88,715 

Reflecting the issuance of the Company's Preferred Stock, the Company is required to adjust its diluted weighted-average 
common shares outstading for the purose of calculating diluted EPS as follows: 1) when the price of the Company's Common Stock 
is less than $45, the diluted weighted-average common shares outstading is increased by 27,777,778 shares (regardless of how much 
the stock price is below $45); 2) when the price of the Company's Common Stock is between $45 and $67, the diluted weighted-
average common shares outstading is increased by an amount which can be calculated by dividing $1.25 bilion by the curent price 
per share of the Company's Common Stock, which will result in an increase in the diluted weighted-average common shares 
outstanding of between 18,656,716 shares and 27,777,778 shares; and 3) when the price of the Company's Common Stock is above 
$67, the diluted weighted-average common shares outstading is increased by 18,656,716 shares (regardless of how much the stock 
price exceeds $67). At June 30, 2009, the price of the Company's Common Stock was below $45. 

Options to purchase 4,753,164 shares and 8,573,582 shares were outstading durng the three and six months ended June 30,
 

2009, respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted EPS because they are antidilutive. Options to purchase 
1,461,627 shares and 1,430,521 shares were outstading during the thee and six months ended June 30, 2008, respectively, but were 
not included in the computation of diluted EPS because they are antidilutive 

The following table presents the caculation of basic and diluted EPS for the Company's Common Stock. 
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Thre Months Ended Jnne 30, Six Months Ended June 30, 
2009 2008 2009 2008 

(in thousands, except per share data) 
Calculation of basic EPS: 
Net income applicable to common stock $ 22,983 $ 37,023 $ 55,780 $ 77,759 
Weighted-average common shares outstading 77,996 86,560 77,905 86,541 
Basic EPS $ 0.29 $ 0.43 $ 0.72 $ 0.90 

Calculation of diluted EPS: 
Net income $ 28,480 $ 37,023 $ 69,141 $ 77,759 
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstading 107,045 88,619 106,700 88,715 
Diluted EPS $ 0.27 $ 0.42 $ 0.65 $ 0.88 

The repurchase of up to $200 millon of the Company's Common Stock over the twenty-four month period ending July 2010 
was authorized by the Company's Board of Directors in July 2008. Durng the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company 
repurchased 8,934,984 shares of its Common Stock in open market transactions for approximately $152.6 milion, at an average price 
of$17.05. Durg the six months ended June 30, 2009, the Company did not repurchase any shares of its Common Stock. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

The Company accounts for stock compensation under SF AS No. 123 (revised 2004), "Share-Based Payment," which requires 
the Company to expense the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instrents based on the grant-


date fair value of the award. This expense must be recognized ratably over the requisite service period following the date of grant. 

The fair value for stock options was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which 
requires management to make cert assumptions. The risk-free interest rate was based on the U.S. Treasur spot rat with a 
remaining term equal to the expected life asswned at the date of grant. Expected volatilty at June 30, 2009 was estimated based on the 
historical volatility of the Company's stock price over a period of 5.29 yeas, in order to match the expected life ofthe options at the 
grant date. There is no expected dividend yield since the Company has not paid any cash dividends on its Common Stock since its 
initial public offering in May 1994 and since the Company intends to retain all of its earings to finance the development ofits 
business for the foreseeable futue. The weighted-average expected life was based on the contractual term of the stock option and 
expected employee exercise dates, which was based on the historical and expected exercise behavior ofthe Company's employees. 
Forfeitues are estimated at the date of grant based on historical experience. The following are the weighted-average asswnptions used 
in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model at June 30, 2009 and 2008: 

Six Months Ended June 30, 2009 200 

Risk-free interest rate 2.63% 2.73%
 
Expected volatilty 49.43% 35.77%
 
Dividend yield
 
Weighted-average expected life (years) 5.29 4.72
 
Forfeitue rate 4.00% 4.00%
 

Accounting for Derivatives and Hedgig Actiities
 

The Company uses fied and variable-rate debt to finance its operations. Both fuding sources have associated risks and 
opportities, such as interest rate exposure, and the Company's risk management policy permts the use of derivatives to manage this
 

exposure. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instrents for trading or speculative puroses. Thus, uses of
 

derivatives are strictly limited to hedging and risk management puroses in connection with managing interest rate exposure. 
Acceptable derivatives for this purose include interest rate swap contracts, futues, options, caps, and similar instrents.
 

When using derivatives, the Company's intent is to apply "special hedge accounting," which is conditional upon satistying 
specific documentation and performance criteria. In paricular, the underlying hedged item must expose the Company to risks 
associated with market fluctuations and the instrent used as the hedging derivative must generate 
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offsettg effects in prescnbed magitudes. If these crtena are not met, a change in the market value of the fiancial instrent and
 

all associated settlements would be recognized as gains or losses in the period of change. 

Curently, the Company has a number of interest rate swap contracts in place. These contracts serve to mitigate income 
volatilty for a portion of its varable-rate fuding. Swap contrac coverage extnds out through 201 i. In effect, these swap contracts 
synthetically convert the porton of variable-rate debt being hedged to the equivalent of fixed-rate fuding. Under the term of the 
swap contracts, the Company receives cash flows from the swap contract counterparies to offset the benchmark interest rate 
component of variable interest payments on the hedged financings, in exchange for paying cash flows based on the swap contracts' 
fixed rates. These two respective obligations are net-settled, periodically. The Company accounts for these swap contracts as cash 
flow hedges, which requires determning a division of hedge results deemed effective and deemed ineffective. However, most of the 
Company's hedges were designed in such a way so as to perfectly offset specifically-defined interest payments, such that no 
ineffectiveness has occurred-nor would any ineffectiveness occur, as long as the forecasted cash flows of the designated hedged 
items and the associated swap contrcts remain unchanged. 

The fair value of the Company's interest rate swap contracts is measured as the present value of all expected futue cash flows 
based on the LIBOR-based swap yield cure as of the date of the valuation, subject to a credit adjustment to the LIBOR-based yield 
cure's implied discount rates. The credit adjustment reflect the Company's best estimate as to the Company's credit quality at 
June 30,2009. 

Under cash flow hedge accounting, effective denvative results are intially recorded in other comprehensive income ("OCI") 
and later reclassified to earings, coinciding' with the income recognition relatig to the varable interest payments being hedged 
(i.e., when the interest expense on the varable-rate liabilty is recorded in earings). Any hedge ineffectveness (which represents the 
amount by which hedge results exceed the variabilty in the cash flows of the forecasted transaction due to the nsk being hedged) is 
recorded in curent period earings.
 

Under cash flow hedge acountig, denvatives are included in the consolidated balance sheets as assets or liabilties at fai 
value. The interest rate swap contract liabilties are included in accrued interest withi the consolidated balance sheets at June 30, 
2009 and December 31, 2008. 

Durg the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009, the Company had certin derivative instrents that were not designated 
to qualify for hedge accounting. The penodic change in the mark-to-market ofthese derivative instrents is recorded in curent
 

period eargs. 

Credit risk relating to derivative counterparies is mitigated by using multiple, highly rated counterparies, and the credit quality 
of each is monitored on an ongoing basis. 

4. New Accounting Pronouncements 

In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("F ASB") issued SF AS No. 168, "The FASB Accounting Standards 
Codifcation 1M and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Pnnciples-a replacement ofF ASB Statement No. 162" 
("SF AS i 68"), which identifies the sources of accounting pnnciples and the framework for selecting the pnnciples used in the 
preparation of fiancial statements of nongovernental entities that are presented in conformity with GAAP in the United States (the 
GAAP hierarchy). SF AS 168 establishes the FASB Accounting Standads Codifcation 1M as the source of authontative accounting 
pnnciples recognized by the F ASB to be applied by nongovernental entities in the preparation of fiancial statements in conformity 
with GAA. SF AS 168 is effective for most financial statements issued for inteni and anual periods ending after September 15, 
2009. The Company is currently determining the impac of SF AS 168 on its consolidated financial statements. 

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 167, "Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R)" ("SFAS 167"). The objective 
of SF AS 167 is to improve fiancial reporting by enterpnses involved with varable interest entities and to provide more relevant and 
reliable inormation to users of fiancial statements. SF AS 167 is effective as of the begining of each reportg entity's fist anual 
reporting period that begins after November 15,2009, for intenm periods within that fist anual reporting period, and for inteni and 
anual reporting periods thereafter. Earlier application is prohibited. The Company is currently determinig the impact of SF AS 167on its consolidated fiancial statements. . 

In May 2009, the F ASB issued SF AS No. 165, "Subsequent Events" ("SF AS 165"), which establishes general standards of 
accounting for and disclosure of events that occur aftr the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are 
available to be issued. In addition, under SF AS 165, an entity is required to disclose the date though which subsequent events have 
been evaluated, as well as whether that date is the date the financial staements were issued or the date the financial statements were 
available to be issued. SF AS 165 does not apply to subsequent events or transacions that are within the scope of other applicable 
GAAP that provide different guidance on the accounting treatment for subsequent 

12 



events or transactions. SF AS 165 is effective for interi or anual financial periods ending after June 15,2009, and shall be applied
 

prospectively. The Company adopted SFAS 165 as of June 30,2009, as required. The adoption of SF AS 165 did not have a material 
impact on the Company's consolidated fiancial statements. 

In April 2009, theFASB issued FASB Staff Position ("FSP") FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1, "Interi Disclosures about Fai Value
 

of Financial Instrents" ("FSP FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1"). FSP FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1 amends SFAS No. 107, "Disclosures 

about Fair Value of Financial Instrments," to require disclosures about the fai value of financial instrents for interi reporting
 

periods of publicly traded companes as well as in anual fiancial statements. FSP FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1 is effectve for interim 
reporting periods ending after June 15,2009. The Company adopted FSP FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1 as of June 30, 2009, as required. 
The adoption ofFSP FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements. 

In Apri12009, the F ASB issued FSP F AS 115-2 and F AS 124-2, "Recognition and Presentation of Other- Than-Temporar 
Impairents" ("FSP F AS 115-2 and F AS 124-2"), which amends the other-than-temporar impairent guidance for debt securities to 
make the guidance more operational and to improve the presentation and disclosure of other-than-temporar impairents on debt and 
equity securties in the fiancial statements. FSP F AS 115-2 and F AS 124-2 does not amend existing recogntion and measurement 
guidance related to other-than-tempora impairents of equity securties. FSP F AS 115-2 and F AS 124-2 is effective for interi and 
anual reporting periods ending aftr June 15, 2009. The Company adopted FSP F AS 115-2 and F AS 124-2 as of June 30, 2009, as
 

required. The adoption ofFSP F AS 115-2 and F AS 124-2 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial 
statements. 

In April 2009, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-4, "Determining Fair Value When the Volume and Level of Activity for the 
Asset or Liabilty Have Significantly Decreased and IdentifYing Transactions That Are Not Orderly" ("FSP F AS 157-4"). FSP F AS 
157-4 provides additional guidance for estimatig fair value in accordance with SF AS No. 157, "Fai Value Measurements" ("SF AS 
157"), when the volume and level of activity for the asset or liabilty have significantly decreased. FSP F AS 157-4 also includes 

guidance on identifying circumstaces that indicate a transation is not orderly. FSP F AS 157-4 is effective for interi and anual
 

reporting periods ending after June 15,2009, and shall be applied prospectively. The Company adopted FSP F AS 157-4 as of June 30, 
2009, as required. The adoption ofFSP F AS 157-4 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated fiancial 
staements. 

In Apri12009, the FASB issued FSP FAS 141(R)-I, "Accounting for Assets Acquired and Liabilties Assumed in a Business 
Combination That Arise from Contingencies" ("FSP FAS 141(R)-I"), which amends and clarfies SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), 
"Business Combinations" ("SF AS 141(R)"), to address application issues on initial recognition and measurement, subsequent 
measurement and accounting, and disclosure of assets and liabilties arsing from contingencies in a business combination. FSP F AS 
141(R)-1 is effective for all assets acquired or liabilties assumed arsing from contingencies in business combinatons for which the 
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first anual reporting period begining on or after December 15, 2008. The 
Company expects that the adoption ofFSP F AS 141(R)-1 will have an impact on its consolidated fiancial statements, once the 
Company acquires companes in the futue. 

In April 2008, the F ASB issued FSP F AS 142-3, "Determination of the Useful Life ofIntangible Assets" ("FSP F AS 142-3"), 
which amends the facors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions used to determe the useful life 
of a recognized intangible asset under SF AS No. 142 "Goodwil and Other Intagible Assets" ("SF AS 142"). The intent ofFSP 
F AS 142-3 is to improve the consistency between the useful life of a recognized intagible asset under SF AS 142 and the period of 
expected cash flows used to measure the fair value of the assets under SF AS 141(R), and other GAAP. FSP F AS 142-3 is effective for 
financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2008. Early adoption ofthe standard is 
prohibited. The Company adopted FSP F AS 142-3 as of Januar 1,2009, as required. The adoption ofFSP F AS 142-3 did not have a 
material impact on the Company's consolidated fiancial statements. 

In March 2008, the F ASB issued SF AS No. 161, "Disclosures about Derivative Instrments and Hedging Activities-an
 

amendment of SF AS No. 133" ("SF AS 161 "), which requires enhanced disclosures about an entity's derivative and hedging acivities. 
Specifically, entities are required to provide enhanced disclosures about: a) how and why an entity uses derivative instrents; b) how 
derivative instrments and related hedged items are accounted for under SF AS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instrents and
 

Hedging Activities" ("SFAS 133"), and its related interpretations; and c) how derivative instrents and related hedged items affect 
an entity's financial position, fiancial performance and cash flows. SF AS 161 is effective for fiancial statements issued for fiscal 
years and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008, with early application encouraged. SF AS 161 encourages, but does not 
require, comparative disclosures for earlier periods at initial adoption. The Company adopted SF AS 161 as of Januar 1,2009, as 
required. The adoption of SF AS 161 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements. 
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In December 2007, the F ASB issued SF AS 141(R), which is intended to improve reportg by creatig greater consistency in
 

the acounting and fiancial reporting of business combinations. SF AS 141(R) requires that the acquiring entity in a business 
combination recogniz all (and only) the assets and liabilties assumed in the tranaction, establishes the acquisition-date fair value as 
the measurement objective for all assets acquied and liabilties assumed, and requires the acquirer to disclose to investors and other 
users all of the information that they need to evaluat and understad the natue and financial effect of the business combination. In 
addition, SF AS 141(R) modifies the accounting for transaction and restrctuing costs. SF AS 141(R) is effective for business 
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or afer the begining of the fist anual reporting period begining on or after
 

December 15, 2008. The Company adopted SF AS 141(R) as of January 1, 2009, as required. The Company expects that the adoption 
of SF AS 141(R) will have an impact on its consolidated fiancial statements, once the Company acquires companies in the futue. 

In September 2006, the F ASB issued SF AS 157, which defmes fair value, estalishes a framework for measuring fair value, 
and expands the disclosure requirements about fair value measurements. In Februar 2008, the F ASB amended SF AS 157 though the 
issuance ofFSP FAS 157-1, "Application ofFASB Statement No. 157 to FASB Statement No. 13 and Other Accounting 
Pronouncements That Address Fair Value Measurements for Puroses of Lease Classification or Measurement under Statement 13" 
("FSP FAS 157-1") and FSP FAS 157-2, "Effective Date ofFASB Statement No. 157" ("FSP FAS 157-2"). FSP FAS 157-1, which 
was effective upon the initial adoption of SF AS 157, amends SF AS 157 to exclude from its scope certin accounting pronouncements 
that address fair value measurements associated with leases. FSP F AS 157-2, which was effective upon issuance, delays the effective 
date of SF AS 157 to fiscal years begining after November 15,2008 for nonfnancial assets and nonfmancialliabilties that are not 
recognized or disclosed at fair value in the fiancial statements on a recuring basis (at least anually). In October 2008, the F ASB 
issued FSP F AS 157-3, "Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the Market for That Asset Is Not Active" ("FSP 
F AS 157-3"), which was effective upon issuance. FSP F AS 157-3 clarfies the application of SF AS 157 in a market that is not active 
and provides an example to ilustrate key considerations in determining the fair value of a fiancial asset when the market for that 
financial asset is not active. The Company adopted SFAS 157, as amended, and on a prospective basis, as of Januar 1,2008. The 
Januar 1,2008 adoption did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated fiancial staments. The Company adopted 
SF AS 157, as amended, and on a prospective basis, as of Januar 1,2009 to nonfiancial assets and nonfinancial liabilties that are not 
recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurng basis. The Januar 1,2009 adoption did not have a 
material impact on the Company's consolidated fiancial statements. 

5. Propert and Equipment
 

Propert and equipment, net, consists of the following: 

June 30, Deember 31, 
2009 2008 

(in thousands) 

Land and improvements $ 226,609 $ 216,834 
Building and improvements 1,431,807 1,298,513 
Furitue, fixtus, and equipment 756,471 692,851 
Leasehold improvements 17,151 17,128 
Constrction in progress 44,242 183,056 

Tota propert and equipment 2,476,280 2,408,382 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (657,813) (596,251) 
Propert and equipment, net $ 1,818,467 $ 1,812,131 

Depreciation and amortization expense, for propert and equipment, totaled $45.4 milion and $88.1 millon for the three and 
six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to $43.3 millon and $81. milion for the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2008, respectively. Interest capitalized in connection with major constrction project was $3.5 milion and $6.4 millon for 
the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to $3.8 millon and $8.9 milion for the three and six months 
ended June 30,2008, respectively. 
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Included in the depreciation and amortization expense for the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009 was $4.8 milion in 
depreciation expense that was recorded following the fialization of cost segregation stdies for the casino projects at Hollywood 
Casino at Penn National Race Course and Hollywood Slots Hotel and Raceway. The charge was a result of the depreciation estimate 
previously recorded by the Company for these projects being less than the depreciation calculated by the cost segregation studies, due 
to differences in the determation of useful lives for certin of the assets included in the projects and the allocation of certin costs 

that were incured as par of the projects. For the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009, the impact of the charge to net income, 
Basic EPS, and Diluted EPS was $2.8 milion, $0.04 and $0.03, respectively. 

In conjunction with the opening of the new casino nverboat at Hollywood Casino Lawrenceburg, the Company recorded an 
impairent loss for the replaced Lawrenceburg vessel of $11.7 milion dung the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009. 

6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 

The Company's goodwill and intagible assets had a gross caningvalue of $2.3 billon at June 30, 2009 and December 31, 
2008, and accumulated amortizaion of$38.0 milion and $34.7 milion at June 30,2009 and December 31,2008, respectively. The 
table below presents the gross caning value, accumulated amortzation, and net book value of each major class of goodwill and 
intagible asset at June 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008: 

June 30, 2009 December 31,2008 

(in thousands) 

Gross Accumulate Gross Accumulate 
Carryli Value Amorttion NetBook Value Carrynli Value Amorttion NetBok Value 

Goodwill $ 1,595,875 $ $ 1,595,875 $ 1,598,571 $ $ 1,598,571 

Indefiite-life intagible assets 679,054 679,054 679,054 679,054 
Other intagible assets 49,396 38,007 11,389 49,396 34,686 14,710 
Total $ 2,324,325 $ 38,007 $ 2,286,318 $ 2,327,021 $ 34,686 $ 2,292,335 

The Company's intagible asset amortization expense was $1.6 milion and $3.3 milion for the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to $1.9 millon and $3.9 milion for the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, 
respectively. 

The following table presents expected intagible asset amortization expense based on existing intagible assets at June 30, 
2009 (in thousands): 

2009 ( 6 months) $ 3,321 
2010 5,773 
2011 2,096 
2012 199 
2013 
Thereafter 

Total $ 11,389 

15 



7. Long-term Debt
 

Long-term debt, net of curent matuties, is as follows:
 

June 30, Deember 31, 
2009 2008 

(in thousands) 

Senior secured credit facilty $ 1,923,868 $ 1,959,784 
$200 millon 67/8% senior subordinated notes 200,000 200,000 
$250 milion 6 %% senior subordinated notes 250,000 250,000 
Other long-term obligations 14,201 
Capital leases 5,491 6,195 

2,379,359 2,430,180 
Less current matuties of 10ng-telI debt (99,106) (105,281) 

$ 2,280,253 $ 2,324,899 

The following is a schedule of futue minimum repayments oflong-term debt as of June 30,2009 (in thousands): 

Within one year $ 99,106 
1-3 year 1,640,544 
3-5 yeas 387,915 
Over 5 years 251,794 
Total minimum payments $ 2,379,359 

At June 30, 2009, the Company was contingently obligated under letters of credit issued pursuant to the $2.725 bilion senior 
secured credit facility with face amounts aggregating $26.9 millon. 

Senior Secured Credit Facilty
 

The $2.725 bilion senior secured credit facilty consists of three credit facilties comprised ofa $750 milion revolving credit 
facilty (of which $136.7 milion was drawn at June 30, 2009), a $325 milion Term Loan A Facilty and a $1.65 bilion Term Loan B 
Facilty. 

Interest Rate Swap Contracts 

In accordance with the terms of its $2.725 bilion senior secured credit facilty, the Company was required to enter into fixed-
rate debt or interest rate swap ageements in an amount equal to 50% of the Company's consolidated indebtedness, excluding the 
revolving credit facilty, within 100 days of the closing date of the $2.725 bilion senior secured credit facilty. 

The effect of derivative instrents on the consolidated statement of income for the three months ended June 30, 2009 was as 
follows (in thousands): 

Gai (Ls) Location of Gai (Loss) Gai (Lss)
Reciz in Reifed from Redsirie fro Lotion of Gai (Lss) Gai (Lss) 

Deriatives in SF AS 133 OCI on Derivatie AOCI into Income AOCI into Income Recog in Income on Reog in Income on 
Cub mow Hed2ln2 Reationship (Effeeve Porton) (Effeee Porton) (Effeeve Porton) Derivative (Ineffectie Porton) Derivative (Ieleeve Port) 

Interest rate swap contrts 2,302 Interet expene $ (7,614) None 
Toll 2,302 $ (7,614) 
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Lotion orGain (Lss) 

Derivatives Not Deignated as Hedging Recogniz in Income Gain (Loss) Recognizd 
Instrments under SFAS 133 on Derivative in Income on Derivative 

Interest rate swap contracts Interest expense $ 541 
Total $ 541 

The effect of derivative instrents on the consolidated staement of income for the six months ended June 30, 2009 was as
 

follows (in thousands): 

Gai (Ls) Location of Gain (Loss) Gain (Los) 
Recgniz in Reduslfed fro Recsified from Location of Gai (Lss) Ga (Ls)

Deriaties in SF AS 133 OCI on Deriati AOCI into Income AOCI into Income Reog in Income on Recog in Income on 
Cub Flow Hedl!2 Relalonsbip (Effecve Porton) (Effece Porton) (Effece Port) Derivatie (leIecve Poron) Deriati (Iffectie Porton) 

hlteret rate swap contr $ 8,099 hiteret expene $ (17,130) None $ 
Total $ 8,099 $ (17,130) $ 

Location or Gain (Loss) 
Derivatives Not Deignated as Hedging Recogniz in Income Gain (Lss) Recogni 
Instrments under SFAS 133 on Derivative in Income on Derivative 

Interest rate swap contracts Interest expense $ 541 
Total $ 541 

In addition, durng the three and six month ended June 30, 2009, the Company amortzed $4.3 milion in OCI related to the 
derivatives not designated as hedging instrents under SF AS 133. 

In the coming twelve months, the Company anticipates that approximately a $39.8 milion loss wil be reclassified from OCI to 
earings, as par of interest expense. As ths amount represents effective hedge results, a comparable offsetting amount of 
incrementally lower interest expense will be realized in connection with the varable fuding being hedged. 

The following table sets fort the fair value of the interest rate swap contrct liabilties included in accrued interest within the 
consolidated balance sheets at June 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008: 

June 30, 2009 December 31,2008 

(in thousands) 
Balance Sheet Fair Balance Sheet Fair 

Lotion Value Lotion Value 

Derivatives designated as hedgig instruments 
under SF AS 133
 

Interest rate swap contrcts Accrued interest $ 21,170 Accrued interest $ 63,185
 

Total derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments under SF AS 133 $ 21,170 $ 63,185 

Derivatives not designated as hedging 
intruments under SF AS 133
 

Interest rate swap contracts Accrued interest $ 33,062 Accrued interest $
 

Total derivatives not designated as hedging 
instruments under SF AS 133 $ 33,062 $ 

Total derivatives $ 54,232 $ 63,185 
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Other Long-Term Obligations 

On October 15,2004, the Company announced the sale of The Downs Racing, Inc. and its subsidiaries to the Mohegan Tribal 
Gaming Authority ("MTGA"). Under the terms ofthe agreement, the MTGA acquired The Downs Racing, Inc. and its subsidiares, 
including Pocono Downs (a stadadbred horse racing facilty located on 400 acres in Wilkes-Bare, Pennsylvania) and five 
Pennsylvania OTWs located in Carbondale, East Stroudsburg, Erie, Hazelton and the Lehigh Valley (Allentown). The sale ageement 
also provided the MTGA with certin post-closing termination rights in the event of certin materially adverse legislative or regulatory 
events. In Janua 2005, the Company received $280 millon from the MTGA, and transferred the operations of The Downs 
Racing, Inc. and its subsidiares to the MTGA. The sale was not considered fial for acounting puroses until the third quarer of 
2006, as the MTGA had certin post-closing termation rights that remained outstading. On August 7, 2006, the Company entered 
into the Second Amendment to the Purchase Agreement and Release of Claims with the MTGA pertining to the October 14, 2004 
Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement"), and ageed to pay the MTGA an aggregate of $30 milion over five years, 
begining on the first aniversar of the commencement of slot operations at Mohegan Sun at Pocono Downs, in exchange for the 
MTGA's ageement to release varous claims it raised agaist the Company under the Purchase Agreement and the MTGA's surender 
of all post-closing termination rights it might have had under the Puchase Agreement. The Company recorded the present value of the 
$30 millon liabilty within debt, as the amount due to the MTGA was payable over five years. In March 2009, the Company entered 
into the Third Amendment to the Purchase Agreement, in which the remaiing payments due under the Purchase Agreement were 
accelerated and reduced. Under the Third Amendment to the Purchase Agreement, in exchange for the accelerated payment, which 
was paid to the MTGA in March 2009, all remaining obligations under the Purchase Agreement were deemed to be satisfied. In 
addition, durg the six months ended June 30, 2009, the Company recorded a $1. milion gain which is included in other income 
within the consolidated statements of income. 

Covenants 

At June 30, 2009, the Company was in compliance with all required fiancial covenants. 

8. Commitments and Contigencies 

Litigation 

The Company is subject to varous legal and adinistrative proceedings relating to personal injuries, employment matters, 
commercial transactions and other maters arsing in the normal coure of business. The Company does not believe that the final 
outcome of these matters wil have a material adverse effect on the Company's consolidated fiancial position or results of operations. 
In addition, the Company maintains what it believes is adequate insurance coverage to further mitigate the risks of such proceedings. 
However, such proceedings can be costly, time consuming and unpredictable and, therefore, no assurance can be given that the final 
outcome of such proceedings may not materially impact the Company's consolidated financial condition or results of operations. 
Furer, no assurance can be given that the amount or scope of existing insurance coverage wil be suffcient to cover losses arsing
 

from such matters. 

The followig proceedings could result in costs, settlements, damages, or rulings that materially impact the Company's 
consolidated financial condition or operating results. In each instace, the Company believes that it has meritorious defenses, claims 
and/or counter-claims, and intends to vigorously defend itself or pursue its claim. 

In conjunction with the Company's acquisition of Argosy Gamg Company ("Argosy") in 2005, and subsequent disposition of 
the Argosy Casino Baton Rouge propert, the Company became responsible for litigation initiated in 1997 related to the Baton Rouge 
casino license formerly owned by Argosy. On November 26, 1997, Capitol House fied an amended petition in the Nineteenth Judicial 
Distrct Cour for East Baton Rouge Parsh, State of Louisiana, amending its previously fied but unserved suit against Richard 
Perrman, the person selected by the Louisiana Gaming Division to evaluate and ran the applicants seeking a gaming license for East 
Baton Rouge Parsh, and adding state law claims againstJaz Enterprises, Inc., the former Jaz Enterprises, Inc. shareholders, Argosy, 
Argosy of Louisiana, Inc. and Catfsh Queen Parership in Commendam, d//a the Belle of Baton Rouge Casino. This suit alleged 
that these paries violated the Louisiana Unfair Trade Practices Act in connection with obtaining the gaming license that was issued to 
Jazz Enterprises, Inc.lCatfish Queen Parership in Commendam. The plaitiff an applicant for a gaming license whose application 
was denied by the Louisiana Gaming Division, sought to prove that the gaming license was invalidly issued and to recover lost profits 
that the plaintiff contended it could have eared if the gamng license had been issued to the plaintiff. On October 2, 2006, the 
Company prevailed on a parial summar judgment motion which limited plaintiffs damages to its out-of-pocket costs in seeking its 
gaming license, thereby elimnatig any recovery for potential lost gaming profits. On Februar 6, 2007, the jur returned a verdict of 
$3.8 millon (exclusive of statutory interest and attorneys' fees) agaist Jaz Enterprises, Inc. and 
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Argosy. After ruling on post-tral motions, on September 27, 2007, the tral court entered ajudgment in the amount of$1.4 milion, 
plus attorneys' fees, costs and interest. The Company has estalished an appropriate reserve and has bonded the judgment pending its 
appeaL. Both the plaintiff and the Company have appealed the judgment to the First Circuit Court of Appeals in Louisiana and oral 
arguents took place on August 28,2008. The Company has the nght to seek indemnification from two of 
 the fonner Jaz 
Enterprises, Inc. shareholders for any liabilty suffered as a result of such cause of acion, however, there can be no assurance that the 
fonner Jaz Enterprises, Inc. shareholders wil have assets suffcient to satisfy any claim in excess of Argosy's recoupment nghts. 

The Ilinois Legislatue passed into law House Bil 1918, effective May 26, 2006, which singled out four ofthe nine Ilinois
 
casinos, including the Company's Empress Casino Hotel and Hollywood Casino Aurora, for a 3% ta surcharge to subsidize local
 
horse racing interests. On May 30, 2006, Empress Casino Hotel and Hollywood Casino Aurora joined with the two other riverboats
 
affected by the law, Harah's Joliet and the Grand Victoria Casino in Elgin, and fied suit in the Circuit Cour ofthe Twelfth Judicial
 
District in Wil County, Ilinois (the "Court"), askig the Cour to declare the law unconstitutional. Empress Casino Hotel and
 
Hollywood Casino Aurora began paying the 3% ta surcharge into a protest fud which accrues interest durng the pendency of 
 the
 
lawsuit. In two orders dated March 29, 2007 and April 20, 2007, the Cour declared the law unconstitutional under the Unifonnty
 
Clause ofthe Ilinois Constituion and enjoined the collection of 
 ths ta surcharge. The Stae of Ilinois requested, and was granted, a
 

stay ofthis ruling. As a result, Empress Casino Hotel and Hollywood Casino Aurora continued paying the 3% ta surcharge into the 
protest fud until May 25, 2008, when the 3% ta surcharge expired. The State of Ilinois appealed the ruling to the Ilinois Supreme 
Cour. On June 5, 2008, the Ilinois Supreme Cour reversed the tral cour's ruling and issued a decision upholding the 
constituionality ofthe 3% ta surcharge. On Januar 21, 2009, the four casino plaintiffs filed a petition for certorari, requesting the 
U.s. Supreme Court to hear the case. Seven amicus curiae briefs supporting the plaintiffs' request were also filed. On June 8, 2009, 
the U.S. Supreme Court decided not to hear the case. On June 10,2009, the four casinos filed a petition with the cour to open the 
judgment based on new evidence that came to light during the investigation offonner Illinois Governor Rod Blagojevich that the 2006 
law was procured by corrption. The casinos have also requested the cour to keep the protest funds from being distrbuted until the 
case is concluded. A decision on the petition to reopen is expected in August 2009. 

On December 15, 2008, fonner Ilinois Governor Rod Blagojevich signed Public Act No. 95-1008 requirig the same four 
casinos to continue paying the 3% ta surcharge to subsidize Ilinois horse racing interests. On Januar 8, 2009, the four casinos fied 
suit in the Circuit Court of the Twelfth Judicial District in Wil County, Ilinois, asking the Cour to declare the law unconstitutional. 
The 3% ta surcharge being paid pursuant to Public Act No. 95-1008 is paid into a protest fud where it accrues interest. The 
accumulated fuds will be returned to Empress Casino Hotel and Hollywood Casino Aurora if they ultimately prevail in the lawsuit. 

On June 12,2009, the four casinos filed a lawsuit in Ilinois Federal Cour namg fonner Ilinois Governor Rod Blagojevich, 
his capaign fud and racetrack owner, John Johnston, and his two racetracks as defendants alleging a civil conspiracy in violation of 
the Racketeer Influenced and Corrpt Organzations Act, 18 U.S.C.§1962(c),(d) ("RICO"), based on an ilegal scheme to secure the 
enactment of the 3 % tax surcharge legislation in exchange for the payment of money by Johnston. The casinos also seek to impose a 
constrctive trst over all fuds paid under the ta surcharge, and therefore all of the Ilinois racetracks are named as paries to the 
lawsuit. The casinos have continued to pay the ta surcharge under protest and on June 26, 2009, the casinos requested a Cook 
County cour to enter an injunction to keep the protest fuds from being distrbuted unti after there is a final disposition ofthe federal 
RICO litigation. A decision from the Cook County court is expected in September 2009. 

In August 2007, a complaint was fied on behalf ofa putative class of public shareholders of the Company, and derivatively on 
behalf of the Company, in the Cour of Common Pleas of Berks County, Pennsylvania (the "Complaint"). The Complaint names the 
Company's Board ofDrrectors as defendants and the Company as a nominal defendant. The Complaint alleges, among other things, 
that the Board of Directors breached their fiduciar duties by agreeing to the proposed transaction with Fortess and Centerbridge for 
inadequate consideration, that certin members of the Board of Directrs have conficts with regard to the Merger, and that the 

Company and its Board of Directors have failed to disclose certin material infonnation with regard to the Merger. The Complaint 
seeks, among other things, a court order determng that the action is properly maintained as a class action and a derivative action 
enjoining the Company and its Board of Directors from consumating the proposed Merger, and awarding the payment of attorneys' 
fees and expenses. The Company and the plaintiff had reached a tentative settlement in which the Company ageed to pay certin 
attorneys' fees and to make certin disclosures regarding the events leading up to the transaction with Fortess and Centerbndge in the 
proxy statement sent to shareholders in November 2007. Final settlement was contingent upon cour approval and consumation of 
the transacton with Fortess and Centerbridge. Because the transaction with Fortess and Centerbridge was terminated, the Company 
expects the action wil be dismissed. 
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On July 16,2008, the Company was served with a purorted class action lawsuit brought by plaitiffs seeking to represent a 
class of shareholders who purchased shares ofthe Company's Common Stock between March 20, 2008 and July 2, 2008. The lawsuit 
alleges that the Company's disclosure practices relative to the proposed transaction with Fortess and Centerbridge and the eventual 
tennation of that transaction were misleading and deficient in violation of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The complaint, 
which seeks class certification and unspecified damages, was filed in federal cour in Marland. The complaint has been amended, 
among other things, to add thee new named plaintiffs and to name Peter M. Carlino, Chainnan and Chief Executive Offcer, and 
Wiliam J. Clifford, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offcer, as additional defendants. The Company fied a motion to 
dismiss the complaint in November 2008, and oral arguents for the motion were heard by the court on Februar 23, 2009. Following 
oral arguents, the court granted the Company's motion and dismissed the complaint with prejudice. The plaintiffs have fied a 
motion for reconsideration and to amend their complaint. 

On September 11,2008, the Board of County Commissioners of Cherokee County, Kansas (the "County") fied suit against 
Kansas Penn Gaing, LLC ("KPG," a wholly-owned subsidiar of Penn created to pursue a development project in Cherokee County, 
Kanas) and the Company in the District Cour of Shawnee County, Kansas. The petition alleges that KPG breached its pre-
development ageement with the County when KPG withdrew its application to manage a lottery gaming facilty in Cherokee County 
and seeks in excess of$50 milion in damages. In connection with their petition, the County obtaed an ex-pare order attaching the 
$25 milion privilege fee paid to the Kansas Lottery Commission in conjunction with the gaming application for the Cherokee County 
zone. The defendants have filed motions to dissolve and reduce the atthment. Those motions were denied, and the defendats have 
appealed those decisions to the appellate cour. The Kansas appellate cour declined to hear the appeal on jursdictional grounds and 
the defendants have requested that the Kansas Supreme Cour review that decision. 

On September 23,2008, KPG filed an action against HV Propertes of Kansas, LLC ("HV") in the U.S. Distrct Cour for the 
District of Kansas seeking a declaratory judgment from the U.S. District Cour finding that KPG has no fuher obligations to HV 
under a Real Estate Sale Contract (the "Contract") that KPG and HV entered into on September 6,2007, and that KPG properly 
tenninated this Contract under the tenns of the Repurchase Agreement entered into between the paries effective September 28, 2007. 
HV filed a counterclaim claiing KPG breached the Contract, and seeks $37.5 millon in damages. On October 7, 2008, HV filed suit 
against the Company claiming the Company is liable to HV for KPG's alleged breach based on a Guaranty Agreement signed by the 
Company. Both cases were consolidated. The Company filed a motion to dismiss HV's claims, which was denied on May 6, 2009. 
The paries are curently engaged in discovery.
 

Operating Lease Commitments 

The Company is liable under numerous operating leases for airlanes, automobiles, the propert on which some of its casinos 
operate, other equipment and buildings, which expire at varous dates though 2093. Total renta expense under these ageements was 
$7.8 milion and $15.8 millon for the three and six months ended June 30,2009, respectively, as compared to $8.1 millon and $14.9 
milion for the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, respectively. 

The leases for land consist of anual base lease rent payments plus, in some instaces, a percentage rent based on a percent of 
adjusted gaming wis, as described in the respective leases. 

The Company has an operating lease with the City of 
 Bangor which covers the temporar facilty and the pennanent facilty, 
which opened on July 1, 2008. Under the lease agreement, there is a fixed rent provision, as well as a revenue-sharing provision which 
is equal to 3% of gross slot revenue. The fial tenn of the lease, which commenced with the opening of the pennanent facilty, is for 
an initial tenn of fifteen years, with three ten-year renewal options. 

On March 23, 2007, BlN, Inc. ("BlN"), one of the Company's wholly-owned subsidiares, entered into an amended and 
restated ground lease (the "Amended Lease") with Skret MS, LLC. The lease amends the prior ground lease, dated October 19, 
1993. The Amended Lease requires BlN to maintain a minimum gaming operation on the leased premises and to pay rent equal to 5% 
of adjusted gaming win after gaming taes have been deducted. The tenn of the Amended Lease expires on Januar 1, 2093. 

The futue minimum lease commitments relating to the base lease rent porton of noncancelable operating leases at June 30, 
2009 are as follows (in thousands): 
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Within one year $ 6,205 
1-3 years 9,887 
3-5 years 6,667 
Over 5 years 37,631 

Total $ 60,390 

9. Shareholders' Equity
 

Shareholder Rights Plan 

On May 20,1998, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized and declared a dividend distribution of one preferred
 
stock purchase right (the "Right" or "Rights") for each outstading share ofthe Company's Common Stock, par value $.01 per share,
 
payable to shareholders of record at the close of business on March 19, 1999. In addition, aRight was issued for each share of the 
Company's Common Stock issued after March 19,1999 and prior to the Rights' expiration. Each Right entitled the registered holder 
to purchase from the Company one one-hundredth ofa share (a "Preferred Stock Fracton") of the Company's Series A Preferred 
Stock (or another series of preferred stock with substatially similar terms), or a combination of securities and assets of equivalent 
value, at a purchase price of$1O.00 per Preferred Stock Fracton, subject to adjustment. The description and terms ofthe Rights were 
set forth in a Rights Agreement (the "Rights Agreement") datd March 2, 1999, and amended on June 15,2007, between the 
Company and Continental Stock Transfer and Trust Company as Rights Agent. The Rights Agreement and the associated Rights 
expired on March 18,2009. 

Issuance of Preferred Stock 

On October 30,2008, in connection with the termination of the Merger Agreement, the Company closed the sale of the 
Investment and issued 12,500 shares of Preferred Stock.
 

10. Subsidiary Guarantors 

Under the terms of the $2.725 bilion senior secured credit facilty, most of Penn's subsidiaries are guaantors under the 
agreement. Each ofthe subsidiar guarantors is 100% owned by Penn. In addition, the guartees provided by such subsidiares under 
the terms of the $2.725 bilion senior secured credit facilty are full and unconditional, joint and severaL. There are no significant 
restrctions within the $2.725 bilion senior secured credit facilty on the Company's abilty to obtain fuds from its subsidiaries by 
dividend or loan. However, in certin jursdictions, the gaming authorities may impose restrctions pursuant to the authority granted to 
them with regard to Penn's abilty to obtan funds from its subsidiaries. 

With regard to the $2.725 bilion senior secured credit facilty, the Company has not presented condensed consolidating balance 
sheets, condensed consolidating statements of income and condensed consolidating statements of cash flows at, and for the three and 
six months ended, June 30, 2008, as Penn had no significant independent assets and no independent operations at, and for the thee 
and six months ended, June 30, 2008. However, durng the year ended December 31, 2008, the Company placed some of the fuds 
received from the issuance of its Preferred Stock into two unestrcted subsidiares, in order to allow for maxum flexibilty in the 
deployment ofthe fuds and this resulted in significant independent assets. Summarized financial information for the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2009 for Penn, the subsidiar guarantors ofthe $2.725 bilion senior secured credit facilty and the subsidiar
 

non-guarantors is presented below. 

Under the terms of the $200 milion 67/8% senior subordinated notes, most of Penn's subsidiaries are guarantors under the 
ageement. Each of the subsidiar guarantors is 100% owned by Penn. In addition, the guantees provided by such subsidiares under 
the terms ofthe $200 millon 67/8 % senior subordinated notes are full and unconditional, joint and severaL. There are no significant 
restrctons with the $200 milion 67/8 % senior subordinated notes on the Company's abilty to obtan fuds from its subsidiares 
by dividend or loan. However, in cert jursdictions, the gaming authorities may impose restrctions pursuant to the authority granted 
to them with regard to Penn's abilty to obtain fuds from its subsidiaries. 

With regard to the $200 millon 67/8% senior subordinated notes, the Company has not presented condensed consolidating 
balance sheets, condensed consolidating statements of income and condensed consolidating statements of cash flows at, and for the 
thee and six months ended, June 30, 2008, as Penn had no significant independent assets and no independent operations at, and for 
the three and six months ended, June 30, 2008. However, durg the year ended 
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December 31, 2008, the Company placed some of the fuds received from the issuance of its Preferred Stock into two unrestrcted 
subsidiares, in order to allow for maximum flexibilty in the deployment of the funds and this resulted in significant independent 
assets. Summarzed financial information for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009 for Penn, the subsidiary guarantors ofthe 
$200 milion 67/8 % senior subordinated notes and the subsidiar non-guarantors is presented below. 
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Three Months Ended June 30, 2009 
Condensed Consolidating Statement of 

Income 
Net revenues $ $ 577,143 $ 3,674 $ $ 580,817 
Tota operatig expenses 21,088 478,033 4,991 504,112 
(Loss) income frm operations (21,088) 99,110 (1,317) 76,705 
Other income (expenses) 5,988 (39,687) 7,922 (25,777) 
(Lss) income from operations before income 

taes (15,100) 59,423 6,605 50,928 
Taxes on income (8,511) 28,157 2,802 22,448 
Net (loss) income $ (6,589) $ 31,266 $ 3,803 $ $ 28,480 

Six Months Ended June 30, 2009 
Condensed Consolidating Statement of 

Income 
Net revenues $ $ 1,186,335 $ 6,708 $ $ 1,193,043 
Tota opertig expenses 43,995 962,681 8,827 1,015,503 

(Lss) income frm operations (43,995) 223,654 (2,119) 177,540 
Other income (expenses) 25,639 (88,203) 10,429 (52,135) 
(Lss) income from operations before income 

taes (18,356) 135,451 8,310 125,405 
Taxes on income (15,978) 68,338 3,904 56,264 
Net (loss) income $ (2,378) $ 67,113 $ 4,406 $ $ 69,141 

Six Months Ended June 30, 200 
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash 

Flows 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating 

activities $ 43,525 $ 125,183 $ (3,394) $ $ 165,314 
Net cash (used in) provided by investing 

activities 
Net cash used in fiancing activities 

(665) 
(39,079) 

(113,568) 
(13,766) 

50,603 (63,630) 
(52,845) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 3,781 (2,151) 47,209 48,839 

Cash and cash equivalents at begining of year 2,460 142,434 601,384 746,278 
Cash and cash equivalents at end ofpenod $ 6,241 $ 140,283 $ 648,593 $ $ 795,117 
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11. Investment in Corporate Securities 

In 2008, the Company made a $47.3 milion investment in the corporate debt securties of other gamng companies. The 
investment, which the Company is treating as available-for-sale securties, is included in other assets within the consolidated balance 
sheets at June 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008. Durg the six months ended June 30, 2009, and for the year ended December 31, 
2008, the Company recorded a $7.9 milion unealized gain and an $8.0 milion unealized loss, respectively, in OCI for this 
investment. The change in the fair value also reflects the onginal issue discount amortization, which was $1.3 milion and $0.9 
milion for the six months ended June 30, 2009 and for the year ended December 31, 2008, respectively. 

Durg the six months ended June 30, 2009, the Company sold $42.2 milion ofthis investment and recorded a $6.6 millon 
gain, which is included in other income within the consolidated staements of income. 

The following is a schedule of the contractual matuties ofthe Company's investment in corporate securities at June 30, 2009 
(in thousands): 

Within one year 
1-3 year 
3-5 year 
Over 5 years 

Total 

$ 

$ 

5,425 

5,425 

12. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrments for which it is 
practicable to estimate:
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The fair value ofthe Company's cash and cas equivalents approximates the caring value of the Company's cash and cash 
equivalents, due to the short matunty of the cash equivalents. 

Investment in Corporate Debt Securities 

The fair value of the investment in corporate debt securities is estimated based on quoted prices in active markets for identical 
investments. The investment in corporate debt securities is measured at fair value on a recurring basis. 

Long-term Debt 

The fair value of the Company's $2.725 bilion senior secured credit facilty approximates its caring value, as it is variable-
rate debt. The fair value ofthe Company's senior subordinated notes is estimated based on quoted prices in active markets for 
identical instrments. The fair value of the Company's other long-term obligations and capital leases approxiates its caring value. 

Interest Rate Swap Contracts 

The fair value of the Company's interest rate swap contracts is measured as the present value of all expected future cash flows 
based on the LIBOR-based swap yield cure as of the date of the valuation, subject to a credit adjustment to the LIBOR-based yield 
cure's implied discount rates. The credit adjustment reflect the Company's best estimate as to the Company's credit quality at 
June 30, 2009. 

The estimated fair values ofthe Company's financial instrents are as follows (in thousands): 
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June 30, 2009 Deember 31, 2008

Carrying Fair Carrying FairAmount Value Amount Value 
Financial assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 795,117 $ 795,117 $ 746,278 $ 746,278 
Investment in corporate debt securties 5,425 5,425 40,190 40,190 

Financial liabilties: 
Long-term debt 

Senior secured credit facilty 1,923,868 1,923,868 1,959,784 1,959,784 
Senior subordinated notes and other long-term 

obligations 450,000 423,500 464,201 389,201 
Capital leases 5,491 5,491 6,195 6,195 

Interest rate swap contracts 54,232 54,232 63,185 63,185 

13. Fair Value Measurements 

SF AS 157 establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes fai value measurements based on the tyes of inputs used for the vanous 
valuation techniques (market approach, income approach, and cost approach). The levels of the hierarchy are described below: 

· Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilties. 

· Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liabilty, either directly or indirectly; these 
include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilties in active markets and quoted prices for identical or similar assets or 
liabilties in markets that are not active. 

· Level 3: Unobservable inputs that reflect the reportng entity's own assumptions. 

The Company's assessment ofthe significance of a paricular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment, and may 
affect the valuation of assets and liabilties and their placement within the fai value hierarchy. 

The following tables set fort the assets and liabilties measured at fair value on a recurring basis, by input level, in the 
consolidated balance sheet at June 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008 (in thousands): 

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets for Sigificant Other Significant 
Identical Assts or Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs June 30, 2009 
Liabilties (Levell) (Lvel 2) (Lvel 3) Total 

Assets: 

Investment in corporate debt 
securities $ 5,425 $ - $ - $ 5,425 

Liabilties: 
Interest rate swap contracts 54,232 54,232 

Quoted Prices in Active 
Markets for Identical Significant Other 
Assets or Liabilites Observable Inpnts Signifcant Unobservable December 31,2008 

(Lvell) (Level 2) 3) TotalInputs (Level 


Assets: 
Investment in corporate debt 

securties $ 40,190 $ - $ - $ 40,190 

Liabilties: 
Interest rate swap contracts 63,185 63,185 

The valuation technique used to measure the fair value ofthe investment in corporate debt securities and interest rate swap 
contracts was the market approach. The investment in corporate debt securties is included in other assets and the interest rate swap 
contract liabilties are included in accrued interest within the consolidated balance sheets at June 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008. 
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In conjunction with the opening ofthe new casinoriverboat at Hollywood Casino Lawrenceburg, the Company recorded an 
impairent loss for 
 the replacd Lawrenceburg vessel of$II.7 milion durg the three and six months ended June 30,2009. The fair 
value of the replaced Lawrenceburg vessel at June 30, 2009, which was measured using the market approach, was $6.8 milion. This 
amount is included in other assets within the consolidated balance sheet at June 30, 2009. 

Quoted Prices in Active 
Market for Identical Sigificant Other 
Assets or Liabilties Observable Inputs Signifcant Unobservable June 30, 2009 

(Lvel I) (Level 2) . Inputs (Lvel 3) Total 

Assets: 
Other assets $ - $ 6,759 $ - $ 6,759 

14. Empress Casino Hotel Fire 

On March 20,2009, the Company's Empress Casino Hotel, which was undergoing a $55 milion renovation, was closed 
following a fie that staed in the land.based pavilon at the facilty. All customers and employees were successfully evacuated, and 
the fire was contained on the land-side ofthe propert before it could spread to the adjacent casino barge. On June 25, 2009, the 
casino barge was reopened with temporai land-based facilties, and plans are presently being developed for the permanent land-based 
pavilon. 

The Company cares a builders' risk insurace policy for the on-going renovations with a policy limit of$57 millon, inclusive 
of$14 milion for delay in completion and $43 millon for propert damage. The builders' risk insurance policy includes a $50,000 
propert damage deductible and a 30-day delay in completion deductible for the peril offie. In addition, the Company caries 
comprehensive business interruption and propert daage insurance for the operational components of the Empress Casino Hotel with 
an overall limit of $228 millon. The operational insurance policy includes a $2.5 milion propert damage deductible and a 48-hour 
business interrption deductible for the peril of fire. 

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, the Company recorded a $0.3 milion and $5.7 milion pre-ta loss,
 

respectively, for the insurance deductibles for propert damage, business interrption and employee lost wages, as well as a wrte-off 
of constrcton fees related to the renovation that are not recoverable under the Company's insurance policies.
 

The $32.5 milion insurance receivable recorded at June 30, 2009 was limited to the net book value of assets believed to be 
damaged, destroyed or abandoned and other costs incured during the six months ended June 30, 2009 as a result ofthe fire at 
Empress Casino Hotel that are expected to be recovered via the insurance claim. During the six months ended June 30, 2009, the 
Company received $16.0 millon in insurance proceeds related to the fire at Empress Casino HoteL. 

15. Income Taxes 

At December 31, 2008, the Company included in its $68.6 milion liabilty for unecognized ta benefits $31.7 milion of ta
 

positions that were indemnfied by a third part. The indemnification stemmed from a transacion that the Company completed in 
2001 with The Continental Companies and CHC International, Inc. (the "Seller"), whereby the Company acquired Hollywood Casino 
Baton Rouge and the management contract for Casino Rama. As par of the acquisition, Continental and the Company entered into an 
Indemnfication Agreement, whereby Continental indemnfied the Company for any ta liabilties to arise subsequent to the 
acquisition for taation yeas in which Contiental was the owner. The Canada Revenue Agency ("CRA") issued reassessments of 
CHC Canada's 1996 though 2000 taation years. The Company and the Seller disageed with CRA's position, and the mattr had 
been in Competent Authority since 2004. The Indemnification Agreement provided that the Company did not receive payment until 
"fial determination" by a taing authority.
 

At December 31, 2008, the Company believed that it was more likely than not that the matter in Competent Authority would be 
effectively settled within the next twelve months. Upon settlement, the Company planed on relieving its liabilty and reversing the 
indemnification receivable. For years after April 2001 where the Company has no indemnification, it included an appropriate amount 
of tax reserves in the liabilty for unecognized ta benefits, including accrued interest and penalties. 
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Durng the six months ended June 30, 2009, the Company reversed $23.8 milion ofthe indemnified tax position, as it received 
a settlement proposal from Competent Authority relatig to the mattr. The remaining liabilty and indemnification receivable will be 
reversed as paid and received. 

16. Subsequent Events 

The Company evaluated all subsequent events through August 7, 2009, which is the date that the consolidated fiancial 
statements were issued. No material subsequent events have occured since June 30, 2009 that required recognition or disclosure in the 
consolidated fiancial statements, except for those disclosed below.
 

On August 6, 2009, the Company anounced that it was commencing a cash tender offer for any and all of the $200 million 
aggregate outstading principal amount of its 67/8 % senior subordinated notes due 2011 (the ''Notes'') and a relatd consent 
solicitation to effect certn amendments and waivers to the indentue governing the Notes. The Company is conducting the tender 
offer and consent solicitation in order to refiance a portion of its existing debt: The Company's obligations to accept for payment and 
to pay for the Notes and consents in the tender offer and consent solicitation are subject to customar conditions, including, among 
other things, receipt of consents and tenders from holders of a majority in aggregate pricipal amount ofthe outstading Notes and the 
Company having received net cash proceeds from its proposed financing for the tender offer and consent solicitation in an amount 
suffcient to fund the tender offer and consent solicitation. 

On August 6,2009, the Company anounced that Charles Town Entertinent Complex in Jefferson County, West Virginia, 
notified the Jefferson County Commissioners that it intends to pursue a December 5, 2009 special election to seek voter approval for 
table games. 
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ITEM 2. MAAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIA CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS 

Our Operations 

We are a leading, diversified, multi-jurisdictional owner and manager of gamg and pari-mutuel properties. We curently own 
or operate nineteen facilties in fifteen jurisdictions, including Colorado, Florida, Ilinois, Indiana, Iowa, Louisiana, Maine, 
Mississippi, Missour, New Jersey, New Mexico, Ohio, Pennsylvania, West Virgina, and Ontao. We believe that our portfolio of 
assets provides us with a diversified cash flow from operations. 

We have made signficant acquisitions in the past, and expect to continue to pursue additional acquisition and development
 
opportities in the future. In 1997, we began our transition from a par-mutul company to a diversified gamg company with the
 
acquisition of the Charles Town propert and the introduction of video lottery termnals in West Virginia. Since 1997, we have
 
continued to expand our gaming operations through strategic acquisitions (including the acquisitions of Hollywood Casino Bay 
St. Louis and Boomtown Biloxi, CRC Holdings, Inc., the Bullwhackers propertes, Hollywood Casino Corporation, Argosy Gamg 
Company, Black Gold Casino at Zia Park, and Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club) and propert expanions (such as at Charles Town and 
Lawrenceburg). 

The vast majority of our revenues is gaming revenue, derived primarily from gamng on slot machines and, to a lesser extent, 
table games. Other revenues are derived from our management service fee from Casino Rama, our hotel, dining, retail, admissions, 
program sales, concessions and certin other ancilar activities, and our racing operatons. Our racing revenue includes our share of 
pari-mutuel wagering on live races after payment of amounts retued as winning wagers, our share of wagering from import and 
export simulcasting, and our share of wagering from our off-track wagering facilties ("OTWs"). 

We intend to continue to expand our gaming operations though the implementation of a disciplined capita expenditue 
program at our existing properties and the continued puruit of strategic acquisitions of gamg properties, paricularly in attactive
 

regional markets. 

Key pedormance indicators related to gaming revenue are slot handle (volume indicator), table game drop (volume indicator) 
and "win" or "hold" percentaes. Our tyical propert slot win percentae is in the range of 6% to 10% of slot handle, and our typical 
table game win percentae is in the range of 15% to 25% oftable game drop. 

Our properties genemte signficat operating cash flow, since most of our revenue is cash-based from slot machines and pari­
mutuel wagerig. Our business is capital intensive, and we rely on cash flow from our properties to generate operating cash to repay 
debt, fund capital maintenance expenditues, fud new capital projects at existing propertes and provide excess cash for futue 
development and acquisitions. 

Merger Announcement and Termination 

On June 15,2007, we anounced that we had entered into a merger agreement that, at the effective tie ofthe transacions 
contemplated thereby, would have resulted in our shareholders receiving $67.00 per share. Specifically, we, PNG Acquisition 
Company Inc. ("Parent") and PNG Merger Sub Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiar of Parent ("Merger Sub"), anounced that we had 
entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 15,2007 (the "Mergèr Agreement"), that provided, among other 
thigs, for Merger Sub to be merged with and into us, as a result of which we would have continued as the suriving corporation and 
would have become a wholly-owned subsidiar of Parent. Parent is indirectly owned by certin fuds managed by afliates of 
Fortess Investment Group LLC ("Fortess") and Centerbridge Parers, L.P. ("Centerbridge"). 

On July 3, 2008, we entered into an agreement with certin affliates of 
 Fortess and Centerbridge, termating the Merger 
Agreement. In connection with the termination ofthe Merger Agreement, we agreed to receive a total of 
 $ 1.475 bilion, consisting ofa 
nonrefudable $225 milion cash termination fee (the "Cash Termination Fee") and a $1.25 bilion, zero coupon, preferred equity 
investment (the "Investment"). On October 30,2008, we closed the sale of 
 the Investment and issued 12,500 shares of Series B 
Redeemable Preferred Stock (the "Preferred Stock"). 
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Executive Summary 

Factors affecting our results for the three months ended June 30, 2009, as compared to the thee months ended June 30, 2008, 
included the transition at Lawrenceburg to the new casino riverboat, the fire at Empress Casino Hotel, decreases in consumer spending 
on gaming activities caused by curent economic conditions, competitive pressures at some of our properties, the impairent loss for
 

the replaced Lawrenceburg vessel, the continued impact of the openig of the casino at Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race 
Course, increased depreciation expense, decreased interest expense, and the opening of the permanent facilty at Hollywood Slots 
Hotel and Raceway on July 1,2008. 

Financial Highlights: 

· Income from operations decreased by $36.9 milion, or 32.5%, for the three months ended June 30, 2009, as compared to 
the thee months ended June 30, 2008, pniarly due to the transition at Lawrenceburg to the new casino riverboat, the fie 
at Empress Casino Hotel, decreases in consumer spending on gaming activities caused by current economic conditions, 
competitive pressures at some of our properties, the impairment loss for the replaced Lawrenceburg vessel, and increased 
depreciation expense at Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course. 

. Net income decreased by $8.5 milion, or 23.1 %, for the thee months ended June 30, 2009, as compared to the three
 

months ended June 30, 2008, pniarly due to the variances explaied above, which were parially offset by a decrease in 
interest expense and income taes and an increase in interest and other income. 

Other Developments: 

. On June 29, 2009, the new casinoriverboat at Hollywood Casino Lawrenceburg offcially opened, replacing the vessel at 
Argosy Casino Lawrenceburg. The new Hollywood-themed casino riverboat offers 3,200 slot machines, 88 live table 
games, and new food and beverage offerings, as well as expanded parking and infrastructure improvements, which will 
make the facilty more accessible. 

. We are moving forward with the process to be considered as a Lottery Gamng Facilty Manager in Wyandotte County,
 

Kansas. Weare one of two applicants in Wyandott County . We proposed a Phase 1 budget of $410 milion (inclusive of 
the $25 milion privilege fee and a $65 millon post-opening expansion) and a $154 millon Phase 2 expansion, for a total 
investment of$564 milion. On June 11,2009, we received an endorsement from the Unified Governent of Wyandotte 
County, the host community, for the proposed development and we subsequently executed a development ageement with 
Wyandotte County. On April 1, 2009, we anounced that we had filed a license application with the Kansas Lottery 
Commission to be considered as a Lottery Gaming Facilty Manager in Wyandotte County. We anticipate that the state 
selecton process wil conclude in late 2009. We can give no assurance that we wil be selected or that we may not modify 
our proposed application. 

· On March 20, 2009, Empress Casino Hotel, which was undergoing a $55 milion renovation, was closed following a fie 
that staed in the land-based pavilon at the facilty. All customers and employees were successfully evacuated, and the fire
 

was contained on the land-side of the propert before it could spread to the adjacent casino barge. On June 25, 2009, the
 

casino barge was reopened with temporar land-based facilties, and plans are presently being developed for the permanent 
land-based pavilon, with constrction being estimated to be completed by the first quaer of20lO on the parking garage 
and by the fourh quarer of 20 1 0 on the pavilon. We car a builders' risk insurance policy for the on-going renovations 
with a policy limit of$57 millon, inclusive of$14 millon for delay in completion and $43 millon for propert damage. 
The builders' risk insurance policy includes a $50,000 propert daage deductible ànd a 30-day delay in completion 
deductible for the peril of fie. In addition, we carr comprehensive business interrption and propert damage insurance for 
the operational components of the Empress Casino Hotel with an overall limit of $228 milion. The operational insurance 
policy includes a $2.5 milion propert damage deductible and a 48-hour business interrption deductible for the peril of 
fie. During the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009, we recorded a $0.3 millon and $5.7 millon pre-tax loss, 
respectively, for the insurance deductibles for propert damage, business interrption and employee lost wages, as well as a 
wrte-off of constrction fees related to the renovation that are not recoverable under our insurance policies. During the six
 

months ended June 30, 2009, we received $16.0 milion in insurance proceeds related to the fire at Empress Casino HoteL. 
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· On March 18, 2009, the Rights Agreement providing for the dividend distribution of one preferred stock purchase right for 
each outstanding share of our Common Stock that our Board of Directors authorized and declared on May 20, 1998 expired. 

· On March 11,2009, we anounced that we are supporting the "Ohio Jobs and Growt Plan," a casino ballot proposal 
calling for an amendment to Ohio's Constitution to authorize casinos in the state's four largest cities, Cincinnati, Cleveland, 
Columbus and Toledo. We have proposed an investment of approximately $600 milion to become licensed, build and 
operate the facilties in Columbus and Toledo. The "Ohio Jobs and Growth Plan" commttee filed more than 850,000 
signates with Ohio's Secreta of State on June 25, 2009 in order to qualifY the amendment for inclusion on this 
November's statewide ballot. On July 21, 2009, Ohio's Secreta of State offcially certfied the issue for the ballot. In 
addition, in July 2009, the Governor of Ohio issued an executive order authorizing up to 2,500 video lottery terminals at the 
state's seven existing racetracks, and the Legislatue acknowledged the Lottery Commssion's authority to regulat these 
machines though a provision in the state budget. As the owner of Raceway Park in Toledo, with an option on a racetrack in 
the Columbus area, we expect to be a beneficiar of this plan with respect to our Ohio operations. However, expanded 
gaming in Ohio could have a negative impac on our operations in neighboring states, such as our Lawrenceburg facilty. As 
is the case in most jurisdictions where gaming legislation is being introduced, both the Ohio Jobs and Growth Plan and the 
placement of video lottery terminals at Ohio racetracks are subject to regulatory refmement, implementation and litigation 
risks, all of which are diffcult to assess at this juncte. 

· In March 2009, we entered into the Third Amendment to the October 14,2004 Purchase Agreement, that had been entered 

into with the Mohega Tribal Gaing Authority ("MTGA") for the sale of The Downs Racing, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the 
"Puchase Agreement"). In August 2006, we had entered into the Second Amendment to the Purchase Agreement and 
Release of Claims, in which we agreed to pay the MTGA an aggregate of $30 millon over five years, in exchange for the 
MTGA's ageement to release varous clais it raised against us under the Purchase Agreement and the MTGA's surrender 
of all post-closing termination rights it might have had under the Purchase Agreement. The Third Amendment to the 
Purchase Agreement accelerated and reduced the remaining payments due by us under the Purchase Agreement. In 
exchange for the accelerated payment, which was paid to the MTGA in March 2009, all remainig obligations under the 
Purchase Agreement were deemed to be satisfied. In addition, during the six months ended June 30, 2009, we recorded a 
$1.3 millon gai which is included in other income within the consolidated statements of income. 

· In Februar 2009, we filed a license application with the Marland Video Lottery Facilty Location Commission to be 
considered for a Video Lottery Operation License for the Cecil County Zone in Cecil County, Marland. Our proposed $84 
milion facilty in Cecil County would include a ISO-seat buffet, a coffee shop and parking for over 1,600 vehicles and be 
readily scaleable to accommodate 1,500 gaming devices. We can give no assurance that we will be licensed or that we may 
not modifY our proposed application. 

. The Ilinois Legislatue passed into law House Bil 1918, effective May 26, 2006, which singled out four ofthe nine 
Ilinois casinos, including our Empress Casino Hotel and Hollywood Casino Aurora, for a 3% ta surcharge to subsidize 
local horse racing interests. On May 30, 2006, Empress Casino Hotel and Hòllywood Casino Aurora joined with the two 
other riverboats affected by the law, Harah's Joliet and the Grand Victoria Casino in Elgin, and filed suit in the Circuit 
Cour of the Twelft Judicial District in Wil County, Ilinois (the "Court"), asking the Court to declare the law
 

unconstitutionaL. Empress Casino Hotel and Hollywood Casino Aurora began paying the 3% ta surcharge into a protest 
fud which accrues interest durng the pendency of the lawsuit. In two orders dated March 29, 2007 and April 20, 2007, the 
Cour declared the law unconstitutional under the Uniformity Clause of the Ilinois Constitution and enjoined the collection
 

ofthis ta surcharge. The Stae of Ilinois requested and was granted, a stay ofthis ruling. As a result, Empress Casino
 

Hotel and Hollywood Casino Aurora continued paying the 3% ta surcharge into the protest fud until May 25, 2008, when 
the 3% ta surcharge expired. The Stae of Ilinois appealed the ruling to the Ilinois Supreme Cour. On June 5, 2008, the 
Illiois Supreme Cour reversed the trial cour's ruling and issued a decision upholding the constitutionality ofthe 3% ta 
surcharge. On Januar 21, 2009, the four casino plaintiffs filed a petition for certorar, requestig the U.S. Supreme Cour 
to hear the case. Seven amicus curae briefs supporting the plaitiffs' request were also filed. On June 8, 2009, the U.S. 
Supreme Cour decided not to hear the case. On June 10,2009, the four casinos fied a petition with the court to open the 
judgment based on new evidence that came to light during the investigation offormer Illnois Governor Rod Blagojevich 
that the 2006 law was procured by corrption. The casinos have also requested the court to keep the protest fuds from 
being distrbuted until the case is concluded. A decision on the petition to reopen is expected in August 2009. On 
December 15, 2008, former Ilinois Governor Rod Blagojevich signed Public Act No. 95-1008 requiring the 
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same four casinos to continue paying the 3% ta surcharge to subsidize Ilinois horse racing interests. On Januar 8, 2009, 
the four casinos filed suit in the Circuit Cour of 
 the Twelft Judicial Distrct in Wil County, Ilinois, asking the Cour to 
declare the law unconstitutional. The 3% ta surcharge being paid pursuant to Public Act No. 95-1008 is paid into a protest 
fud where it accrues interest. The accumulated fuds wil be retued to Empress Casino Hotel and Hollywood Casino 
Aurora if they ultimately prevail in the lawsuit. On June 12,2009, the four casinos fied a lawsuit in Ilinois Federal Cour 
namg former Ilinois Governor Rod Blagojevich, his campaign fud and racetrck owner, John Johnston, and his two 
racetracks as defendants alleging a civil conspiracy in violation ofthe Racketeer Influenced and Corrpt Organizations Act, 
18 U.S.C.§1962(c),(d) ("RICO"), based on an ilegal scheme to secure the enactment ofthe 3% tax surcharge legislation in 
exchange for the payment of money by Johnston. The casinos also seek to impose a constrctive trst over all funds paid 
under the ta surcharge, and therefore all of the Ilinois racetracks are named as paries to the lawsuit. The casinos have 
continued to pay the ta surcharge under protest and on June 26, 2009, the casinos requested a Cook County cour to enter 
an injunction to keep the protest fuds from being distrbuted until after there is a final disposition of 
 the federal RICO 
litigation. A decision from the Cook County court is expected in September 2009. Since the passing of 
 House Bil 1918 
into law, Empress Casino Hotel and Hollywood Casino Aurora have expensed approximately $34.8 milion in incremental 
ta as a result of 
 the 3% ta surcharge, including $1.8riilion and $4.5 milion during the thee and six months ended 
June 30, 2009, respectively. 

· We are continuing to build and develop several of our properties, including Empress Casino HoteL. Additional information 
regarding our capital projects is discussed in detail in the section entitled ''Liquidity and Capital Resource~apital 
Expenditures" below. 

Critical Accountig Policies 

We make certain judgments and use certin estimates and assumptions when applying accounting pnnciples in the preparation 
of our consolidated fiancial statements. The natue of the estimates and assumptions are matenal due to the levels of subjectivity and 
judgment necessar to account for highly uncertin facors or the susceptibilty of such factors to change. We have identified the 
policies related to the accounting for long-lived assets, goodwill and other intagible assets, income taes and litigation, claims and 
assessments as critical accounting policies, which require us to make significant judgments, estimates and assumptions. 

We believe the curent assumptions and other considerations used to estimate amounts reflected in our consolidated fmancial 
statements are appropnate. However, if actual expenence differs from the assumptions and other considerations used in estimating 
amounts reflected in our consolidated financial staements, the resulting changes could have a matenal adverse effect on our 
consolidated results of operations and, in certn situations, could have a matenal adverse effect on our fmancial condition. 

The development and selection of the cntical accounting policies, and the related disclosures, have been reviewed with the 
Audit Committee of our Board of Directors. 

Long-lived assets 

At June 30, 2009, we had a net propert and equipment balance of$1,818.5 milion withn our consolidated balance sheet, 
representing 34.9% oftotal assets. We depreciate propert and equipment on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 
 lives. The 
estimated useful lives are determined based on the natue of the assets as well as our current operating strategy. We review the 
caring value of our propert and equipment for possible impairent whenever events or changes. in circumstaces indicate that the 
caring value of an asset may not be recoverable based on undiscounted estimated futue cash flows expected to result from its use 
and eventual disposition. The factors considered by us in performg this assessment include curent operating results, trends and 
prospects, as well as the effect of obsolescence, demand, competition and other economic factors. In estiating expected future cash 
flows for determing whether an asset is impaired, assets are grouped at the individual propert leveL. In assessing the recoverabilty 
of the caring value of propert and equipment, we must make assumptions regarding futue cash flows and other fators. If these 
estimates or the related assumptions change in the futue, we may be required to record an impairment loss for these assets. Such an 
impairment loss would be recognized as a non-cash component of operating income. 

In conjunction with the opening of the new casinoriverboat at Hollywood Casino Lawrenceburg, we recorded an impairent 
loss for the replaced Lawrenceburg vessel of$11.7 milion durng the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009. 
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Included in the depreciation and amortization expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009 was $4.8 milion in 
depreciation expense that was recorded following the fialization of cost segregation studies for the casino projects at Hollywood 
Casino at Penn National Race Course and Hollywood Slots Hotel and Raceway. The charge was a result ofthe depreciation estimate 
previously recorded by us for these projects being less than the depreciation calculated by the cost segregation studies, due to 
differences in the determation of useful lives for certn of the assets included in the project and the allocation of certin costs that
 

were incured as par of the projects. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, the impact of the charge to net income, Basic 
EPS, and Diluted EPS was $2.8 milion, $0.04 and $0.03, respectively. 

Goodwil and other intangible assets 

At June 30, 2009, we had $1,595.9 milion in goodwil and $690.4 milion in other intagible assets within our consolidated 
balance sheet, representing 30.6% and 13.2% oftota assets, respectively, resulting from our acquisition of other businesses and 
payment for gaming licenses and racing permits. Two issues arise with respect to these assets that require significant management 
estimates and judgment: (i) the valuation in connection with the initial purchase price allocation; and (ii) the ongoing evaluation for 
impairent. 

In connection with our acquisitions, valuations are completed to determine the allocation of the purchase prices. The factors 
considered in the valuations include data gathered as a result of our due diligence in connection with the acquisitions, projections for 
futue operations, and data obtained from third-par valuation specialists as deemed appropriate. Goodwil is tested anually, or more 
frequently if indicators of impairent exist, for impairment by comparing the fair value of the reporting units to their caring amount. 
If the caring amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an impairment test is performed to determe the implied value of 
goodwill for that reporting unit. If the implied value is less than the caring amount for that reporting unit, an impaient loss is 
recognized for that reporting unit. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accountig Stadards ("SF AS") No. 142, "Goodwill and 
Other Intagible Assets," issued by the Financial Accountig Standards Board ("F ASB"), we consider our gaming license, racing 
permt and trademark intangible assets as indefiite-life intagible assets that do not require amortization. Rather, these intagible 
assets are tested anually, or more frequently if indicators of impairment exist, for impairment by comparing the fair value of the 
recorded assets to their carring amount. Ifthe caring amounts of the gaming license, racing permit and trademark intagible assets
 

exceed their fair value, an impairent loss is recognized. The evaluation of goodwill and indefinite-life intangible assets requires the 
use of estimates about future operating results of each reporting unit to determine their estimated fair value. We use a market approach 
model, with EBITDA (earings before interest, taes, charges for stock compensation, depreciation and amortizaion, gain or loss on 
disposal of assets, and certin other income and expenses, and inclusive of loss from joint ventue) multiples, as we believe that 
EBlTDA is a widely-used measure of 
 performance in the gamg industr and as we use EBlTDA as the primar measurement ofthe 
operating performance of our properties (including the evaluation of operating personnel). In addition, we believe that an EBITDA 
multiple is the principal basis for the valuation of gaming companies. Changes in the estimated EBlTDA multiple or forecasted 
operations can materially affect these estimates. Once an impairment of goodwill or other indefinite-life intangible assets has been 
recorded, it canot be reversed. Because our goodwil and indefinite-life intangible assets are not amortzed, there may be volatilty in 
reported income because impairent losses, if any, are likely to occur irregularly and in varing amounts. Intagible assets that have a 
defmite-life, including the management service contract for Casino Rama, are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives or related service contract. We review the caring value of our intagible assets that have a defiite-life for possible 
impairent whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carring value may not be recoverable. If the carring 
amount ofthe intangible assets that have a defiite-life exceed their fair value, an impairent loss is recognized. 

Income taxes 

At June 30, 2009, we had a net deferred ta liabilty balance of$252.8 milion within our consolidated balance sheet. We 
account for income taes in accordance with SF AS No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes" ("SF AS 109"). Under SF AS 109, 
deferred ta assets and liabilties are determined based on the differences between the fiancial statement caring amounts and the ta 
bases of existing assets and liabilties and are measured at the prevailing enacted ta rates that wil be in effect when these differences 
are settled or realized. SF AS 109 also requires that deferred ta assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not 
that some portion or all of the deferred ta assets wil not be realized.
 

The realizabilty ofthe deferred tax assets is evaluated quarerly by assessing the valuation allowance and by adjusting the 
amount of the allowance, if necessar. The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization are the forecast of futue taable income
 

and available ta planing strategies that could be implemented to realize the net deferred tax assets. 

We adopted the provisions ofF ASB Interpretaion No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertinty in Income Taxes" ("FIN 48"), which is 
an interpretaion of SF AS 109, on Januar 1, 2007. FIN 48 creates a single model to address uncertinty in ta positions, and clarifies 
the accounting for uncertainty in income taes recognized in an enterprise's financial statements in accordace with SF AS 109 by 
prescribing the minimum recogntion threshold a tax position is required to meet before 
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being recognized in an enterprise's financial statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, 
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. At June 30, 2009, we had a liabilty relating to FIN 48 
of$52.6 millon, which is included in noncurrent ta liabilties within the consolidated balance sheet at June 30, 2009. We operate 
within multiple taing jursdictions and are subject to audit in each jursdiction. These audits can involve complex issues that may 
require an extended period of time to resolve. In our opinion, adequate provisions for income taes have been made for all periods. 

Litigation, claims and assessments 

We utilize estimates for litigation, claims and assessments. These estimates are based on our knowledge and experience 
regarding curent and past events, as well as assumptions about future events. If our assessment of such a matter should change, we 
may have to change the estimate, which may have an adverse effect on our results of operations. Actual results could differ from these 
estimates. 

Results of Operations 

The following are the most importt factors and trends that contribute to our operating pedonnance: 

· The fact that most of our properties operate in matue compettive markets. As a result, we expect a majority of our futue 
growt to come from prudent acquisitions of gaming properties, jursdictional expansions (such as the recent openings in 
Pennsylvania and Maine) and propert expansions.
 

· The actions of governent bodies can affect our operations in a varety of ways. For instance, the continued pressure on 
governents to balance their budgets could intensify the efforts of state and local governents to raise revenues through 
increases in gaming taes. In addition, governent bodies may restrct, prevent or negatively impact operations in the 
jursdictions in which we do business (such as though the Ilinois, Colorado and Pennsylvania smoking bans that became 
effective on Janua 1,2008). 

· The fact that a number of states are curently considerig or implementing legislation to legalize or expand gaming. Such 
legislation presents both potential opportities to establish new properties (for instace, in Kansas, Ohio and Marland) 
and potential competitive threats to business at our existing propertes (such as the introduction of commercial casinos in 
Kansas, Marland, Ohio, and Kentucky, an additional gamng license in Ilinois, and the introduction oftavem licenses in 
several staes). We also face uncertinty regarding anticipated gaming expansion by one of our competitors in Baton Rouge, 
Louisiana. Legalized gaming from casinos located on Native American lands can also have a significant competitive effect. 

· The continued demand for, and our emphasis on. slot wagering entertainent at our properties. 

· The closing of Empress Casino Hotel from March 20,2009 until June 25, 2009 due to a fie, and the timing ofthe 
recogntion of insurance proceeds relating to the insurance claim. 

· The risks related to economic conditions and the effect of such conditions on consumer spending for leisure and gaming 
activities, which may negatively impact our operating results and our abilty to access financing. 
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The results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 are swnarzed below: 

Thre Months Ended June 30, Six Month Ended June 30, 
2009 2008 2009 2008 

(in thousands)
Revenues: 

Gaming $ 526,390 $ 566,395 $ 1,086,293 $ 1,127,031 
Management service fee 3,674 4,694 6,707 8,679 
Food, beverage and other 86,247 81,845 170,869 163,370 

Gross revenues 616,311 652,934 1,263,869 1,299,080 
Less promotional allowances 
Net revenues 

(35,494) 
580,817 

(32,348) 
620,586 

(70,826) 
1,193,043 

(65,000) 
1,234,080 

Operating expenses:
 

Gaming 286,620 302,112 584,182 601,545 
Food, beverage and other 65,529 65,569 130,058 127,890 
General and adinistrative 93,001 94,132 192,471 187,521 
Impairent loss for replaced Lawrenceburg vessel 11,689 11,689 
Empress Casino Hotel fie 331 5,731 
Depreciation and amortization 46,942 45,182 91,372 84,974 

Total operatg expenses 504,112 506,995 1,015,503 1,001,930 
Income from operations $ 76,705 $ 113,591 $ 177,540 $ 232,150 
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The results of operations by propert for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 are surarzed below: 

Net Revenues Income (loss) from Operations 
Thre Months Ended June 30, 2009 2008 2009 2008 

(in thousads) 

Charles Town Entertinment Complex $ 121,435 $ 122,073 $ 28,004 $ 29,314 
Hollywood Casino Lawrenceburg 95,370 111,404 11,351 31,244 
Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course 77,149 61,628 1,148 3,596 
Hollywood Casino Aurora 52,346 50,497 15,048 12,367 
Empress Casino Hotel 
Argosy Casino Riverside 

3,640 
48,470 

44,659 
46,146 

(1,239) 
13,660 

9,826 
11,817 

Hollywood Casino Baton Rouge 31,343 33,110 10,586 11,661 
Argosy Casino Alton 20,500 21,731 3,343 4,147 
Hollywood Casino Tunica 23,711 22,109 3,993 3,640 
Hollywood Caino Bay St. Louis 25,422 25,851 2,473 982 
Argosy Casino Sioux City 13,322 14,050 3,558 3,938 
Boomtown Biloxi 18,919 18,958 1,838 2,276 
Hollywood Slots Hotel and Raceway 
Bullwhackers 
Black Gold Casino at Zia Park 

17,226 
4,720 

19,779 

12,078 
5,759 

21,491 

(462) 
(26) 

5,697 

1,239 

(392) 
6,925 

Casino Rama management service contract 3,674 4,694 3,234 4,272 
Raceway Park 
Sanord-Orlando Kennel Club 
Earings from Pennwood Racing, Inc. 

2,112 
1,679 

2,343 
2,005 

(276) 
(76) 

(341) 
(225) 

Corporate overhead 

Total $ 580,817 $ 620,586 
(25,149) 

$ 76,705 
(22,695) 

$ 113,591 

Net Revenues Income (loss) from Operations 
Six Months Ended June 30, 2009 2008 2009 2008 

(in thousands) 

Charles Town Entertinment Complex 239,339$ $ 244,585 $ 55,825 $ 58,959 
Hollywood Casino Lawrenceburg 196,871 229,648 37,799 66,133 
Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course (1) 150,104 101,077 7,774 2,217 
Hollywood Casino Aurora 101,100 104,123 28,496 26,439 
Empress Casino Hotel 36,509 89,303 (2,097) 16,206 
Argosy Casino Riverside 98,765 92,947 28,186 24,170 
Hollywood Casino Baton Rouge 66,432 67,876 23,094 23,647 
Argosy Casino Alton 41,099 44,428 6,910 7,754 
Hollywood Casino Tunica 48,121 46,671 8,669 8,196 
Hollywood Casino Bay St. Louis 51,411 51,292 5,054 3,143 
Argosy Casino Sioux City 27,239 28,321 7,437 7,674 
Boomtown Biloxi 38,862 39,606 5,689 6,366 
Hollywood Slots Hotel and Raceway 31,591 22,778 (1,315) 3,013 
Bullwhackers 9,572 11,503 (494) (851)
Black Gold Casino at Zia Park 42,125 43,406 12,814 14,054 
Casino Raa management service contract 6,707 8,679 5,968 7,867 
Raceway Park 3,601 3,930 (542) (644) 
Sanord-Orlando Kennel Club 3,595 3,907 80 (134)
Earings from Pennwood Racing, Inc. 
Corporate overhead (51,807) (42,059) 
Total $ 1,193,043 $ 1,234,080 $ 177,540 $ 232,150 
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(1) Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course includes the results of our Pennsylvania casino that opened on Februar 12, 
2008, as well as the Penn National Race Course and four OTWs. 

Revenues 

Revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 were as follows (in thousands): 

Percentage 
Thre Months Ended June 30, 200 2008 Variance Variance 

Gamg $ 526,390 $ 566,395 $ (40,005) (7.1)% 
Management service fee 3,674 4,694 (1,020) (21.7)% 
Food, beverage and other 86,247 81,845 4,402 5.4% 
Gross revenues 616,311 652,934 (36,623) (5.6)% 
Less promotional allowaces (35,494) (32,348) (3,146) 9.7% 

Net revenues $ 580,817 $ 620,586 $ (39,769) (6.4)% 

Percentage 
Six Months Ended June 30, 2009 2008 Variance Variance 

Gaming $ 1,086,293 $ 1,127,031 $ (40,738) (3.6)% 
Management service fee 6,707 8,679 (1,972) (22.7)% 
Food, beverage and other 170,869 163,370 7,499 4.6% 

Gross revenues 1,263,869 1,299,080 (35,211) (2.7)% 
Less promotional allowances (70,826) (65,000) (5,826) 9.0% 

Net revenues $ 1,193,043 $ 1,234,080 $ (41,037) (3.3)% 

Gaming revenue 

Gaming revenue decreased by $40.0 millon, or 7.1%, and $40.7 milion, or 3.6%, for the three and six months ended June 30, 
2009, respectively, as compared to the thee and six months ended June 30, 2008, primarily due to the fie at Empress Casino Hotel 
and decreases at several of our properties, which were parially offset by increases due to the continued impact of the opening of the 
casino at Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course on Febru 12,2008, and the opening ofthe pennanent facilty at 

Hollywood Slots Hotel and Raceway on July 1,2008, and an increase at Argosy Casino Riverside. 

Gaming revenue at Empress Casino Hotel decreased by $39.4 millon, or 92.0%, and $50.4 milion, or 58.9%, for the three and 
six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, as the propert was 
closed from March 20, 2009 unti June 25,2009 due to a fire. 

Gaming revenue at Hollywood Casino Lawrenceburg decreased by $15.8 milion, or 14.8%, and $31.7 milion, or 14.4%, for 
the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, priarly 
due to the reduced capacity of, and subsequent temporary closure of, the casino as part of the transition to the new casino riverboat, 
decreases in consumer spending on gamng activities caused by curent economic conditions, and new competitive pressures. 

Gaming revenue at Chales Town Entertinment Complex decreased by $1. millon, or 1. %, and $6.1 millon, or 2.7%, for 
the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the thee and six months ended June 30,2008, primarly 
due to decreases in consumer spending on gaming activities caused by curent economic conditions as well as competitive pressures. 

Gaming revenue at Argosy Casino Alton decreased by $1.2 milion, or 5.8%, and $3.2 milion, or 7.5%, for the three and six 
months ended June 30,2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, primarly due to decreases in 
consumer spending on gamg activities caused by curent economic conditions as well as competitive pressures, including the repeal 
of the $500 loss limit in Missour in November 2008. 
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Gaming revenue at Hollywood Casino Aurora decreased by $3.3 millon, or 3.3%, for the six months ended June 30, 2009, as
 
compared to the six months ended June 30, 2008, priarily due to decreases in consumer spending on gaming acivities caused by
 
curent economic conditions and new competitive pressures, partally offset by increased patronage as a result of the fie at Empress
 
Casino HoteL.
 

Gaming revenue at Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Coure increased by $12.8 millon, or 25.8%, and $44.6 millon, 
or 58.7%, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the thee and six months ended June 30, 
2008, priarly due to the continued impact ofthe opening ofthe casino on Februar 12, 2008.
 

Gamg revenue at Hollywood Slots Hotel and Raceway increased by $3.9 milion, or 35.6%, and $6.7 milion, or 31.8%, for 
the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectvely, as compared to the thee and six months ended June 30, 2008, primarly 
due to the openig of the permanent facilty on July 1,2008. 

Gaming revenue at Argosy Casino Riverside increased by $2.7 milion, or 6.5%, and $6.0 milion, or 7.1 %, for the three and six 
months ended June 30,2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, primarily due to the repeal of 
the $500 loss limit in Missouri in November 2008 and continued successful marketing efforts. 

Food, beverage and other revenue 

Food, beverage and other revenue increased by $4.4 milion, or 5.4%, and $7.5 milion, or 4.6%, for the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, priarly due to the continued 
impact of the opening of the casino at Hollywood Casino at Penn National Rae Course on Februar 12,2008, the opening ofthe 
permanent facilty at Hollywood Slots Hotel and Raceway on July 1,2008 and increases at Charles Town Entertinment Complex and 
Hollywood Casino Tunica, all of which were parially offset by a decrease at Empress Casino HoteL. 

Food, beverage and other revenue at Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course increased by $3.3 millon, or 25.1 %, and 
$4.7 milion, or 17.1%, for the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the thee and six months ended 
June 30, 2008, primarly due to the continued impact of the opening ofthe casino on Februar 12,2008. 

Food, beverage and other revenue at Hollywood Slots Hotel and Raceway increased by $2.0 milion, or 194.6%, and $3.4 
milion, or 205.1 %, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the thee and six months ended 
June 30, 2008, primarly due to the opening of the permanent facilty on July 1,2008. 

Food, beverage and other revenue at Charles Town Entertinent Complex increased by $1.9 milion, or 17.4%, and $2.8 
milion, or 12.9%, for the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2008, primarily due to the opening of its hotel to the public in September 2008. 

Food, beverage and other revenue at Hollywood Casino Tunica increaed by $1. milion, or 23.7%, and $2.2 millon, or
 

19.0%, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, 
primarily due to new food and beverage promotions. 

Food, beverage and other revenue at Empress Casino Hotel decreased by $3.7 millon, or 91.6%, and $5.1 milion, or 60.7%,
 

for the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectvely, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, as the 
propert was closed from March 20, 2009 until June 25, 2009 due to a fire. 

Promotional allowances 

Promotional allowances increased by $3.1 millon, or 9.7%, and $5.8 milion, or 9.00/0, for the three and six months ended 
June 30,2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30,2008, primarly due to increases at several of our 
propertes, all of which were parally offset by a decreae at Empress Casino HoteL. 

Promotional allowances at Hollywood Casino Tunica increased by $1.4 milion, or 38.3%, and $2.4 milion, or 32.1 %, for the 
three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, priarily due 
to new food and beverage promotions. 

Promotional allowances at Charles Town Entertaient Complex increased by $1.3 milion, or 63.7%, and $1.9 millon, or 
50.8%, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months 

37 



ended June 30, 2008, primarily due to increased marketing efforts and the opening of its hotel to the public in September 2008. 

Promotional allowances at Hollywood Slots Hotel and Raceway increased by $0.8 millon, or 100.0%, and $1. milion, or
 

100.0%, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the thee and six months ended June 30, 2008, 
pnmarly due to the opening ofthe permanent facilty on July 1,2008. 

Promotional allowances at Boomtown Biloxi increased by $0.7 millon, or 36.0%, and $1. milion, or 29.9%, for the thee and
 

six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, pnmarily due to 
expanded marketing effort.
 

Promotional allowances at Hollywood Casino Lawrenceburg increased by $0.6 milion, or 8.8%, and $1.7 millon, or 13.2%, 
for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, 
primarly due to increased promotional effort. 

Promotional allowances at Empress Casino Hotel decreased by $2.1 millon, or 94.0%, and $2.7 millon, or 57.9%, for the thee
 

and sIXmQnths ended June 30, 2009, respectvely, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, as the propert was 
closed from March 20, 2009 until June 25, 2009 due to a fie. 

ODeratinf! EJcvenses 

Operating expenses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 were as follows (in thousands): 

Three Months Ended June 30, 2009 2008 Variance 
Percentage 
Variance 

Gaming 
Food, beverae and other 
General and administrative 
Impairment loss for replaced Lawrenceburg vessel 

$ 286,620 $ 

65,529 
93,001 
11,689 

302,112 $ 

65,569 
94,132 

(15,492) 
(40) 

(1,131) 
11 ,689 

(5.1)% 
(0.1)% 
(1.2)% 

100;0% 
Empress Casino Hotel fie 331 331 100.0% 
Depreciation and amortization 46,942 45,182 1,760 3.9% 
Total operating expenses $ 504,112 $ 506,995 $ (2,883) (0.6)% 

Percentage
Six Months Ended June 30, 2009 2008 Variance Variance 
Gaming . $ 584,182 $ 601,545 $ (17,363) (2.9)%
Food, beverage and other 130,058 127,890 2,168 1.7% 
General and adinistrative 192,471 187,521 4,950 2.6% 
Impairment loss for replaced Lawrenceburg vessel 11,689 11,689 100.0% 
Empress Casino Hotel fire 5,731 5,731 100.0% 
Depreciation and amortization 91,372 84,974 6,398 7.5% 
Total operating expenses $ 1,015,503 $ 1,001,930 $ 13,573 1.4% 

Gaming expense 

Gaming expense decreased by $15.5 milion, or 5.1 %, and $17.4 millon, or 2.9%, for the three and six month ended June 30, 
2009, respectively, as compared to the thee and six months ended June 30, 2008, primarily due to the fie at Empress Casino Hotel 
and decreases at several of our properties, which were parially offset by the continued impact of the opening of the casino at 
Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course on Februar 12,2008, the opening of the permanent facilty at Hollywood Slots 
Hotel and Raceway on July 1,2008 and an increase at Argosy Casino Riverside. 
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Gaming expense at Empress Casino Hotel decreased by $21.0 millon, or 89.2%, and $29.8 milion, or 60.0%, for the three and 
six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, as the propert was 
closed from March 20, 2009 unti June 25, 2009 due to a fie. 

Gaming expense at Hollywood Casino Lawrenceburg decreased by $7.8 milion, or 13.0%, and $16.4 milion, or 13.3%, for the 
three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, primarly due 
to a decrease in gaming taes resulting from lower gaming revenue and lower payroll costs. 

Gamng expense at Argosy Casino Alton decreased by $0.6 milion, or 5.4%, and $2.1 milion, or 9.6%, for the three and six 
months ended June 30,2009, respectively, as compared to the thee and six months ended June 30, 2008, priarly due to a decrease
 

in gaming taxes resulting from lower gamg revenue. 

Gaming expense at Hollywood Casino Aurora decreased by $4.4 millon, or 7.8%, for the six months ended June 30, 2009, as
 
compared to the six months ended June 30, 2008, primarly due to a decrease in gaming taes resultig from lower gaming revenue.
 

Gaming expense at Charles Town Entertinment Complex decreased by$2.7 milion, or 1.9%, for the six months ended
 
June 30, 2009, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2008, primarly due to a decrease in gaming taes resulting from lower
 
gaming revenue.
 

Gamng expense at Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course increased by $12.0 milion, or 38.0%, and $32.6 millon, 
or 65.0%, for the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the thee and six months ended June 30, 
2008, primarily due to the continued impact of the opening ofthe casino on Februar 12,2008. 

Gaming expense at Hollywood Slots Hotel and Raceway increased by $2.5 milion, or 40.9%, and $4.3 milion, or 36.3%, for 
the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the thee and six months ended June 30,2008, primarly 
due to the opening of the permanent facilty on July 1,2008. 

Gaming expense at Argosy Casino Riverside increased by $1. millon, or 5.7%, and $3.0 millon, or 7.8%, for the thee and 
six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the thee and six months ended June 30, 2008, primarly due to an 
increase in gaming taes resulting from higher gamng revenue due to the repeal of 
 the $500 loss limt in Missouri in November 2008. 

Food, beverage and other expense 

Food, beverage and other expense increased by $2.2 milion, or 1.7%, for the six months ended June 30, 2009, as compared to 
the six months ended June 30, 2008, primarily due to the continued impact of the opening of the casino at Hollywood Casino at Penn 
National Race Course on Februar 12,2008 and increases at several of our properties, all of which were parally offset by a decrease 
at Empress Casino HoteL. 

Food, beverage and other expense at Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course increased by $2.0 milion, or 8.2%, for 
the six months ended June 30, 2009, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2008, primarily due to the continued impact of 
 the 
opening of the casino on Februar 12,2008. 

Food, beverage and other expense at Hollywood Casino Tunica increased by $1. millon, or 13.3%, for the six months ended 
June 30, 2009, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2008, primarly due to an increase in cost offood and beverages 
resulting from higher food and beverage revenue. 

Food, beverage and other expense at Hollywood Slots Hotel and Racway increased by $0.8 milion, or 25.5%, for the six 
months ended June 30, 2009, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2008, primarly due to the opening ofthe permanent 
facilty on July 1,2008. 

Food, beverage and other expense at Argosy Casino Riverside increased by $0.7 millon, or 6.2%, for the six months ended 
June 30, 2009, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2008, primarly due to increased benefit costs. 

Food, beverage and other expense at Empress Casino Hotel decreased by $3.4 milion, or 48.8%, for the six months ended 
June 30, 2009, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2008, as the propert was closed from March 20, 2009 until June 25, 
2009 due to a fie. 
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General and administrative expense 

General and adinistrtive expense at the properties includes expenses such as compliance, facilty maitenance, utilities, 
propert and liabilty insurance, surveilance and security, and cert housekeeping, as well as all expenses for administrative
 

deparents such as accounting, purchasing, human resources, legal and internal audit. 

General and administrative expense decreased by $1.1 millon, or 1.2%, for the thee months ended June 30, 2009, as compared 
to the thee months ended June 30, 2008, priarly due to a decrease at Empress Casino Hotel, which was parially offset by an
 

increase in corporate overhead expense. 

General and adinistrative expense increased by $5.0 milion, or 2.6%, for the six months ended June 30, 2009, as compared to
 

the six months ended June 30, 2008, primary due to an increase in corporate overhead expense, which was parally offset by a 
decrease at Empress Casino HoteL. 

General and adinistrative expense at Empress Casino Hotel decreased by $4.2 millon, or 78.3%, and $4.3 millon, or 40.0%,
 

for the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, as the 
propert was closed from March 20, 2009 until June 25, 2009 due to a fire. 

Corporate overhead expense increased by $2.4 millon, or 11.8%, and $9.8 milion, or 25.8%, for the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, primarly due to increased lobbying 
expenses for efforts primarly in Ohio, the expensing of equity-based compensation awards as required under SF AS No. 123 (revised 
2004), "Share-Based Payment" having increased by $1.4 milion and $5.7 millon for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, 
respectively, primarly due to the timing ofthe 2008 stock option grant and the extnsion of the expiration date for previous stock 
option grants by up to thee years in December 2008, and increased payroll and benefit costs. 

Impairment loss for replaced Lawrenceburg vessel 

In conjunction with the opening of the new casino riverboat at Hollywood Casino Lawrenceburg, we recorded an impairment 
loss for the replaced Lawrenceburg vessel of $11.7 millon during the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009. 

Empress Casino Hotelfire 

As a result of the Empress Casino Hotel fire, during the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009, we recorded a $0.3 milion 
and $5.7 millon pre-ta loss, respectively, for the insurance deductibles for propert damage, business interrption and employee lost 
wages, as well as a write-off of constrction fees related to the renovation that are not recoverable under our insurance policies. 

Depreciation and amortization expense 

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $1.8 milion, or 3.9%, and $6.4 milion, or 7.5%, for the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the thee and six months ended June 30, 2008, primarly due to the 
continued impac of the openig of the casino at Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course on Februar 12,2008 and the 
opening of the permanent facilty at Hollywood Slots Hotel and Raceway on July 1,2008, both of which were parially offset by 
decreases at several of our properties. 

Depreciation and amortization expense at Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course increased by $4.5 milion, or 
63.1%, and $8.1 millon, or 80.2%, for the thee and six month ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2008, primarly due to incremental depreciation expense being recorded during the three months ended 
June 30, 2009, following the finalization ofthe cost segregation study for the casino project at Hollywood Casino at Penn National 
Race Coure. In addition, depreciation and amortization expense at Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course increased for the 
six months ended June 30, 2009, due to the continued impact of the openig of the casino on Februar 12,2008. 

Depreciation and amortization expense at Hollywood Slots Hotel and Raceway increased by $3.1 milion, or 355.7%, and $5.0 
millon, or 247.9%, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the thee and six months ended 
June 30, 2008, primarily due to the opening ofthe permanent facilty on July 1,2008. 
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Depreciation and amortzation expense at Empress Casino Hotel decreased by $2.4 millon, or 90.5%, and $2.8 millon, or 
48.0%, for the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, 
as the propert was closed from March 20, 2009 until June 25, 2009 due to a fire. 

Depreciation and amortzation expense at Hollywood Casino Bay St. Louis decreased by $1. millon, or 27.4%, and $1.0 
milion, or 13.0%, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2008, primarily due to incremental depreciation expense being recorded during the three months ended June 30, 2008, 
following the finalization ofthe cost segregation study for the Huricane Katrna rebuild assets at Hollywood Casino Bay St. Louis. 

Depreciation and amortzation expense at Argosy Casino Riverside decreased by $0.9 milion, or 24.0%, and $1.9 milion, or 
24.4%, for the three and six months ended June 30,2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, 
primarily due to a large volume of equipment related to the casino expansion completed in December 2003 now being fuly 
depreciated. 

Other income (exvenses) 

Other income (expenses) for the thee and six months ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 were as follows (in thousands): 

Percentage 
Thre Months Ended June 30, 2009 2008 Variance Variance 
Interest expense 
Interest income 

$ (29,851) $ 

1,603 
(44,536) $ 

553 
14,685 
1,050 

33.0% 
189.9% 

Loss from joint ventue 
Oter 

(416) 
2,887 

(152) 
(574) 

(264) 
3,461 

(173.7)% 
603.0% 

Tota other expenses $ (25,777) $ (44,709) $ 18,932 42.3% 

Percentage 
Six Months Ended June 30, 2009 2008 Variance Variance 
Interest expense $ (61,089) $ (91,751) $ 30,662 33.4% 
Interest income 4,694 1,236 3,458 279.8% 
Loss from joint venture 192 21.%(719) (911) 
Other 4,979 884 4,095 463.2% 
Total other expenses $ (52,135) $ (90,542) $ 38,407 42.4% 

Interest expense 

Interest expense decreased by $14.7 millon, or 33.0%, and $30.7 millon, or 33.4%, for the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2009, respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, primarly due to lower outstading 
balances and lower interest rates on our $2.725 billon senior secured credit facility, which was parially offset by increaed interest 
expense resulting from hedge ineffectiveness and payments related to interest rate swaps due to the drop in varable rates and lower 
capitaized interest durng the six months ended June 30, 2009. 

Interest income 

Interest income increased by $1. millon, or 189.9%, and $3.5 millon, or 279.8%, for the three and six months ended June 30, 

2009, respectively, as compard to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, primarly due to interest eared on the investment in 
corporate debt securities, as well as the original issue discount amortization. 

Other 

Other increased by $3.5 milion, or 603.0%, and $4.1 milion, or 463.2%, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2009, 
respectively, as compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2008, primarily due to the gain on the sale of 
 the investment in 
corporate debt securities, parially offset by foreign curency losses. 

41 



Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Historically, our primar sources ofliquidity and capital resources have been cash flow from operations, borrowigs from 
ban and proceeds from the issuance of debt and equity securties. 

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $165.3 milion and $179.6 milion for the six months ended June 30, 2009 and 
2008, respectively. Net cash provided by operating acvities for the six months ended June 30, 2009 included net income of$69.1 
milion, non-cash reconciling items, such as depreciation, amortization, the charge for stock compensation, the Empress Casino Hotel 
fire insurance loss, the gain on sale of investment in corporate debt securities and the impainnent loss for replaced Lawrenceburg 
vessel, of$123.3 millon, all of which were parially offset by net changes in asset and liabilty accounts of $27. 1 milion. 

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $63.6 millon and $196.4 millon for the six months ended June 30, 2009 and 2008, 
respectvely. Net cash used in investing activities for the six months ended June 30,2009 included expenditues for propert and 
equipment totaling $139.0 milion, which was parally offset by proceeds from the sale of 
 propert and equipment, the sale of 
investment in corporate debt securities and insurance proceeds received as a result of the Empress Casino Hotel fie totaling 
$8.8 milion, $50.6 milion and $16.0 milion, respecively.
 

Net cash used in financing activities totaled $52.8 millon and $33.2 milion for the six months ended June 30, 2009 and 2008, 
respectvely. Net cash used in financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2009 included pricipal payments on long-tenn 
debt totaing $172.4 millon and $8.1 millon in payments on insurance fmancing, both of which were parially offset by proceeds 
from the exercise of stock options totaling $3.5 milion, the ta benefit from stock options exercised totaling $1.5 milion, and 
proceeds from the issuance oflong-tenn debt of$122.7 milion. 

On July 3, 2008, we entered into an agreement with certain affliates of Fortess and Centerbridge, tenninating the Merger 
Agreement. In connection with the tennination of the Merger Agreement, we ageed to receive a total of$1.475 bilion, consisting of 
the Cash Tennination Fee and the Investment. On October 30, 2008, we closed the sale ofthe Investment and issued 12,500 shares of 
our Preferred Stock.
 

We used a portion ofthe net proceeds from the Investment and the afer-ta proceeds ofthe Cash Tennination Fee for the
 

repayment of some of our existing debt, repurchases of our Common Stock, lobbying expenses for effort in Ohio and investment in 
corporate debt securities, with the remainder being invested priarily in short-tenn securities. The repurchase of 
 up to $200 milion of 
our Common Stock over the twenty-four month period ending July 2010 was authorized by our Board of Directors in July 2008. 
Durg the year ended December 31, 2008, we repurchased 8,934,984 shares of our Common Stock in open market transactions for 
approxiately $152.6 milion, at an average price of$17.05. Durig the six months ended June 30, 2009, we did not repurchase any
 

shares of our Common Stock. 

Capital Expenditures 

Capital expenditures are accounted for as either capital project or capita maintenance (replacement) expenditues. Capital 
project expenditues are for fixed asset additions that expand an existing facilty. Capital maintenance expenditures are expenditues to 
replace existing fixed assets with a useful life greater than one year that are obsolete, worn out or no longer cost effectve to repair. 
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The following table summarzes our expected capital project expenditues by propert for the fiscal year ending December 31, 
2009, and actual expenditures for the six months ended June 30, 2009: 

Expe for 
Year Ending Expenditure for 
Dember 31, Six Months Ended Balance to 

Propert 2009 June 30, 200 Expend in 200 

(in millons) 

Hollywood Casino Lawrenceburg $ 134.5 $ 75.9 $ 58.6 
Empress Casino Hotel 52.9 25.5 27.4 
Black Gold Casino at Zia Park 3.5 0.4 3.1 
Hollywood Casino at Penn National Race Course 4.7 3.4 1. 
Hollywood Slots Hotel and Raceway 0.7 0.4 0.3 
Other 22.0 1.8 20.2 
Total $ 218.3 $ 107.4 $ 110.9 

The Hollywood-themed expansion at Lawrenceburg includes the addition of 1,500 parking spaces and 1,168 gaming positions, 
as well as enhanced amenities and a floor layout that wil beter faciltae customer flow. The garage and pedestnan walkway opened 
in May 2008 and the gaming facilty opened in June 2009. 

At Empress Casino Hotel, we staed the facilty enhancements in late 2008.0n March 20, 2009, Empress Casino Hotel was 
closed following a fire that stad in the land-based pavilon at the facility. All customers and employees were successfully evacuated, 
and the fire was contained on the land-side ofthe propert before it could spread to the adjacent caino barge. On June 25, 2009, the 
casino barge was reopened with temporar land-basd facilties, and plans are presently being developed for the permanent land-based 
pavilon, with constrction being estiatd to be completed by the first quarer of 20 10 on the parking garage and by the fourh 
quarer of2010 on the pavilon. 

Durng the six months ended June 30, 2009, we spent approximately $31.6 millon for capital maitenance expenditues at our 
propertes. The majonty ofthe capital maintenance expenditures was for slot machines and slot machine equipment. 

Cash generated from operations and cash available under the revolver porton of our $2.725 billon senior secured credit facilty 
have fuded our capital project and capital maintenance expenditures in 2009 to date. 

Debt 

Senior Secured Credit Facilty
 

Durng the six months ended June 30, 2009, our $2.725 bilion senior secured credit facilty amount outstading decreased by 
$35.9 milion, primarly due to scheduled principal payments on the Term Loan A Facilty and Term Loan B Facilty, parially offset 
by the issuance of long-term debt for items such as payment for capita expenditues. 

Other Long-Term Obligations 

On October 15,2004, we anounced the sale of The Downs Racing, Inc. and its subsidiaries to the MTGA. Under the terms of 
the ageement, the MTGA acquired The Down Racing, Inc. and its subsidiaries, including Pocono Down (a stadardbred horse 
racing facilty located on 400 acres in Wilkes-Bare, Pennsylvania) and five Pennsylvana OTWs located in Carbondale, East 
Stroudsburg, Ene, Hazelton and the Lehigh Valley (Allentown). The sale agreement also provided the MTGA with certin post-
closing terminaton nghts in the event of certin materially adverse legislative or regulatory events. In Januar 2005, we received 
$280 millon from the MTGA, and trsferred the operations of The Downs Racing, Inc. and its subsidiaries to the MTGA. The sale 
was not considered final for accountig puroses until the third quarer of 
 2006, as the MTGA had cert post-closing termination 
nghts that remained outstading. On August 7, 2006, we entered into the Second Amendment to the Purchase Agreement and Release 
of Claims with the MTGA pertning to the Purchase Agreement, and ageed to pay the MTGA an aggregate of $30 milion over five 
years, beginng on the first anniversar of the commencement of slot operations at Mohegan Sun at Pocono Downs, in exchange for 

the MTGA' s agreement to release varous claims it raised against us under the Purchase Agreement and the MTGA' s surender of all 
post-closing termination nghts it might have had under the Purchase Agreement. We recorded the present value of the $30 milion 
liabilty within 
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debt, as the amount due to the MTGA was payable over five years. In March 2009, we entered into the Thid Amendment to the 
Purchase Agreement, in which the remaining payments due under the Purchase Agreement were accelerated and reduced. Under the 
Third Amendment to the Purchase Agreement, in exchange for the accelerated payment, which was paid to the MTGA in March 2009, 
all remaining obligations under the Purchase Agreement were deemed to be satisfied. In addition, durng the six months ended 
June 30,2009, we recorded a $1.3 milion gain which is included in other income within the consolidated statements of 
 income. 

Covenants 

At June 30, 2009, we were in compliance with all required fiancial covenants. 

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIV AND QUALITATIV DISCLOSURES ABOUT MAT RISK 

The tale below provides information at June 30, 2009 about our financial instrments that are sensitive to changes in interest 
rates, including debt obligations and interest rate swaps. For debt obligations, the table presents notional amounts matung durg the 
period and the related weighted-average interest rates at period-end. For interest rate swaps, the tale presents notional amounts and 
weighted-average interest rates outstading at each period-end. Notional amounts are used to calculate the contracal payments to be 
exchanged under the contract and the weighted-average varable rates are based on implied forward rates in the yield cure at June 30, 
2009. 

7/1/09 - 7/1/10 - 7/1/11 - 7/1/12 - 7/1/13 - Fair Value 
6/3/10 61/11 6/3012 6/3/13 6/3/14 Therefter Total 610/09 

(in thousands)
Lone-term debt: 

Fixed rate $ $ $ 200,000 $ $ $ 250,000 $ 450,000 $ 423,500 
Average interest rate 6.88% 6.75% 

Varable rate $ 97,750 $ 246,618 $ 1,191,750 $ 387,750 $ $ $ 1,923,868 $ 1,923,868 
Average interest rate (1) 3.47% 4.06% 4.95% 5.27% 

Leases $ 1,356 $ 1,052 $ 1,124 $ 79 $ 86 $ 1,794 $ 5,491 $ 5,491 
Average interest rate 6.08% 5.69% 5.66% 7.72% 7.72% 7.72% 

Interest rate derivatives:
 

Interest rate swaps
 
Varable to fixed (2) $ 2,262,000 $ 540,000 $ - $ - $ $ N/A $
 - (54,232)
Averae pay rate 2.59"10 2.30% N/A 
Average receive rate 

(3) 2.13% 2.78% N/A 

(1) Estimated rate, reflective offorward LIBOR plus the spread over LIBOR applicable to variable-rate borrowing.
 

(2) Notional amounts outstading at each period-end.
 

(3) Estimated rate, reflective offorward LIBOR.
 

In accordance with the terms of our $2.725 bilion senior secured credit facilty, we were required to enter into fixed-rate debt 
or interest rate swap ageements in an amount equal to 50% of our consolidated indebtedness, excluding the revolving credit facilty, 
withi 100 days of the closing date of the $2.725 bilion senior secured credit facilty. 

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Evaluation of Controls and Procedures 

Our management, under the supervision and with the parcipaton of our principal executive offcer and principal financial 
offcer, have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2009, which is the end of 
 the period 
covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. In designing and evaluatig the disclosure controls and procedures, management 
recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well-designed and operated, can 

44 



provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management was required to apply its judgment in 
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, our pricipal executive offcer 
and pricipal fiancial offcer have concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures are effective in providing that (a) material 
infonnation relating to us, including our consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to these offcers by other employees of us and our 
consolidated subsidiares, pacularly material infonnation related to the period for which this periodic report is being prepared; and 
(b) this infonnation is recorded, processed, sumarzed, evaluated and reported, as applicable, within the time periods specified in the 
rules and fonns of the U.S. Seurties and Exchange Commission. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportg 

There were no changes that occured durng the fiscal quarr covered by this Quarerly Report on Fonn IO-Q that have
 

materially affeced, or are reasonable likely to materially affect, our internal controls over fiancial reporting. 

PART II. OrnER INFORMTION 

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

Infonnation in response to this Item is incorporated by reference to the infonnation set forth in "Note 8: Commitments and 
Contingencies" in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Par I of this Quarterly Report on Fonn 10.0. 

ITEM lA. RISK FACTORS 

We make reference to the risk factors included in the Company's Anual Report on Fonn IO-K for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2008, filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009. The risk factors remain the same except for those as set forth below: 

Riks Related to Our Business
 

A substantial porton of our revenues is derived from our Charles Town, West Virgiia and Lawrenceburg, Indiana 
facilties. 

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008, approximately 37.5% of our net revenues were collectively derived from our 
Charles Town and Lawrenceburg operations. Our abilty to meet our operating and debt service requirements is substatially 
dependent upon the contiued success of these facilties. The operations at these facilties and any of our other facilties could be 
adversely affected by numerous factors, including: 

· risks related to local and regional economic and competitive conditions, such as a decline in the number of visitors to a 
facilty, a downtu in the overall economy in the market, a decrease in consumer spending on gaming acivities in the
 

market or an increase in competition within and outside the state in which each propert is located (for example, the effect 
on Charles Town of the new gaming venues now possible in Marland and the impact on Lawrenceburg ofIndianapolis 
Downs and Hoosier Downs and the introducton of commercial casinos in Ohio and an additional gaming license in 
Ilinois); 

. changes in local and state governental laws and regulations (including changes in laws and regulations affecting gaming 
operations and taes) applicable to a facilty; 

. impeded access to a facilty due to weather, road constrction or closures of priar access routes; and 

. the occurence of caualty events, floods and other natural disasters and mechanical failure or extended or extaordinar
 

maitenance. 

If any of these events occur, our operating revenues and cash flow could decline significantly. 

We may face disruption in integrating and managig facilties we may acquire in the future. 

We expect to continue pursuing expansion opportnities, and we regularly evaluate opportities for joint ventures as well as 
acquisition of other properties, which evaluations may include discussions and the review of confidential infonnation afer the 
execution of nondisclosure ageements with potential joint venture parers and acuisition candidates, some of which may be 
potentially significant in relation to our size. 

We could face signficant challenges in managing and integrating our expanded or combined operations and any other 
properties we may acquire. The integration of any other properties we may acquire wil require the dedication of management 
resources that may temporaily divert attention from our day-to-day business. The process of integrating properties that we may 
acquire also could interrpt the activities ofthose businesses, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
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condition and results of operations. 



Management of new properties, especially in new geographic areas, may require that we increase our managerial resources. We 
canot assure you that we wil be able to manage the combined operations effectively or realize any ofthe anticipated benefits of our 
acquisitions. We also canot assure you that if acuisitions are completed, that the acuired businesses wil generate suffcient revenue 
to offset the associated costs. 

Our abilty to achieve our objectives in connection with any acquisition we may consummate may be highly dependent on, 
among other things, our abilty to retain the senior level propert management teams of such acquisition candidates. If, for any reason, 
we are unable to retain these management teams following such acuisitions or if 
 we fail to atac new capable executives, our
 

operations afer consummation of such acquisitions could be matenally adversely affected. 

The occurence of some or all of the above descnbed events could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
 
operations and fmancial condition.
 

We face significant competition from other gaming operations and other forms of entertinment. 

The gamg industr is charaerized by a high degree of competition among a large number of paricipants, including nverboat 
casinos, dockside casinos, land-based casinos, video lottery and poker machines not located in casinos, Native Amencan gamg, 
Internet gamng and other forms of gambling in the U.S. In a broader sense, our gaming operations face competition from all maner 
ofleisure and entertinent activities, including shopping, high school, collegiate and professional athletic events, television an 
movies, concerts and travel. Legalized gaming is currently permitted in various forms throughout the U.S., in several Canadian 
provinces and on various lands taen into trst for the benefit of certin Native Amencans in the U.S. and Canad. Other junsdictions, 
including states adjacent to states in which we curently have facilties (such as proposed sites in Kansas and Marland), may legalize 
and implement gamg in the nea futue. In addition, estalished gaming 
 jurisdictions could award additional gaming licenses or 
permit the expansion or relocation of existing gamng operations. New, relocated or expanded operations by other persons wil 
increase competition for our gaming operations and could have a matenal adverse impact on us. 

Gaming competition is intense in most ofthe markets where we operate. As competig propertes and new markets are opened 
(for instace, the introducton of commercial casinos in Kansas, Maryland, Ohio and Kentucky, an additional gamig license in 
Ilinois, the introduction of tavern licenses in several states, the potential competition in Baton Rouge and the new propertes in St. 
Louis and Indianapolis), our operatig results may be negatively affected. In addition, some of our direct competitors in certin 
markets may have superior facilties and/or operating conditions. There could be fuer competition in our makets as a result of 
 the 
upgrading or expansion of facilties by existing market paricipants, the entrance of new gamg parcipants into a market or 
legislative changes. 

We expect each existing or futue market in which we paricipate to be highly competitive. The competitive position of each of 
our casino propertes is discussed in detal in the subsection entitled "Gaming Operations" in the "The Company-Competition" 
secton of our Anual Report on Form i O-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008. 

We face extensive regnlation from gaming and other regulatory authorities. 

Licensing requirements. As owners and managers of gaming and pari-mutuel wagering facilties, we are subject to extensive 
state, local and, in Canada, provincial regulation. State, local and provincial authorities require us and our subsidiaries to demonstrate 
suitabilty to obtain and reta various licenses and require that we have registrations, permts and approvals to conduct gamg 
operations. Various regulatory authorities, including the Colorado Limited Gaming Control Commssion, the Flonda Deparent of 
Business and Professional Regulation­
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Division of Par-Mutuel Wagering, the Ilinois Gaming Board, the Indiana Gaming Commission, the Iowa Gaming and Racing 
Commission, the Louisiana Gaming Control Board, the Maine Gambling Control Board, the Maine Haress Raing Commission, the 
Mississippi State Tax Commission, the Mississippi Gaming Commission, the Missour Gamg Commssion, the New Jersey Racing 
Commission, the New Mexico Gamng Control Board, the New Mexico Racing Commission, the Ohio State Racing Commission, the 
Pennsylvana Gaming Control Board, the Pennylvania Stae Horse Racing Commission, the West Virginia Raing Commission, the 
West Virginia Lottery Commission, and the Alcohol and Gamig Commssion of Ontaio, have broad discretion, and may, for any 
reason set forth in the applicable legislation, rules and regulations, limit, condition, suspend, fail to renew or revoke a license or 
registrtion to conduct gamng operations or prevent us from owning the securities of any of our gaming subsidiaries or prevent 
another person from owng an 
 equity interest in us. Like all gamg operators in the jurisdictions in which we operate, we must 
periodically apply to renew our gamng licenses or registrations and have the suitabilty of certain of our directors, offcers and 
employees approved. We canot assure you that we wil be able to obta such renewals or approvals. Regulatory authorities have 
input into our operatons, for instace, hours of operation, location or relocation of a facilty, numbers and types of machines and loss 
limits. Regulators may also levy substatial fies against or seize our assets or the assets of our subsidiaries or the people involved in 
violating gamng laws or regulations. Any ofthese events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

We have demonstrated suitabilty to obtain and have obtained all governental licenses, registrations, permts and approvals 
necessar for us to operate our existing gaming and par-mutuel facilties. We canot assure you that we wil be able to retain them or 
demonstrte suitabilty to obtan any new licenses, registrations, permits or approvals. In addition, the loss of a license in one 
jursdiction could trigger the loss of a license or afect our eligibilty for a license in another jursdiction. As we expand our gaming 
operations in our existig jursdictions or to new areas, we may have to meet additional suitailty requirements and obtain additional
 

licenses, registrations, permits and approvals from gaming authorities in these jurisdictions. The approval process can be time-
consuming and costly and we canot be sure that we wil be successfuL. 

Gaming authorities in the U.S. generally can require that any beneficial owner of our securities fie an application for a finding 
of suitabilty. If a gamg authority requires a record or beneficial owner of our securties to file a suitabilty application, the owner
 

must generally apply for a fiding of suitailty within 30 days or at an earlier time prescribed by the gaming authority. The gaming
 

authority has the power to investigate such an owner's suitabilty and the owner must pay all costs ofthe investigation. If the owner is 
found unsuitable, then the owner may be required by law to dispose of our securties. 

Potential changes in legislation and regulation of our operations. Regulatons governing the conduct of gaming activities and 
the obligations of gaming companies in any jursdiction in which we have or in the futue may have gaming operations are subject to 
change and could impose additional operating, financial or other burdens on the way we conduct our business. 

Moreover, legislation to prohibit or limit gaming may be introduced in the future in staes where gamg has been legalized. In 
addition, from time to time, legislators and special interest groups have proposed legislation that would expand, restrct or prevent 
gaming operations or which may otherwise adversely impact our operations in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Any expanion of 
gaming or restriction on or prohibition of our gaming operations or enacent of other adverse regulatory changes could have a 
material adverse effect on our operating results. For example, in October 2005, the Ilinois House of Representatives voted to approve 
proposed legislation that would eliminate riverboat gambling. If the Ilinois Senate had passed a bil eliminating riverboat gambling, 
our business would have been materially impacted. In addition, legislation banning smoking appear to be gainig momentu in a 
number of jurisdictions where we operate or may operat in the futue (including passage in Ilinois, Colorado and Pennsylvania in 
2008 and proposed legislation in Kansas and Marland). If these bans continue to be enacted, our business could be adversly 
affected. 
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Taxation and ftes. We believe that the prospect of significant revenue is one of the primar reasons that jurisdictions permit 
legalized gamg. As a result, gamng companies are typically subject to significant taes and fees in addition to normal federal, stte, 
local and provincial income taxes, and such taes and fees are subject to increase at any time. We pay substatial taes and fees with 
respect to our operations. From time to time, federal, state, local and provincial legislators and offcials have proposed changes in tax 
laws, or in the administration of such laws, afecting the gaming industr. In addition, worsenig economic conditions could intesify 
the efforts of state and local governents to raise revenues through increases in gaming taes. It is not possible to determe with 
certinty the likelihood of changes in ta laws or in the administration of such laws. Such changes, if adopted, could have a matenal
 

adverse effect on our business, fmancial condition and results of operations. The large number of state and local governents with 
significant current or projected budget deficits makes it more likely that those governents that curently permit gaming will seek to 
fud such deficits with new or increased gaming taes, and worsening economic conditions could intensify those efforts. Any matenal 
increase, or the adoption of additional taes or fees, could have a matenal adverse effect on our futue financial results. 

Compliance with other laws. We are also subject to a varety of other rules and regulations, including zoni, environmental, 
constrction and land-use laws and regulations governg the serving of alcoholic beveraes. If we are not in compliance with these 
laws, it could have a matenal adverse effect on our business, fmancial condition and results of operations. 

Inclement weather, casualty events and other conditions could seriously disrupt our business and have a material 
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. 

The operatons of our facilties are subject to disruptions or reduced patronage as a result of severe weather conditions, natual 
disasters and other casualties. Because many of our gaming operations are locaed on or adjacent to bodies of water, these facilties are
 

subject to risks in addition to those associated with land-based casinos, including loss of service due to casualty, forces of natue, 
mechancal failure, extended or extraordinar maintenance, road constrction or closures of primar access routes, flood, hurcane or 
other severe weather conditions. For example, in late August 2005, we closed Hollywood Casino Bay St. Louis in Bay St. Louis, 
Mississippi, Boomtown Biloxi in Biloxi, Mississippi and Hollywood Casino Baton Rouge in Baton Rouge, Louisiana in anticipation 
of Hurcane Katrina. Hollywood Casino Baton Rouge subsequently reopened on August 30, 2005. However, due to the extensive 
damage sustaed, operations at Boomtown Biloxi and Hollywood Casino Bay St. Louis didnot resume until June 29, 2006 and 
August 31, 2006, respectively. Additionally, on March 20, 2009, Empress Casino Hotel was closed following a fire that staed in the 
land-bas pavilon at the facilty. On June 25, 2009, the casino barge was reopened with temporar land-based facilties. In addition, 
several of our casinos are subject to risks generally associated with the movement of vessels on inland waterways, including nsks of 
collsion or casualty due to river tubulence and trafc. Many of our casinos operate in areas which are subject to penodic flooding 
that has caused us to experience decreased attendace and increased operatig expenses. Any flood or other severe weather condition 
could lead to the loss of use of a casino facilty for an extended penod. 

The extent to which we can recover under our insurance policies for damages sustained at our propertes in the event of 
future inclement weather, casualty events and other conditions, as well as changes in the local gaming market as a result of 
future inclement weather, casualty events and other conditions could adversely affect our business. 

On August 28, 2005, we closed Hollywood Casino Bay St. Louis in Bay St. Louis, Mississippi and Boomtown Biloxi casino in 
Biloxi, Mississippi in anticipation of Hurcane Katrna. Due to the extensive damage sustained, operations at Boomtown Biloxi and 
Hollywood Casino Bay St. Louis did not resume until June 29, 2006 and August 31,2006, respecively. In addition, on March 20, 
2009, Empress Casino Hotel was closed followig a fire that staed in the land-based pavilon at the facilty. On June 25,2009, the 
casino barge was reopened with temporar land-based facilties. We maintain significant propert insurance, including business 
interrption coverage, for Hollywood Casino Bay St. Louis, Boomtown Biloxi and Empress Casino HoteL. However, there can be no 
assurances that we wil be fully or promptly compensated for losses relating to futue inclement weather, casualty events and other 
conditions at any of our facilties. Our expenence also demonstrates that the infrastrctre 
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damage caused by inclement weather, such as hurcanes, to the surrounding communities can adversely affect the local gaming 
markets by making travel and stag more diffcult.
 

We depend on agreements with our horsemen and pari-mutuel clerks. 

The Federal Interstate Horseracing Act of 1978, as amended, the West Virginia Racing Act and the Pennsylvania Racing Act 
require that, in order to simulcast races, we have wrtten agreements with the horse owners and trainers at our West Virginia and 
Pennsylvana race tracks. In addition, in order to operate gaming machines in West Virginia, we are required to enter into written 
agreements regarding the proceeds of the gaming machines with a representative of a majority of the horse owners and trainers, a 
representative of a majority of the par-mutuel clerks and a representative of a majority ofthe horse breeders. 

Effective October I, 2004, we signed an ageement with the Pennylvana Thoroughbred Horsemen at Penn National Race 
Course that expires on September 30, 201 i. At the Charles Town Entertainent Complex, we have an ageement with the Charles 
Town Horsemen with an intial term expirig on December 31,2011, and an ageement with the breeders that expires on June 30, 
2010. The pari-mutuel clerks at Charles Town are represented under a collective bargaining ageement with the West Virginia 
Division of Mutuel Clerks which expires on December 3 1,2010. Our ageement with the Maine Haress Horsemen Association at 
Bangor Raceway expires at the end of the 2011 racing season. Our ageement with the horsemen at Freehold Raceway expired in 
May 2009. The pares are curently working cooperatively on a thee-year extension, which is expected to be executed in due course. 

Ifwe fail to maintain operative ageements with the horsemen at a track, we wil not be permitted to conduct live racing and 
export and import simulcasting at that track and OTWs and, in West Virginia, we will not be permittd to operate our gaming 
machines. In addition, our simulcasting ageements are subject to the horsemen's approvaL. Ifwe fail to renew or modifY existing 
ageements on satisfactory terms, this failure could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

the capital and credit markets and adverse 
changes in the global economy may negatively impact our revenues and our abilty to access rlOancing. 

The recent downturn in the national economy, volatility and disruption of 


The recent economic downturn and adverse conditions in the local, regional, national and global markets have negatively 
affected our operations, and may continue to negatively affect our operations in the futue. The gaming and other leisure activities we 
offer represent discretionar expenditures and parcipation in such activities may decline durg economic downtus, during which 
consumers generally have less disposable income. As a result, our revenues from our operations attbutable to consumer spending 
levels may decrease while some of our costs remain fixed or even increae, resulting in decreased earnings. 

Furermore, while we intend to fiance expansion and renovation projects with existing cash, cash flow from operations and 
borrowing under our senior secured credit facilty, we may require additional fiancing to support our continued growth. However, 
due to the existing uncertinty in the capita and credit markets, our access to capital may not be available on terms acceptable to us or 

at all. Further, if adverse regional and national economic conditions persist or worsen, we could experience decreased revenues from 
our operations and could fail to satisfY the financial and other restrictive covenants to which we are subject under our existing 
indebtedness. 

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 

(a) An Annual Meeting of Shareholders was held on June 3, 2009. 

(b) Certn matrs voted upon at the Annual Meeting and the votes cast with respect to such matters are as follows:
 

Directors:(i) Election of 


Name Vote For Votes Witbbeld 

David A. Handler 52,614,239 22,904, I 02 

John M. Jacquemin 68,950,820 6,567,520 

(ii) Ratification of the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting fi for 2009: 

Votes For Votes Aiiainst Abstentions Broker Non- Votes 

75,407,152 91,232 19,956 o 

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS 

Exbibit Deription of Exbibit 



10.1 * Form of Restricted Stock Award for the Penn National Gamg, Inc. 2008 Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan 

31. * CEO Certification pursuant to rue 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
 

31.2* CFO Certification pursuant to rule 13a.l4(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
 

32.1 * CEO Certification pursuant to 18 D.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of2002. 

32.2* CFO Certification pursuant to 18 D.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of 	 the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002. 

* Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securties Exchange Act of 1934, the registrnt has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 

PENN NA TlONAL GAMIG, INC.
 

August 7, 2009 By:	 /s/ Wiliam J. Clifford 
Willam J. Clifford 
Senior Vice President Finance and Chief 
 Financial Offcer 
(Prncipal Financial Offcer and Principal Accounting 
Offcer) 
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EXHIBIT INDEX 

Exhibit Deription of Exhibit
 
10.1 * Form of Restricted Stock A ward for the Penn National Gaming, Inc. 2008 Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan 

31.* CEO Certfication pursuantto rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934. 

31.2* CFO Certification pursuant to rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934. 

32.1 * CEO Certfication pursuatto 18 D.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002. 

32.2* CFO Certification pursuant to 18 D.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002. 

* Filed herewith.
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Exhibit 10.1
 

PENN NATIONAL GAMING, INe.
 

NOTICE OF GRAT OF RESTRICTED STOCK
 

This is to notify you that an award of restricted shares of Common Stock of Penn National Gaming, Inc. (the 
"Company") has been grante pursuat to the Penn National Gaming, Inc. 2008 Long Tenn Incentive Compensation Plan, as follows: 

Name and Address of Grantee:
 

Date of Grant: ,20
 

Type of Grant: Restrcted Stock Award 

Number of shares: 

Fair market value per share: $ (as of the close of business on ) 

Total fair market value of award: $ (as of the close of business on ) 

Vesting Date( s )/Lapse of Restrictions: shares on Date of Grant)(lSI aniversar of 


shares on Date of Grant)(2nd aniversar of 


shares on Date of Grant)(3rd aniversar of 


shares on Date of Grant)(4th aniversar of 


OR 

shares on Date of Grant)(4th aniversar of 


shares on Date of Grant)(5th aniversary of 


The grant is subject to all the tenns and conditions of the Penn National Gamng, Inc. 2008 Long Tenn Incentive 
Compensation Plan, a copy of which is available upon request. 

GRANTEE 

Date: 

PENN NATIONAL GAMIG, INC. 

Date: 

By: Robert S. Ippolito 
Title: Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer
 



PENN NATIONAL GAMING, 1Ne.
 
RESTRICTED STOCK AWAR AGREEMENT
 

Al Restricted Stock is subject to the provisions ofthe 2008 Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan (the "Plan") and any 
rules and regulations established by the Compensation Committee ofthe Board of 
 Directors of 
 Penn National Gaming, Inc. A 
copy of the Plan is available upon request. Unless specifcally defined herein, words used herein with initial capitalied letters 
are defined in the attached Notice or the Plan. 

The terms provided herein are applicable to the Restricted Stock specifed in the attached Notice. Different terms may apply 
to any prior or future awards under the Plan. 

I. PAYMENT FOR SHARS 

No payment is required for the Restrcted Stock you receive. 

II. VESTING/LAPSE OF RESTRICTIONS
 

Vesting of Restrcted Stock means that the Restrcted Stock may no longer be forfeited in the event you have a termination of 
employment (see the discussion of Forfeitue below). The lapse of 
 restrictons meas that the stock is fully trsferable by you. Any 
stock for which the lapse of restrctions has not occured may not be sold, transferred, pledged or otherwise disposed of by you. 

The Restrcted Stock vests and the restrctions on transfer lapse in (25% installments on each of the first, second, third and fourt 
aniversares ofthe Date of Grant) OR (50% installments on each of the fourth and fifth aniversaries ofthe Date of Grant). If you 
cease to be employed by the Company and all Subsidiaries or serve as a Director of the Company, as the case may be, then all of the 
Restricted Stock that remains subject to restrction or vesting at such time shall be cancelled and forfeited except as otherwise 
provided for in the Plan or this Award Agreement. 

In addition, the Restricted Stock vests and the restrctions on trfer lapse as of the occurence of any of the following events: 

A. Your service as an Employee or Director of the Compay, as the case may be, terminates because of deah or 
Disabilty; or 

B. The Company is subject to a Change of Control (as defined in the Plan). 

No additional shares of Restrcted Stock vest after your service as an Employee or a Director ofthe Company, as the case may be, has 
terminated for any other reason. 

II. FORFEITUR
 

If your service as an Employee or Director of the Company, as the case may be, terminates for any reason (except as otherwise 
provided for in the Plan or this A ward Agreement), then your shares of Restricted Stock will be forfeited to the extent that they have 
not vestd before the termination date and do not vest as a result of the termination. This means that the Restrcted 



Stock wil immediately revert to the Company. You will receive no payment for shares of Restrcted Stock that are fodeited. 

IV. LEAVES OF ABSENCE
 

F or puroses of this grant, your service does not termate when you go on a leave of absence recognized under the Plan. Your 
service will terminate when the leave of absence ends, however, unless you imediately return to active work. 

V. STOCK CERTIFCATES
 

The Restrcted Stock, or any par thereof, may be represented by certficates or may be represented in the form of uncertificated 
shars. The rights and obligations ofthe holder of shares represented by a certificate and the rights and obligations of the holder of 
uncertificated shares of the same class and series shall be identical. Durg the Restrcted Period the shares underlying your Restricted 
Stock award will be held for you by the Company. After those shares have vested, those shares wil be released to you in the form of 
a stock certficate or uncertficated shars at your option. 

VI. VOTING AND DIVDEND RIGHTS
 

You may vote your Restrcted Stock and you wil receive any dividends paid with respect to your Restricted Stock even before they 
vest. Dividends with respect to your Restricted Stock wil be paid in a lump sum on the dates that dividends are payable on Common 
Stock ofthe Company to Company shareholders generally. 

VII. WITHHOLDING TAXES
 

No stock certificates wil be released or issued to you uness you have made acceptable arangements to pay any withholding taes 
that may be due as a result of ths grant or the vesting of the shares. Those arangements may include withholding shares of Company 
Common Stock that otherwise would be released to you when they vest. These arangements may also include surenderig shares of 
Company Common Stock that you already own. The fair market value of the shares you surender, determined as of the date when 
taxes otherwise would have been withheld in cash, will be applied as a credit against the withholding taxes. 

VLL. RESTRICTIONS ON RESALE
 

By signng this Agreement, you agree not to sell any shares at a time when applicable laws or Compay policies prohibit a sale. This 
restriction wil apply as long as you are an Employee or Director of the Company, as the case may be. 

IX. NO RIGHT TO CONTIUED SERVICE
 

A grt of Restrcted Stock does not give you the right to continue in service with the Company in any capacity. The Company 
reserves the right to terminate your services at any time, with or without cause, subject to any employment ageement or other 
contract. 



X. ADJUSTMENTS
 

In the event of a stock spli, a stock dividend or a similar change in Company Common Stock, the number of Restricted Shares that 
remain subject to forfeiture wil be adjusted accordingly. 

XI. APPLICABLE LAW
 

This Agreement will be interpreted and enforced under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, without regard to its choice of 
law provisions. 

XII. THE PLAN AND OTHER AGREEMENTS
 

The text of the Penn National Gaming, Inc. 2008 Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan is incorporated in this Agreement by 
reference. 

This Agreement and the Plan constitute the entie understadig between you and the Company regarding this grant. Any prior 
ageements, commitments or negotiations concerning this grant are superseded. This Agreement may be amended only by another 
wrtten ageement, signed by both paries. 

BY SIGNIG THE ATTACHED NOTICE,
 
YOU AGREE TO ALL OF THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

DESCRIBED ABOVE AND IN THE PLAN. 



Exhibit 31. 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

I, Peter M. Carlino, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this quarrly report on Form 10-Q of 	 Penn National Gaming, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not conta any untre statement of a matenal fact or omit to state a matenal fact 
necessar to make the staements made, in light of the circumtaces under which such statements were made, not misleading
 

with respect to the period covered by this report: 

3. Based on my knowledge, the fmancial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
matenal respects the fiancial condition, results of operations and cash flows ofthe registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying offcer and I are responsible for establishing and maintainig disclosure controls and
 

procedures (as defied in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over fmancial reportg (as
 

defmed in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrt and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
 

under our supervision, to ensure that material informaton relatig to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, parcularly during the penod in which this report is 
being prepared;
 

(b) Designed such internal control over fmancial reportg, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilty of fiancial reporting and the
 

preparation offmancial statements for externl puroses in accordace with generally accepted accounting pnnciples;
 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness ofthe registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the penod covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occured dunng the
 

registrant's most recent fiscal quaer that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant's internal control over fmancial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying offcer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
 

financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committe of the registrant's board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and matenal weakesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
 

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrt's abilty to record, process, sumarize and report 
fmancial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not matenal, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrt's internal control over fmancial reporting.
 

Date: August 7, 2009	 /s/ Peter M. Carlino 
Peter M. Carlino 

Executive OffcerChairman and Chief 




Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR ISd-14(a) OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHAGE ACT OF 1934 

I, Wiliam 1. Clifford, certifY that: 

1. I have reviewed this quarerly report on Form lO-Q of Penn National Gaming, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untre statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessar to make the statements made, in light of the circumstaces under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
matrial respects the fiancial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certfYing offcer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaning disclosure controls and
 

procedures (as defied in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over fiancial reportg (as
 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiares, is made known to us by others within those entities, parcularly durg the period in which this report is 
being prepared;
 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reportng, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regardig the reliabilty of fiancial reporting and the
 

preparation offinancial statements for external puroses in accordance with generally accepted accounting priciples; 

( c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrt's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedurs, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occured during the 
registrant's most recent fiscal quaer that has materially affectd, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant's internal control over financia reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifYing offcer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committe of the registrnt's board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakesses in the design or operation ofinternal control over financial
 

reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's abilty to record, process, sumarze and report 
fiancial infonnation; and
 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant's internal control over fiancial reporting. 

Date: August 7, 2009 /s/ Wiliam J. Clifford 
Willam 1. Clifford 
Senior Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Offcer 
(Pricipal Financial Ofcer and Prncipal Accounting Offcer) 



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARANS-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
 

In connection with the Quarrly Report of Penn National Gaming, Inc. (the "Company") on F onn 10-Q for the quarer ended 
June 30, 2009, as filed with the Securties and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Peter M. Carlino, Chief 
Executive Offcer of the Company, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of2002, 18 V.S.C. Section 1350 that, 
to my knowledge: 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements ofSecton 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securties Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended; and 

2. The infonnation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the fmancial condition and result of 
operations ofthe Company. 

/s/ Peter M. Carlino 
Peter M. Carlino 
Chairm and Chief Executive Offcer 
August 7, 2009 



Exhibit 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, 

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 

In connecton with the Quarerly Report of Penn National Gaming, Inc. (the "Company") on Form lO-Q for the quarer ended 
June 30, 2009, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof(the "Report"), I, Wiliam J. Clifford, Chief 
Financial Offcer of the Company, certifY, pursuant to Section 906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 V.S.C. Section 1350 that, to 
my knowledge: 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securties Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended; and
 

2. The information contaned in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the fiancial condition and result of 
operations ofthe Company. 

/s/ Wiliam 1. Clifford 
Wiliam J. Clifford 
Senior Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Offcer 
(Pnncipal Financial Offcer and Pnncipal Accounting Offcer) 
August 7, 2009 

Created by MorningstarÆ Document Research'" 
htlp:lldocumentresearch. morninastar. com 
Source: PENN NATIONAL GAMING INC, 10-Q, August 07,2009 



Ballard SpalM-

17)5 Marker Screer. 5's( floor

Philadelphia. PA '9103-7599

TEL 215.665.8500

FAX 2lj.864.8999

"'"Nwballardspahr.com

February 11,2011

Via E-mail

u.s. Securities and Exchange Commission
Division of Corporation Finance
Office of Chief Counsel
100 F Street, N.E.
Washington, D.C. 20549

Justin P. Klein
Direct 215.8648606
Fax: 215.864.91 (,()

kleinj@ballardspahr.com

Re: Shareholder Proposal of UNITE HERE Pursuant to Rule 14a-8 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The purpose of this letter is to advise the staff of the Division of Corporation Finance (the "Staff') of
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") that our client, Penn National Gaming,
Inc. (the "Company"), intends to omit from its proxy statement and form of proxy for its 2011
Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the "2011 Proxy Materials") a proposal (the "Proposal") received
from UNITE HERE (the "Proponent"). The Company respectfully requests that the Staff concur
with the Company's view that, for the reasons stated below, it may exclude the Proposal from its
20 11 Proxy Materials.

In accordance with Staff Legal Bulletin No. 14D (November 7,2008), this letter is being submitted
by email toshareholderproposals@sec.gov.InaccordancewithRuleI4a-8(j).this letter is being
submitted not less than eighty (80) days before the Company files its definitive 2011 Proxy Materials
with the Commission. A copy of this letter and its attachments is being mailed to the Proponent as
notice of the Company's intent to omit the Proposal from the Company's 2011 Proxy Materials. The
Company will promptly forward to the Proponent any response to this no-action request that the Staff
transmits by email or facsimile transmission to the Company only.

PROPOSAL

The Company received the Proposal on December 30, 20 IO. The Proposal requests that the
Company amend its bylaws to require that the Company's directors be elected by a majority of the
votes cast by the Company's shareholders in the election of directors. A copy of the Proposal and
related correspondence with the Proponent is attached to this letter as Exhibit A.

For the convenience of the Staff, the text of the Proposal is set forth below:
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Shareholder Proposal to Adopt a Majority Vote Standard in Director Elections 

RESOLVED, that the shareholders of Penn National Gaming, Inc. (the "Company") recommend that 
the Board of Directors take the steps necessary to amend the Company's bylaws to provide that 
director nominees shall be elected by the affirmative vote of the majority of votes cast at an annual 
meeting of shareholders, with a plurality vote standard retained for contested director elections, that 
is, when the number of director nominees exceeds the number of board seats. 

The supporting statement is continued on Exhibit A. 

GROUNDS FOR EXCLUSION 

The Proposal should be excluded under Rule 14a-8(i)(4) because the Proposal relates to the redress 
of the Proponent's personal claims and grievances against the Company, which are not shared by 
other shareholders at large. 

BACKGROUND 

The Company believes the Proposal to amend the Company's bylaws to require that directors be 
elected by majority vote is entirely unrelated to the Proponent's status as a shareholder of the 
Company, but rather it is merely a disguised attempt in a long and ongoing series of calculated 
actions by the Proponent (an extremely aggressive labor union) to pressure the Company into 
agreeing to a demand for a "card check" arrangement with the Proponent. The card check 
arrangement, if adopted, would enable the Proponent to represent most of the Company's employees, 
without giving the employees an opportunity to participate in a traditional secret ballot election 
(where the employees could intelligently and privately detennine whether they want, or will benefit 
from, union representation). The Proponent would derive material economic benefits if the Company 
capitulates to the ongoing harassment and agrees to the card check arrangement by collecting 
substantial additional union dues revenue from such representation. Notably, the Company is not an 
anti-union organization. The Company's employees are represented by a number of unions with 
which the Company has well-established and cooperative relationships across the country, including 
agreements with the Seafarers Entertainment and Allied Trade Union, the United Food and 
Commercial Workers, the Security Police and Fire Professionals of America, the International 
Brotherhood of Electronic Workers, the American Maritime Officers Union, the West Virginia 
Union of Mutuel Clerks, and even affiliates of the Proponent - UNlTE/HERE Local I and 
UNITE/HERE Local 10. 

Beginning over five years ago, the Proponent has repeatedly demanded that the Company agree to 
regional or national card check arrangements. Based on the Company's belief that this card check 
arrangement, where unionized status is essentially imposed on employees, would ultimately prove 
contrary to the best mterests of the shareholders and the employees, the Company has refused to 
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agree to such a framework. In response to the Company's refusal and despite the Company's
consistent efforts to foster positive employee relations, the Proponent has continually targeted the
Company for a corporate campaign. In particular, D. Taylor, head of the Proponent's gaming
division, noted "that a nationwide campaign against the Penn-National gaming company is in the
works, which would involve 10,000 workers in over five states.") As a result, the current Proposal
must be viewed in the context of this particular ulterior motive and the Proponent's similarly
egregious conduct directed against other gaming and lodging companies.

In waging its corporate campaign to pressure the Company into agreeing to the card check
arrangement, the Proponent has undertaken a number of activities intended to (a) interfere with the
Company's growth and expansion plans, including by testifYing against the Company's plans at state
legislative hearings, (b) pressure and harass the Company by mailing letters to regulatory authorities,
and (c) force the Company to expend time and resources to address shareholder proposals that are not
motivated by the Proponent's desire to protect and enhance the interests of shareholders, but rather
used as a pressure tactic. Unfortunately, all of these actions have damaged, or have the potential to
significantly damage, shareholder value. Further, the Proponent has stated to certain senior officers
of the Company (in no uncertain terms) its intention to continue the harassment until the Company
agrees to the card check arrangement. These actions include the following:

• In a 2005 meeting in King of Prussia, Pennsylvania, between the Vice President and
Deputy General Counsel of the Company and the Eastern Regional Head of the
Proponent, the Eastern Regional Head of the Proponent stated that the Company was
a target for the Proponent's card check plans and that the Proponent would not stop
the campaign until the card check arrangement is accepted by the Company.

• Following the Company's rejection of the card check demand, the Proponent became
a shareholder of the Company in September 2006 with the purchase of 135 shares,
thereby expanding the Proponent's available pressure tactics by enabling it to attend
shareholder meetings and access the shareholder proposal process with a relatively
minimal investment.

• In July 2007, the Proponent attempted to persuade the lllinois Gaming Board not to
permit the Company to retain ownership of the Empress Casino following a merger.

• In November 2007, the Proponent testified at a legislative committee hearing in
favor of introducing gaming in Maryland, but against the Company's site being
included in that legislation.

Randy Shaw, AFL-CIO Condemns SEIU Raids on UNITE HERE, July 1,2009 (available at
http://www,beyondchron.org/articles/AFL_CIO_Condemns_SHU_Raids_on_UNITE_HER
E_7093.html) (see Exhibit B).
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• During a July 2008 meeting in Atlantic City, New Jersey, between the Company's
President and Chief Operating Officer, the Company's Senior Vice President Human
Resources, the Company's Vice President and Deputy General Counsel, and an
executive of the Proponent, the Proponent took credit for defeating the Company's
county-wide campaign to permit table games at its facility in West Virginia. The
voters subsequently approved table games for the Company's Charles Town facility,
but only after years of lost revenue for the Company as well as several hundred
fewer well-paying jobs and the loss of associated tax revenue for the community.

• During the same July 2008 meeting, the Proponent confirmed its intention to
continue its corporate campaign against the Company until such time as the card
check demand is accepted. In fact, shortly thereafter, the Proponent attempted to
derail a large scale development project being planned by the Company for Atlantic
City.

• ill December 2008, the Proponent submitted a shareholder proposal for the
Company's 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which was subsequently
withdrawn, requesting that the Company's shareholder rights plan be withdrawn.
The timing of the withdrawal coincided with the well-publicized and documented
internal disputes of the Proponent regarding the failure of its most recent merger to
boost membership and dues and the corresponding financial distress.2

.

• In December 2009, the Proponent submitted a successful shareholder proposal for
the Company's 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, requesting that the Company
de-classify its board of directors into one class with each director elected annually.

• During early 2010, the Proponent continued its attempts to disrupt the Company's
growth activities by demanding that the Company execute an extremely one-sided
neutrality agreement in connection with the opening of a new gaming facility in
Maryland. The Proponent made this demand despite knowing that the Company had
already executed a balanced agreement with a local, credible union coalition
comprised of SEATU (a Maryland-based union and subsidiary of the Seafarer's
union with whom the Company has a national relationship) and the UFCW Local 27
(a Maryland-based union with membership in excess of25,000 workers in the
region). Significantly, the Company offered but the Proponent rejected the same

The Proponent recently experienced severe financial, membership, and leadership issues.
See Steven Greenhouse, Two Unions in Marriage Now Face Divorce Talks, THE NEW YORK
TIMES, February 8, 2009 (see Exhibit C). The Proponent's card check demand is an attempt
by the Proponent to resolve these ongoing financial and membership issues.
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neutrality agreement signed by SEATU and the UFCW because it would have 
prohibited the national harassment tactics the Proponent has repeatedly employed. 

• 	 Following the Proponent's rejection of the neutrality agreement, the Proponent 
attempted to persuade the Maryland State Lottery Commission that the Company 
was acting in violation of applicable gaming law, despite the Company's clear 
willingness to offer the Proponent the same terms agreed to with other union 
organizations. 

• 	 Failing to persuade the Maryland State Lottery Commission and following a private 
election by employees overwhelmingly accepting SEATU and UFCW as their labor 
representatives, the Proponent focused inordinate efforts on disrupting this small 
facility (less than 200 union members) by picketing the facility opening and by 
contacting employees at home (following an intrusive Freedom ofInformation Act 
request designed to obtain personal information about facility employees). 

• 	 On December 30, 2010, the Proponent submitted the Proposal for the Company's 
2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders within days of its filing of an unfair labor 
practice claim in Maryland. 

Tn addition to the foregoing destructive actions, the Company has received a number of candid 
reports from employees that representatives of the Proponent have been involved in aggressive 
recruiting and harassment of the Company's employees, including repeated and unwelcome home 
visits, physically intimidating conduct, late night phone calls and recruiters posing as government 
officials in order to create additional support for the Proponent and the card check arrangement. 

As stated above, the Company believes that these activities have been designed solely to further the 
Proponent's private agenda of increasing its membership ranks by threatening to undennine the 
Company's growth-all at the expense of shareholder value which the Proponent purports to want to 
maximize. 

For the reasons indicated above, the Company believes that the Proponent's Proposal is simply 
another attempt to assert pressure on the Company to agree to the Proponent's card check demands. 

ANALYSIS 

Rule 14a-8(i)(4) permits a company to exclude a shareholder proposal from its proxy materials if the 
proposal "relates to the redress of a personal claim or grievance against the company or any other 
person, or if it is designed to result in a benefit to [a proponent], or to further a personal interest, 
which is not shared by the other shareholders at large (emphasis added)." The Commission has 
stated that rule is intended to prevent abuse of the Rule l4a-8 shareholder proposal process by 
excluding proposals seeking personal interests that are not necessarily in the common interest of the 
other shareholders. See Exchange Act Release No. 34-20091 (August 16, 1983). The Commission 
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also noted that a proposal may be excluded even if drafted in a manner that might relate to matters of 
general interest to all, if it is demonstrated by the facts that the proponent is using the proposal to 
further a personal interest. See Exchange Act Release No. 34-20091 (August 16, 1983). As 
explained below, the Proponent's Proposal meets the definition of personal grievance as established 
by previous no-action letters and therefore may be omitted from the Company's 2011 Proxy 
Materials. 

As noted above, the Proposal represents the latest attempt by the Proponent to pressure the Company 
into agreeing to the Proponent's card check demand. Although the Proposal purports to focus on the 
Company's corporate governance in a general manner, the Proponent's recent conduct, almost 
immaterial number of shares owned, and long history of attacks on the Company demonstrate that 
the Proposal is designed solely for the benefit of the Proponent and is part and parcel to its long­
standing and well-documented campaign against the Company. Collectively, these actions 
demonstrate that the Proponent's campaign represents a national attack against the Company with the 
purpose of gaining leverage in its efforts to institute the card check anangement with the Company. 

The Staff has granted no-action letters where, as in this case, a proposal was viewed as another 
attempt in a series of actions intended to harass the issuer. Specifically, in a situation remarkably 
similar to this one, the Staff permitted an issuer's exclusion of a union's proposal relating to 
executive compensation where the proposal was another attempt to harass the issuer in order to gain 
leverage in its ongoing collective bargaining negotiations. See Dow Jones & Company, 111C. (January 
24, 1994). In Dovv Jones, the proponent engaged in a variety of harassing actions with the purpose of 
inducing the company to enter into a collective bargaining agreement on terms favorable to the 
proponent. The Proponent's Proposal is analogous to the proposal in Dow Jones as the Proposal is 
merely another attempt in a series of actions intended to pressure the Company into agreeing to the 
Proponent's card check arrangement masquerading as a corporate governance issue. See Dow Jones 
& Company, hlc. (January 24, 1994); Cabot Corporation (December 3, 1992). 

In Exchange Act Release 34-19135, the Commission explained that a proposal is also excludable 
under Rule 14a-8(i)(4) ifit is used to give the proponent some particular benefit or to accomplish 
objectives particular to the proponent. See Southern Company (March 19, 1990) (allowing the 
exclusion of a proposal requiring the company to form a shareholder committee to investigate 
complaints against management, the proponent of which was a disgruntled former employee who had 
raised numerous claims during the prior seven years and had sent the company more than 40 letters, 
faxes, requests, and proposals seeking redress for his personal grievance); International Business 
Machines Corp. (December 12,2005); Morgan Stanley (January 14, 2004); General Electric 
Company (January 9, 2006); General Electric Company (January 12,2007). In this case, the 
Proposal is designed to further the personal interest and financial aspirations of the Proponent, which 
is not shared with the other shareholders at large. In particular, the Proponent seeks to pressure the 
Company into agreeing to the card check arrangement from which the Proponent would benefit by 
garnering substantial additional union dues revenue from the representation of thousands of 
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additional Company employees. 3 The facts presented above establish that the Proponent has no
interest in increasing shareholder value, as evidenced by its actions that either harmed or attempted to
harm shareholder value, including its successful campaign to prevent slot machines from being added
to the Company's Maryland racing facility, its campaign to delay table games in West Virginia, and
its efforts to stop the Company from retaining Empress Casino in Illinois.

The Proponent's conduct must be viewed against the context of its national campaign against the
Company and a variety of other gaming companies. The Proponent has engaged in similar and well­
documented campaigns (see Exhibit D) against Pinnacle Entertainment, Inc., Revel Entertainment
Group, LLC, and Tropicana Entertainment. These campaigns constitute a concerted effort to gain
leverage in order to induce the companies to agree to a card check alTangement. This pattern of
harassing behavior directed against several gaming companies establishes that the Proponent's true
motivation relates to a personal benefit (more union dues and members to support its base) and is not
intended to benefit the Company's shareholders at large or to increase shareholder value.

In addition, the Staff has consistently taken the position that "the shareholder process may not be
Llsed as a tactic to redress a personal grievance, even if a proposal is drafted in such a manner that it
could be related to a matter of general interest." See Core Industries, Inc. (November 23, 1982) (the
proposal is being used as one of many tactics designed to assist the proponent union to obtain union
representation); Pyramid Technology Corporation (November 4, 1994) (the proposal, while drafted
to address a specific consideration, appears to be one in a series of steps relating to the long-standing
grievance against the company by the proponent); CSX Corporation (February 5, 1998) (proposal
from terminated employee seeking to institute a system-wide formal grievance procedure excluded
because it related to the redress of a personal claim or grievance); ConocoPhillips (March 7, 2008);
ConocoPhillips (March 23, 2005); General Electric Company (January 12,2007); General Electric
Company (January 9, 2006); MGM Mirage (March 19,2001); Exxon Mobil Corporation (March 5,
2001); US West, Inc. (February 22, 1999); u.s. West. Inc. (December 2, 1998); Station Casinos, Inc.
(October 15, 1997); International Business Machines Corporation (January 31, 1995); Baroid
Corporation (February 8, 1993); Westinghouse Electric Corporation (December 6, 1985);
International Business Machines Corporation (December 18,2002); Philips Petroleum Company
(March 12, 2001); The Southern Company (December 10, 1999); The Southern Company (February
12, 1999); Sara Lee Corporation (August 10,2001). Similarly, the Commission has recognized that
where: "(i) a proponent has a history of confrontation with a company and (ii) that history is
indicative of a personal claim or grievance" a proposal may be excluded even though on its face, the

In light of the Proponent's recent financial, membership, and leadership issues discussed
above, it appears to be critical for the Proponent to increase its dues revenue. This fact may
further illustrate the Proponent's real motive in pressuring the Company to accede to its card
check demand. The Proponent's card check demand is an attempt by the Proponent to
resolve these ongoing financial and membership issues.
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proposal does not reveal the underlying dispute. International Business Machines CO/poration. 
(December 28, 2010). 

As in each of these cases, while the Proposal may on its face implicate a matter of general interest to 
the Company's shareholders, the Proponent is clearly using the Proposal as a tactic to seek redress 
for its personal grievance. The fact that the Proponent only became a de minimis shareholder after 
the Company refused to agree to the card check arrangement indicates that the Proponent merely 
became a shareholder so that it may harass the Company through the additional mechanisms made 
available to shareholders, such as the shareholder proposal process. Furthermore, the Proponent's 
supporting statement, which relies on specific executive compensation matters unrelated to its 
majority voting proposal, demonstrates that the Proposal is intended only to achieve the Proponent's 
personal goal of pressuring the Company into the card check arrangement rather than a corporate 
governance change. 

For the reasons indicated above, the Company believes that the Proponent's Proposal is simply 
another attempt to exert pressure on the Company in order to redress and pursue a personal 
grievance, particular to the Proponent, and is therefore excludable under Rule 14a-8(i)(4). 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing analysis, we respectfully request that the Staff confirn1 that it will take no 
enforcement action if the Company excludes the Proposal from its 2011 Proxy Materials for the 
reasons set forth above. 

The Proponent is respectfully requested to copy the undersigned on any responses it may elect to 
make to the Commission. The Company would be pleased to provide the Staff with any additional 
information, and answer any questions regarding this letter. Please do not hesitate to contact me at 
215.864.8606 if you require additional inforn1ation or want to discuss this letter further. 

Thank you for your attention to this matter. 

Justin P. Klein 

.IPK/ls 

cc:	 	 Jordan B. Savitch, General Counsel 
Carl Sottosanti, Deputy General Counsel 
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UNIT HEREI
LOCAL 2262

Kate O'Neil
Research Analyst

UNITE HERE
P.O. Box 667

Tunica, MS 38676
Tel: (662) 363.1882
Fax: (662) 363-3642
konell@unltehere.org

December 30, 2010

Robert S. Ippolito
Secretary
Penn National Gaming, Inc.
825 Berkshire Boulevard, Suite 200
Wyomissing, Pennsylvania 19610

By Certified Mail and Facsimile

Dear Mr. Ippolito:

I am submitting the enclosed stockholder proposal by UNITE HERE for inclusion in the proxy
statement and form ofproxy relating to the 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders oJ Penn National
Gaming, Inc., pursuant to Rule 14a-8.

I am the authorized agent ofUNITE HERE, which has continuously held 135 shares of the Company's
securities entitled to be voted on the proposal at the meeting for at least one year as dfthe date of
submitting the proposal. I also wish to affirm that UNITE HERE intends to hold thelsame shares
continuously through the date of the Company's 2011 Annual Meeting ofStockholdelrs. We will be in
attendance to present our proposal at the 2011 Annual Meeting.

Ifyou need to reach me regarding this proposal, please use the contact information der my name
above. Thank you for your attention to this matter.

Sincerely,

Y;J.t ~ 1f~
{~~OINei1
Research Analyst

Enclosure: Stockholder Proposal by UNITE HERE

PO Box 667 • 1196 Main StrlHlt
TunIca, MS 38876
662-363·1882 • 662·363·3842 fax

152 Oak Street
Biloxi, MS 39530

228-374,Or47 • 228-374-G1!O fax
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Shareholder Proposal to Adopt a Majority Vote Standard in Director Elections

IaJ 003/004

RESOLVED, that the shareholders ofPenn National Gaming, Inc. (the "Company") recommend
that the Board ofDirectors take the steps necessary to amend the Company's bylaws to provide
that director nominees shall be elected by the affirmative vote oithe majority ofvotes cast at an
annual meeting ofshareholders, with a plurality vote standard retained for contested director
elections, that is, when the nwnber of director nominees exceeds the number ofboard seats.

Supporting Statement
We believe that the accountability of the board ofdirectors to its shareholders is integral to the
success of our Company. The election of directors is a fundamental right of shareholders.
However when directors are elected using a plurality vote standard, as is used by our Company,
director elections are less meaningful.

Under the plurality vote standard, a nominee for the board can be elected with as little as a single
vote, even ifa substantial majority ofthe votes cast are "withheld" from the nominee. For this
reason, we believe that plurality voting should only be used in contested director elections. We
recommend that our Company change its director election vote standard to a majority "Vote
standard, under which a director must receive a majority ofthe votes castlo be elected.
Furthermore we recommend that the Board adopt a director resignation policy requiring that
directors who do not receive the required vote for election submit their resignation.

This proposal topic has gained widespread support among investors. The proxy advisory
service, ISS, reports that this proposal received majority support among shareholders voting on
the topic in each ofthe past three years. We believe increased accountability is especially
needed at our Company.

Directors Tied to Executives
Several directors have longstanding ties to the CEO and his family. Cramer is a trustee ofthe
Carlino Family Trust and has sat with PeterD. Carlino on two additional boards. Levy's
businesses have bred three race horses with Peter Carlino. Jacquemin was employed by the
Carlino Family Corporation in the 19708.

Enessive Compensation
Penn's directors remain the highest paid directors ofpublicly traded gaming companies. In
2009, Peter M. Carlino received over $6 million in total compensation. Base salaries for two
executives are above the tax deductible cap of$l million. The personal air travel ofexecutives
cost our Company over $267,000 in 2009. Tax gross~tips are provided for certain payments to
executives. .

Windfall to E:lecutives with a Change in Control
Penn maintains a single trigger change in control payment that generously pays executives three
times their annual base salary and annual cash bonus in the event of a change in control without
requiring a subsequent teID'lination to receive paynient. The proxy advisory service, ISS, has
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recommended withhold votes for Directot:S Shattu~k and Handler, because ofthe single trigger
arrangement. Both have received substantial withhold votes in recent elections.

We urge shareholders to vote FOR this proposal.

r·· .. -



January 13,2011

Kate O'Neil
Research Analyst
UNITE HERE
P.O. Box 667
Tunica, MS 38676

RE: Penn National Gaming, Inc. Shareholder Proposal - Notice of Eligibility
Deficiency

Dear Ms. O'Neil:

I am writing in response to your letter dated December 30, 2010 enclosing a shareholder
proposal that you wish to have included in the proxy statement for the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders of Penn National Gaming, Inc. to be held in 2011.

You state in your letter that UNITE HERE is the holder of 135 shares ofPenn National Gaming,
Inc. securities. Pursuant to Rule 14a~8(b)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, you are
required to submit a written statement from your broker with your proposal verifying the number
of shares of Penn National Gaming, Inc. common stock that you have held for at least one year
before the date on which you submitted your proposal (a "Broker Statement"), unless the shares
are held of record by UNITE HERE. Our record of shareholders as of December 3], 2010 does
not reflect UNITE HERE as a holder of Penn National Gaming, Inc. common stock.

Pursuant to Rule 14a-8(t)(1), you have fourteen (14) calendar days from the date of your receipt
of this letter to provide to us with a Broker Statement. Ifyou fail to meet this eligibility
requirement as outlined above, Penn National Gaming, Inc. may exclude your proposal from the
proxy statement and form ofproxy for its 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

I look forward to your response to this letter. If you have any questions, I can be reached at 610­
378-8384.

__Very- . ly yours, :b
C_ t9d~-f- //~ I'-

obert S. IppolitoZ!f'
ecretary

... 825 Berkshire Boulevard ., Wyomissing, PA 19610 '" 610.373.2400 +



UNITE HEREI
LOCAL 2262

Kate O'Neil
Research Analyst

UNITE HERE
P.O. Box 667

Tunica, MS 38676
Tel: (662) 363-1882
Fax: (662) 363-3642

koneil@unitehere.org

January 26,2010

Robert S. Ippolito
Secretary
Penn National Gaming, Inc.
825 Berkshire Boulevard, Suite 200
Wyomissing, Pennsylvania 19610

By E-mail.and Facsimile

Re: Shareholder Proposal ofUNITE HERE for Penn National Gaming, Inc. 's 2011 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders

Dear Mr. Ippolito:

As stated in the letter enclosed with our shareholder proposal, UNITE HERE has continuously held 135
shares ofPenn National Gaming, Inc.'s securities entitled to be voted on the proposal at the meeting for
at least one year as ofthe date of submitting the proposal. At no time in the past year has the value of
UNITE HERE's holdings in the Company dropped below $2,000. We intend to hold the shares at least
until the date of the 2011 Annual Meeting.

Enclosed is the letter from our broker confinning UNITE HERE's ownership of shares in Penn National
Gaming, Inc. In addition, I am faxing copies ofmonthly broker statements reporting our ownership of
shares in the Company for the twelve months prior to our proposal submission.

If you have additional questions regarding our ownership of the requisite number of shares, you may
contact James McClelland, our broker:

James McClelland
Morgan Stanley Smith Barney
590 Madison Avenue
11 th Floor
New York, NY 10022
(800) 544-1544



Or you may contact Marty Leary, UNITE HERE's Deputy Director ofCapital Stewardship: 

Marty Leary 
UNITE HERE 
1775 K St. NW, Ste. 620 
Washington, DC 20006 
540-631-9404 - direct 
703-608-9428 - cell 

Sincerely, 

Kate O'Neil 
Research Analyst 

cc: Andrew Kahn, Marty Leary, James McClelland 

Enclosure 



Fax sent h!:J 12123872925

1boD12S J. Waper
fim Vice PreidCllt
Complex Rj~k Office,

590 Madison AnnUl:
lllh Floor
N<,w York. NY 10022
direct 2123156.357
f.lx 212 30729i.S
ron r{(:{; SOO 468 0019
rhllln<i.~.j.W<lgn.r(~mssb.com

Unitehere, Inc.
Attn: Marty Leary
1775 K Street, NW
Suite 620
Washington, D.C. 20006-1530

Dear Mr. Leary:

TOM WAGtlER B1-25-11 B4:12p Pg: 2,2

MorganStanley
SmithBarney

January 24,2011

Please be advised that Morgan StanleySmith Barney holds 135 shares ofPenn
National Gaming ("Company") common stock beneficialty for the Unitehere, Inc.
account  Stock ~'aS purchased on the following date: 9/22/06, and is still long
in the account as ofJanuary 24, 2011.

If yon have any questions please feel free to contact me at 212-315-6357.

?i:iJ-
Tom Wagner

***FISMA & OMB Memorandum M-07-16*** 
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March 22, 2010

Pinnacle Entertainment, Inc. (NYSE: PNK)

Tough Love
Pinnacle Entertainment's fleet of riverboat casinos faces fierce headwinds from regulators, lenders,

and investors and a tide of weak consumer spending. Many of the Company's problems are self­

inflicted. While the Company seems to lack the ability to admit its problems, other stakeholders have

recently administered some tough love. Will Pinnacle get back on course?

The Company bet big on St. Louis. Days before he quit, ex-CEO Dan Lee promised the Company

would triple earnings and derive half its cash from the Gateway City. But as the Company opened its

newest area casino on March 4, it's doubtful that its ambitious goals can be realized.

• The Company's new River City Casino is located closer to 57% of the adult population that was
formerly closest to its own Lumiere Place;

• The River City Casino takes Lumiere Place's best customers: its neighboring population has 71%

higher median incomes and one quarter the unemployment rate than that of Lumiere Place.

The following market analysis suggests much of Pinnacle's gains at River City Casino could come

mainly at the expense of its own existing casino. These trends could worsen following the Missouri

Gaming Commission's revocation of Pinnacle's third St. Louis casino license and if the Commission

grants it to a developer seeking to build another competing casino in north St. Louis County.

Meanwhile, jitters about Pinnacle's future are spreading among other stakeholders. On February 8,

the Company announced it had finally amended its expiring bank credit facility, but the news was not

good:

• The banks cut the Company's line of credit in half;

• The agreement restricts the Company's ability to borrow additional money in the bond market;

and,

• The deal slams the brakes on the two Louisiana casino projects for which the Company has

made promises to Louisiana regulators but admits it does not have funding.

The Company is also in battle with federal officials who issued a formal complaint against the

Company on January 28. The same day, Missouri gaming regulators resolved to revoke one of the

Company's valuable casino licenses for, among other allegations, activity that "reflects negatively on

the repute of the state of Missouri or acts as a detriment to the gaming industry." On February 5, the

Company said it would sell the corporate jet, but the banks said the sale proceeds must go to

repaying its debt. Stakeholders have to ask, when will Pinnacle get back on course? Read on for

more detail and stay tuned for pending updates.

UNITE HERE is the hospitality workers union that represents workers in the gaming industry across the
country. The Research Department provides research on the gaming industry from the perspective of
those who work in the industry.



Figure 2 Market Areas after River City

Figure 1 Market Areas before River City

Located in a densely populated portion of the city, Pinnacle's

Lumiere Place Casino in downtown had been the closest

casino for 41 % of the area adult population, a proximity that

conveyed considerable-though short-lived-competitive

advantage. (Figure 1) The outer circle in the adjacent maps

draws a radius twenty miles from the closest casino and

encompasses 90% of the total metropolitan population. The

interior lines (called Thiessen Polygons or market catchment

areas) divide the areas closest to each of the six existing St.
Louis casinos.;

Same Pie, Smaller Slices
Two new St. Louis casinos will dramatically shrink the
geographic customer base at Pinnacle's downtown Lumiere

Place Casino: Pinnacle's own River City Casino opened in

south St. Louis County on March 4,2010; a competitor casino '~F-----~;>~~........~,.",*", _

in north St. Louis County is proposed.

Opened March 4 in south St. Louis, Pinnacle's River City

Casino is the market's seventh. As depicted in Figure 2, River

City's southern location and proximity to downtown cuts off

Lumiere's access to customers from the entire southern

portion of its current market area.
/'

• The Company's new River City Casino is closer to 57% of .J
the adult population that was formerly in Lumiere Place's

back yard.

While River City Casino is closer to some of Harrah's St.

Charles Casino customers and so could take a bite out of its

market share, its greatest impact will be on Pinnacle's own

casino. Lumiere. River City is closer for half of Lumiere's adult

population.

The proposed "Riverview Casino" in Spanish Lake (Figure 3)

would be located about halfway along a direct line between

Lumiere Place and Argosy Alton and would further reduce the

Lumiere Place share of the metropolitan adult population by

another 16%.

Reduced adult populations are not the only effect.

Demographic differences between downtown St. Louis and

southern St. Louis and Jefferson Counties will also alter

Lumiere's customer base. Presented in figures 4-6, the

addition of River City and the proposed Riverview casinos will Figure 3 Market Areas after Riverview
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•

change the demographic profile of customers

whose closest casino is Lumiere Place:

After
Riverview

After River
City

Before
River City

they will have lower incomes; and.

Fewer people live nearest to Lumiere Place;

I-:-~;~~~;~:~:;t-;:;u;~:~· ..... -
! 800,000
I 600,000

I 400,000

I
200,000

a greater percentage will beunemployed.~-

River City is located in a more dynamic area: its I
population grew by 1% between 2000 and 20061
while the downtown population in the area"
around Lumiere Place fell by 5% in the same Figure 4 Changes in Lumiere Place Population

period.

•

•

•

•

• The River City area had a 4% unemployment rate compared to 13% around Lumiere Place.

r~-·----·~---~·------·-·~-··-··-_·~---·--~--·-·-·----·--"---'-'--'-'--~'--'~l

J fI Median Family Income i
I I
i I
I $60,000 i
i I
I $40,000 - ..--.-------..------- .. - I

$20,000 I
$0 --,---

At $59,861 per year, River City's area median

family income was 71 % higher than the

estimated $37,499 for the area around Lumiere

Place.

•

In November 2009, the St. Louis County Council

approved a rezoning as partial approval of a casino

proposal for north St. Louis County near Spanish

Lake. The proposed Riverview Casino would
f ft ifurther reduce the adult population whose closest Be ore A er River After I

casino is Lumiere Place by 42,000 or 16%. Median i River City City Riverview!
Family income in the area near the proposed L ._._.__.__ _ ........i

Riverview Casino in Figure 3 is 29% higher than at Figure 5 Changes in Lumiere Place Median Income

Lumiere Place. The unemployment rate near Riverview Casino was 6.2%, half that of Lumiere, after

taking the newly adjusted market areas into

account.
Unemployment rate

Figure 6 Changes in Lumiere Place Unemployment

On January 28 2010, the National Labor Relations

Board issued formal complaints that escalate a

simmering labor dispute involving all of Pinnacle's

properties in St Louis.

The Board's complaint alleges that Lumiere and

Pinnacle's President Casino have engaged in unfair

labor practices, including "interfering with,

restraining, and coercing employees" in their

exercise of the rights guaranteed by national labor

law. Additionally, the Board alleges that Pinnacle

15.0%

10.0% .f-- _ .•.- -.•.

5.0%

0.0%

Before River After River
City City

After
Riverview
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further violated federal labor law by "refusing to bargain collectively and in good faith" with employees.;i

Potential financial remedies for the federal complaint include backpay and compounded interest.

Pinnacle has denied the allegations and has hired one of the world's largest and most expensive law

firms to defend it.

Lenders Impose Tough Love
On February 8, 2010, Pinnacle announced a deal to amend and restate its expiring credit agreement,

cutting its line of credit in half from $750 million to $375 million. In addition, the revised credit agreement

created new restrictions on the Company's ability to fuel its proposed expansions in Louisiana.

The credit facility limits the amount of senior unsecured debt to $900 million, unless the Company's

consolidated total leverage ratio is less than 6.00 to 1.00. Deutsche Bank Securities put the Company's

ratio at 6.6 to 1.00 in its February 8, 2010 weekly industry report. In its last quarterly report, the

Company reported $168 million in annual EBITDA and roughly $1 billion in debt, a maxed-out 6.0 to 1.0

ratio that does not take into account the planned additional borrowing for River City, Sugarcane Bay,

and Baton Rouge.

The banks required "mandatory prepayments of indebtedness" from the sale of the Company's Atlantic

City property, its Argentine operations, and the sale of its corporate jet.

Additionally, the banks required an "in-balance" test for the Company's Louisiana projects. In general,

the agreement requires the Company to have all project financing in place before it can proceed. In

their February 5, 2010 quarterly call, CFO Steve Capp conceded that even with the Company's recently

agreed bank deal, the Company could not finance its development pipeline with existing loans. iii

STEVE At TEBRANDO.. With the extension of the bank facility da you guys

believe that the pipeline is fil1aJ1c~'dhere?

STEVE CAPP: No, we are not entirely fin.'1l1ctui yet. Tl1is if; <:1 big part of it

on a go forward b;IS!S. Obviously, our go forward financing pian includes

this bank facility, free cash flow obviously, iliS we go forward. i!nd as we

have ...Iways said, I-ve wi!! continue to b(:! as opportunistic as we ihink it is

prudent t'o be vis-a-Vis the capital markli!ts. But, no, we still need some

capital, ami we will get to that on an opporluni.stic basis.

The Company has previously obtained three deadline extensions from the Louisiana Gaming
Commission and promised to deliver a final plan on March 31. But with time running out and financing
incomplete, Company officials are still mum. When asked whether the Company would confess to
Louisiana regulators, officials said, "We don't currently have any plans to ask for an extension of the
deadline."

During the past few months, federal and state regulators, lenders, and investors have expressed
increasing skepticism about the Company's ability to fulfill its commitments

Page 4



.. UNITE HEIRE! GAJvUNS ·RES~Retti :
., < '"

I The Golden Rule of Real Estate: ~Location, location, location" stales that, all other things being equal, customers will tend to visit those facilities that are closest.
Thiessen polygons show the area that is closest to each SL Louis casino, also called its area of influence. For this analysis. we drew an outer boundary based on a
radius of a minimium of 20 miles to the closest casino. This boundary contains 90% of the metropolitan area population as measured by the 2000 Census We then
divided the outer circle into areas, with one area for every casino. The boundary lines are drawn by constructing a perpendicular line at the midpoint between two
casinos. The rntersection of these perpendicular lines forms the boundaries of each casino's area of influence We then overlaid these areas of influence onto
census tract level demographic data to estimate the characteristics of the population nearest each casino

"National Labor Relations Board Region 14. President Riverboat Casino·Missouri. Inc. and UNITE HERE, Local 74, Case 14·CA-29765. January 28, 2010 and
Casino One Corporation d/b/a Lurnlere Place Casino & Holels and UNITE HERE. Local 74. Case 14·CA-29753, January 28, 2010

I. Fair Disclosure, 04 2009 Pinnacle Entertainment Eamings Conference Call - Final, February 5, 2010
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The Revel Atlantic City Casino Project:
High-yield offering risky due to punishing post-offering
debt, potential labor dispute and declining property values

Novemher ) ),20 I0 'i: ':: !loi ofJen reI. !lui P,,\,cf seulls in he [lie 11i:!U('kieSi ('US/III! iJl!

Furl/f. "I

·Issue/aied ['re,'s ,\ ford! .i i, }O / Ii

I{,;\'cl l:nte;riwl1lncnti:; bulIding a <;2.5 billion casino Oil appro)i.i~

illilldy 20 ,:(:n:s on the !3o,ll<hv,:Ik in Atlalltic (:Ity (ulIowi!li! [vlu:·
g,'1i Stanky's dccisiul'l lO walk away ('rom ,I .;~ 12 hillion ;Ilvestrncn:.

R.cv('l is C-UtTently seeking anorher S1.~72 hill ion or l'ullding VIa (l

high-yH.::ld offering to compkre the project.

\Vi.' b;;:.,rh?VC [here :In: ~ig!1jl!.cant risks tt) in\'CSli;lg. i.n f(evt';! I··:nl.cnnin~

111\:nt:

• Rt'vd is Ilot :11<.: "g,~mt' changer" that SolllC claim it to be. and
wouJci he bard-pressed tli uutperl'onl1 [he I1t'arby !-3nrg,ila

• ()ur £ul,dy~is suggc~tS R~\'L'l may haYl~ trnubi;..: lllaking H1lLTL~~

rayn:(,J1ts during its flrst y::ar or operation.

• Vi\h no cU1Tel1! labor peace agreement III pial'(· .. Revel bet:s ,1

pm<:nllal prolonged 1~1b()r Jispurc thai could Ilt'gallvely aiTeu \)P~

Cl'at ions
• ArLmlic City proptTlY \·,:Iu,..~ (kTLncs m,d.;e it unliKely thai ili'v'CS­

turs would be ahle [0 recover signil'lcant valut' 1'1011'1 their collal­
<'r,d in the eVl.'nl r~evel dcCaults on its 10;.nb.

LnlL,~ Ikre, the Ullin)) lhili rl'lm.~s<'nts 14.000 casillO clIlployee:, In At­
lantic ("1 has pr(:p;lred this I'('pon to assist potential im·,:"t'.lrs 1!1 the
I{cvd high,y;,~ld offGrillg ull(krsland the l1JII C\.l.Clll of lht' ri~ks they
\v{wld b,:.: takmg.

._.._-_......_.._------

UNiTE HERE is the hUSpl:;-:lity 'HDrkers union that repr;;Sf;n;s '.\'0rke!s in the gam:ng :r:ctu~try ~:crGS5 t~e ':;o"jrtry. 1';-:e
::<esearch Departmen~ pf{r~(j0f:S research no the £(1min~J j!1dl1stry frem the perspective 0: ~hO~9 l/ir~o '.,yark in the mdvstr:i

.....-.- _ - _--_._-~---------
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Introduction
In 2()()7, R.:n;! [nt.crlailllllcnl. In (onjunGlion with \!orgall Sl,lIiky, began e(lll~tn,lclIOIl l)(;:

S2,5 billion e;i~ilJo ,)!l ;q)prnximat.l'ly 20 ~!erc~ on the Bo,jrdwa1k III ;\\!allric City Tilc C;I"I:]('

\"'HIIL! have h,.'en the Cirsl d.c',e1oped and the unly one o"xned by Re\c! llI1d \lc1rg,1Il Stanley

In April or 20!O, tVlorgan St;mky :innounccd [!lalie W\lS wriling downlls S 1,2, billion invest,
illClll hy S932 IlililJOIl ;Hld ,..;cl I1l1g ih share in 1!1.c proj"ct. c In Oct.ober. \:lorgan St.;;IlIe:: an­

DuuneeL! l!l,il it \';a,; writing d<'l\\'ll the project by :\!lo1.h,'r 522') miLiun 'lO about 5;40 million

Revel i,,,; reportedly seeking S 1,272 hillioll [() complete COlhlfuciion through il high-yldd olkr,
Thesc l"tillds an.' feponedly In lwo t.r<inche~, an $:>100 O1iillOn S,'l1Ior and a $472 millio!1 jllll­

lUL' The casino will have approxlmatdy ! ,900 hOlt: I ru()lTl~, ahollt 150,000 square rcd u( ca­

sillO Jloor sp:tce and lwemy n:Slaur:tnLS,

This report :Iddrcsscs limt b:;UCS '.>f p,J(cIHi:l1 COIJ;.:Cfn II)! lJ1\eSI<.lIY the oUbi/c,d Cx.p,:clalion" or
R('Vl'I'~; place \vtlhin lhc\d:mlic City Illarket: rhe company's pUlll,-,iling posr'oi'!i:ring (kl>\ bm"
d,:n: :\ pOlenli,,1 lahul' dISpute due to a [Iilur,' 10 S<.:CLlf,' ,I labor pe:1CC ::gf,'cment: and thc' l!Jl1rh:­
lihood of inn:slors r,'co\',:ring. their invcslmcn: in the cvenl or ,I (krautt.

Rcvd: Not a'-Ganlt: Changer"
(jam ing InClille dccl inc,s 'II Allanl ic Cay h::1 \e' bl..'cn vitck! y repol"lL'cL and we wi! i nUl f...tu..,h
tll,'ln ,'\('..:pl to 110!c thaL Ihis yetn willlnllrk the fourth ye<ll" ,)f' tlc'clunng gaming revenue:, )rr'\l­

Jan!IC Cily R"\TUUCS ,k,:lil1l:d (rl):n S52 billion in 2006 to 53 () hilhm In 2(0)1, Fur llli.: firs!.

\0 '!l()ntlb 0;' 20 I0, :- "ilr-l'Hi<ne ga!11ing rcvenu.::~ :m' down an adcJit.:uJ1'11 ') ,1°:;;,'

fh-: olt'eited r,,'a,;on jor [hi: decline" i" iii.:: ma~Sl\'l: il1ClCtlSe in COll:PClltiuli In lh,' NOfthea~1 e'l:',

r!(ior (10m \Vashingtol1 DC to r\~'\V York Cily"

[nv,:srors shuuld v';under ilhout 11K IU~;IL lli'bul:dinl! II Ilew uhirlll ill :'.lbnllC ('dy ',,\'ithol.lt the'
hl..'nclll ot' UWII"d clsinos l:l ut.tlcr jUrIsdictions thai could g,'J1Cr,il,' \isil<lrs,

I{c\',:!'s IJ(}uSlcr.; often claim the proic,'( is a "gam' cbang,,:," [iltH j-; l1,:eessar) It) rC\'ilali/~' !\[­

lamie Cit\" SUte SClJilror .Ii\)I \Vhcbn \vro,(', '-"tl"'llll,,' ellY he,,, 'lilt' spec'ilcul.lr beacon or hnp"
:il.: l<,'vd Ghino prl)j"L[ "che'JukJ t.o 0])(.'11 ir; 20! 1"

But is iL t"cd.l!v d Pdlnc ,..:har1ec!' Lhat \.viH b\.:~ tllUnUl'1C lO the cUret'li! dtJ\V1H'Urn?
", ..." ,-.

The ,':Isinn lliHk'r Clliblructioll is:1 I ,<Jon nhl!11 ca~illo with I11MI)' dining e"ahll.';!!l11cnh, I'CUi!

ShOpplll!-!, and l'r:~l'r[i1il1l11('IH vcnu",~, :\s p!<ll1l1ed, it !n'l].;" tD be;1 niu~ C;]siIlO, bur 'rnlh' unique
1\\ til<: ,:\tl:lfili,: C:ts m;lr!.:.:!.,
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l'ro1l1 the lall10ns \Vhil~' [louse Subs to Hubby Flay, nsilors to :\l!an(i~: City CUll idrclldy choo~,:

h':lW~'':1l ,lver 160 dining \lplions :lnd \lV':I' 225 rctal! options at \!l(' QU:lrter. lite VhlL the Pi~T

:uld ill the: n:lslllIg ca~irl()s With I(Jon hokl roorns, it would unly Ix the cily'> fifth larg"c't
h'el1 KC\:Cr, Ill.CKnilll1<: "l-{,)rg,uil Oil lilt: Koard"'-,lll(" impli,'" !.hill R"\TI will ':Jl' "llndar 10 iii,'
BorgJla,,\ilantlc City's nlOsl ;,UClTSSCul casino, and the hSl g':l1uin,,' g:i1n,,' ,:hangn

2,769

1,752
1,898

2,010

Borgata Harrah's Tropicana Taj Mahar Revel Bally's

Graph!: 1I00e! Rooms in ,'/ {lUi/iie City

Frnily Szc, an :lllalysl with IIVS, a leading lwspitaltty industry consl.t1tillg [!lId ,-;<.'rviccs (;lIm"

[';1I1y, wrofi:,."T'hc addition or dilnng. t\~tail and entcrtdinllJ~'lll opti,)l1;'; lal Revel] offn !1lore

aIEt'lli,li.:s lhan local gaming Llcilities, but. lhls will ~'l\)bahly nOIII>(:] cllough to Hleltc visit,illOll
on r: reg,ulal" hdSj~.)·';

Revel 1\lay "'ot Be Ef.:(HHHlIjcall~'Via hIe
\Vhcn Rcvt'i \v;:),; applyillg fiJi 5,'\50 t.tli/lion in grants f'I'(HTi the St,ltl' o(:\c\', Jers.:v (Rcvel ulti­
maId: \vilhdrcw the ;lppiicalion ill the midst or 1l1lCllSC public pressure). thc cOlnpany ~Llh1l1il­

led lin:Ulci:d proJect.ions t.1i rbc SUlc',.; l:collOlnic Ikvc!ormcnl ,\ulh'llily, [n tllt)~C ['inal'c:ial"
Rcv\'~l, (l~-:illl,-,d that the cornpany',) slot 11'.lachin;,,:~ ditd table galllcs v/oldd rna!:~e nlore IJlOney iht..i,l1

Ik,-ga(.l'" th;lt il would drargc !liol'e tilr hOlel It)(HnS, would make more on 1.. ,<)\1 :lUd bc\'crilgl'

dl1li gi\'c /cs., m compliiH"'lllancs lO high mlitTS all \\'illl a third i'nVt'! l'lhllIL-; II,,;!! B\Jr!ClIU Lind
in a (DIIl'.':'.:1 or !:,-rcl,<lly i!l(Ttascd icglon"lt ('unq)ctitlOIl.

I
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Category Revel Projections for 2012 Borgata Results 2009

Gaining Will per posirioll 5433 !lcr day

!\ v<:rag~' Ilotd IZuum Ratl' S 179 S133

per day
.........._.__._--------j

1[0[<:1 Occupancy 933';{ 0''''.)_~ /0

Comp rait~ 1(; I';,;

CjTOSS op'~r,llillg Prollll'vfar- 29.0%

Ii7h!e /.. Neve! F'rojcctions 1'.1'. [{org(lla Rcsl/!rs

Co calculate 1110re rcalistic projections wc projeued reVCllues and Cimss Op('rallllg Profit (COP
ur L:l'lITD,\) Cor lZl'VcI's casino project by utllizlng JI' rv1org~lfl's PIOi<:dioJis lCJr the 13orgata.
We as:,ulncd that slotlllClchines and wh!\: games ,-,muld generate as IlHich d(jily Wlll ,It Rcvd as
at the Borgilta in 20J 2. We also :lssurTled that Rewl \vould hil\'C the same:.: et)lllp rat,.' ami CiOP
margin as the Rorgala in 2012 (Cel]" llur IlIIi projections sec th<..' Appendix). '" Ik'c(llhe inkrest
rates have nOI been reponed. we Hill the:.: caiculations at threc scC'narios.

Revel Model Interest rates'l Interest rates Interest rates
2012E 9%/12.5% 9.5%/13.0% 10.0°/./13.5%

(first year of opera-
, tion)

Ciross Opcr,ning Protits
(lOP)

S164 5164 SIM

S 1,272
._.._------_._--

7.8"

$137

S1,272SI.272

-----j
$144 j

I
-l:;-;-el·l~:;;--C--()-\.-·c·-r'-li--:t-'-1<-a-t-i0-+---I-.-2-S-X---t---1-.-I,-)X'-"- --+---l-I·'-:;-X--·_--1".,1

(ClOP.intercst)

r)t~bt [{,arlo {fJcbL/CiC)P} 7.Rx
_ .._._-----"-----+---------+------+---
i\nnuallntt'restpay- $131
Inent

1---.-.-.----.------ .---------.-t-.--.---------..---+- - - - j

Debt

Table 2.. Financio! Pm/eeliolls (in Jr:i!!i!)!7s)

The intcr~'SI covcrag.L' ratio is "a ratio used to tkkl·minc how cC\:-.J!y ,\ cornp:.tI1y C<in pay :nkrc..;\
on outstanding ddll.'" The debt covenants in the credit agrccIT1C!il '·or koyd liarnir;g, tile p;lr­

Cl!t cnrnpany COl' the Horgala. require thai Boyd maintain at least ,\10x Illlcrest ('ov~Tag'_' Eat!,.)
<111(1 limi ts the (ot,11 It:n;rage ratio !.tl 725:<.1.\ At th: end or Scplcll1b,:r 20 IO. Hoyd' s Imere;!.
Covcranc 1{,ltio was 2.6x.and the ((Hal !cverauc was o.9x.'\ ._ .._. .._...__. _

4
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II R-:\'cl performs worse thall these projcctions. till' casino wiH likely have t.rouble Inilkin~ inter­

est payments ,)n its loan~. which coulJ result in a de!i:wlt.

Potential Labor Dispute
i\ potential barrier to Rcvclmccting these revenue projections is the possibility ora labor dIS­

pute at the cas1l1o. Unite HClI:: Local 54 represcnts almost 14.000 people who \,,'ork at the I I
casinos in Atlantic City. Local 54's l:ontracts with tlh' various casino eompaJlics in Atlantie
City arc subSlanti::lily unikll'IIl ..At the tillle oCthis writing, Hevel has not seclIn:d II lahur peace
agre 'Illenl with Local 54. opening thl: door to a potentially protracted labor displltc.

We review hcrc' three recent dJspuks between Luud 54 and casilJo cOlllpanies.

The lflO.! CitY-lvide Strike
In October or 2004, atter Local 54 and several casino companies failed to reach an ;lgre~nK'i)(

during contractllegOlialions, approximately 10,000 rncmbns or Local 5~ went on strike agaill.'t
seven of the casinos in Atlantic City. The strike laskd 34 days, including th(: ,:ntire month of
October.

Gaming Revenues at Struck
Casinos fell 10% during Strike

$250 J
$240

$230

$220 1
$210 1
$2001

$190 1-
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

I

Graph 2,I!!al1lic Cill' Gaming Revenues Odober

Glaph 2 show,; October gaming revenues froll1 1999- 2004 1'01' the seven elisino,; that \vere

struck.

For til<.: month ,:d." October, tllc scven struck casinos saw gaming revcnuc decline by S23.2 mtl­
hun 01- 1).X'>-,~ (the casinos that were not aflcckd by the strike saw revenue incl'ea"\c\ orS30.6
milli()Il ,)r 2 !2",r,J. Cktl)b,:r 2004 was a faVOi"ablc month with 10 \'veckend days versus only;~ in

2003
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It is worth observing that gaming ITvcnues Cor the month of the strike were lower than !I1the
11rst fulllliunth l\)llowing the terrorist attacks ufSeptemher J 1. 2001

C; Ivell the irnpad of the suike on gaming revenues. inveswrs nwy \veU wondt:1 how a r)f()lt'll).';ed
labor dispute \villl Loca] 54 'xou!e! aft"",'t Revd 's operations

Local 5-1 lind Tropicalla En/eftaillmCII!
if to h{(!if!ve [hal Ihe ci..L'i'ino CON/ro! cOJnn:i:;,vio!l(;rs

the drUlllhcur Luud 5./
nui ill SiinIC Will

-Joseph IVe/llcu,

In Jal1uacy 20CO, Columbia Sussex took posseso;ion of the Tropj..:ana Casillo in !\tlantic
and almost immediately began lo draslicaLly slash the workfi:)f(::l~.

III response to C'uiUlltlm\ SLbSCX 's ag.gfi2S';IV~·

the conditions at the TropiGma,
Local 54

i'hat Fal!, when the C;lsil1o Control COI11lnissiol1 held "C\CJl:"ll.\4

Tht: \:ew Jersey C;lStnO Control Commissiull uitlrnatdy lkmed ,.; liecilse re­
newaL sdying lhe company lacked the good business abJiitv and till:Hlciai r~'­

spollslbill.ty reqw1cd umkr state taw,

[n their reporl, ;Hld comments, commis;.;ioners tlh:' unlU'" inl1uenec.
their deCIsion \vas based pure!)-' un \-'lOtBtions such as

tllliure tu set up ,Ill independent clUd!t cormnillee, But observc'!':; said Unite Here
cr~';Hnl such had pubheity t;,Jr Tropieana that regulators \vould have been ,",n,_neE'''''''''
1,(, act \)thcrwlse

Under New Jersey lav., when Ll casino cumpany is dented a license th,,: Casino Control C'urn-
mission appoints a tru,;tee to sci! the ('Isinl.), The casino company what it fin the
casino and any protlt goes w lhe state Tropl...:ana sold ftJr S200 million worth of
company bonds that wen; purchased at on the: dollar, ur appro\i1Tl(\tely $54 rnilliofl,

Revel and Public Financing
In 2010. lv/forgan Stanley and Revel sought rniiiJon in stale ami I,\c;d Cunds to
fInance: tit,: completion or the caslntl. Unile Hen~ Loeal5-1 With diverse allieS 0"';"'\'''0

Amnicans ror Prosperity publicly opposed the pubiJc tinancmg,"

•
At the "anh.: lillie, i\Iurgan Stanie\' and Rc\'C1 \ven: negotitilmg Wlth it Chitll's\' hank to
IIn<mcmg 10l the project.
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•

'\llcr ,j ,;u,;CL's\!'ul rcl'crL'ndlllll petition, law,;uilS and an dit'tnpt lO CllilllgC ,tate law to help
F{L'\\,'L J ,t<lte,wide poll :;howed thal 'e\v JCI'SCY ta\p;iycr:; opp'lscd prOlldmg puhlic fumls fu:
Rl"\·\"~l hy ;1 2-t\)~ i nl~lr~in. Local 5~:l ~s oppo:-)jt.lOtl \va~ p~·ll't of rht~ reiJ~()n ~vlorgdn Suud<:'y (1C>

cidee! to l'xl! the illh'S111h:nL A" llit' Irail SireN Journal reported:

(\lur~an St:ll kYI was driven largely by a fi:ll,I1Ci,l! analysis or th..: /\r!antic City markd,
this pcr\on :,;ai,:, But Imblie outcry sml'Ouilding the pmj\."cl had al,;o Ix-:;ollJC troubling!O
the bank, tillS f)(.'I'St'!11 said, "'>

ln the c;nd, Morgan Stanky ca,;iled In ils dllpS, Reh;l v;;lhdrc\\ the appiicaliun ,'or public ['unds
and the CJiil'll:S': hank (ledin,:d to pruvlck ilmdmg

Declining ProperryValues :'!Iake Recovering Asst'ls Questionable
ffthe shrinking Atlantic CIlY maker <ind Revel',; ul1\villingncs" to wUlk '\dh Local 54 ~\L'l'e It)

kac to a credit irnp<linnCIJt or default. lww !1ke!y arc invc"lor" to be i;hk to f('CCHlp their io"sc<)

rhL: reel'lll ::;<11: of' hall' 01' Atle,mie CilY'~ premier c~bin(), the B{)i'gd~a, "uggest,; tint invcswrs
would be hard prcs:,,:d to i'CCO\'cr it!l\whcre dos~' v) S 1,2 billio:, ['n)n1 Re\cl

In clrlyNovcl11heL 11 W,\; reported that Leow:rd Green & I)ililncr~ had <ip)',:ed tn purdw:,c
:Y1C,\I',; 50""" share \)1'\!K' Horgal<l i,)!' $250 million,'! in 2009, Borgalil had Ciross
Profits O:HITD,\I \)fS205million, 25';;, more than y\,(' proleu CO! Revel's iir;; ),';11' ofoper:l­
UOll.

If hdt" or the 130r!IaIJ, the Irll)sl sun:cssf'ul c:lSino in i\tlanuc City. sells [;)1' S250 ll1i:iioil, how
!lIuch cOlJidinvcs;ors h\)p,~ lu reCO\'LT il I?ev('i \\("rc sold in a fire ,alL'"

Conclusion
Rcvd Entertainillent a:lll !\:l\Hgan Stanley have e!JosL'J'l to build a casino in !\iiamic Cilv in lh~'

rnld~t of a perfect stnnn, IncrcClsc'd cOll1pctition and (he nalional I'L'Cl'c.sion have balkrl'd gclln­

lIlg r~ven lies,

~vlc(iiwhih~, Rev..:I's t::ilul\: 10 secure ~i labor p(:a('\; agrccnlcnl \vith i\tli\llliC City"s !;H'gesl unlOll
creates the vcry real p()%ibiliiy ol':, labor di~rupliun,

C)ur J1nancli.d prujci:tiul1~ suggest that R;,,~vcl rHi::Y 1;;)\'~~ difficult:.: lll~iking rhc- paytJ"ic:Hts on d:-:
10,:11:> [:1 the eVc:ntl<l'\'<:! de!~1Ult:'. rhe reccilt saki 01';\ lull' inter".;! in th\:' l:hngaL:\ "uggc-;IS lbl
in'. ~>ilor~ \\"()\dd h~!\-c: :.1 h~!rd linl:: recovering their in\·c'.,,;ullcnt:, .
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Appendix:
Hcnllue Projections for "organ Stanley's ..:asillo. Zll12 (Ycar ()ne)

53.0551S3.055
,

53.0551

I_...of Slor~__ 3.500 3.500 ~-~~~)J
iSlot IYIll pt'f day S296 $296 $2961
r(i ,;l;;lnL; Rc\'t:;;~;~"-' . "S'S;J}:n i Hion·····~t5 93 mil 11~;;;I·-·-··-:;:;-;).}·!·l ;;11 :;~1

I':~~~:~~~::(~~~~;~;:~~~l' ~nu C ::-,c-. 45 .4% 4:; .4:~r-'---'--"---":;:~~: J

!a :'-001 .Jalll!ng ,c\~cnUt" I ~
f-------------...-,-------------- --·----·--..----+1------ ----j

Non-gam'ng ReV('llue I 5269 million $269 million 5269 million

Tuta! Revellue I SX<i2 million SR62 millinll Sl-i()2 million

~~~~1l11~~~l:,__ 1~~e- ._19'Y~ ..... . .__ 19%I
lColnp~ $16411nlljonl $164 rnillio!: Sl(j4 million:
I ' ,

:~~I~:;::::~~' $69" ':~ I~:: ! S:~~~;I_~:"k '~~;~':'~!
iGOP Si64 ITllillOn! ~164 m~ilIUl1! SIM lnd:ronl

ID<.' be -, '-; I . '2n ill!: I:on jS1~2T: -;;-;:ii~o~-i·--SI:2-~~-I~~ ;J1;~jl
D-~L~~GOl~·---_·--·--- --.------- 7.75x ------- -- -----:; i5~~-r-"-""-- ---- ....-:;:-75;

~~~.:~.~~~~~--._----. ~2~ 2 ~:~ -------~~.:~(;~~-:·~~~ll=-~-(~~~--~~..~:2..:1~
'\:ll1ual lnlt:'re"L Pay- . .

I
- SJ\1 million Si:\ 7 1ll:IIIO:l 5144 milli!):l

We III 1
_, ~~ _M' ~ . ~ ~ __~ ~~_ ~~__~ ~_........ ~ ~ _~ u. • _ __ "

I fll(l'"!t.:""': l 0\'1.:1 dge i
. 125xi ,1'hl .14xl
I (GOP Inkrc;;l)

•
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•

i "_.\t;;J.nt'i~ Clly R~\\.:I .:a:--illu '\ <:I} du",~ - lu S 1U dc-iII ,,;:n!J CllIna to ccnnpkt:..: ploj;..·cr .. .h·'fll·!f.'l(,;.! 1"';.(.\...... \fardl

.J 1,2,' I{}
> \i~:rg.._Hl Stani~y, (}uarlcrly !{cpon (F\l~;n I{J-();. ;-..·tndl.·: I. 21JJti

~ \Xiah.":'.\'-:k:. Don:'dd, v·R(:\·i..~l CEO ..:on;ld~nt 111 rn wjjj ;-.t"cun.~ ,"!. \ hillioJ:; ~n rliLulcl.l~g liq' {ini'lrd,.. L..:d ;::;hinn .­

j'!'rJS'; (~f I /janIH' (V"'~\' ·t"o\·t.'n-dH:r h. }O! O.

CU' \1'lt1lh!y hes;, R.ek:l'~, Ouobcr 20 I \I, Decem),,;;r :::OC)(" :::Oil')
'And there 1S tnon: ~ornpt;(ition ttl cO:TI\:.:

• The full 11li!'):JC.t. of t~[hk garn(:~ in P(;nn~) [v~l11i'a and Dt:i~lW;jrC i,:; ~':Lr to ht: t~':lt

• .:\ 4.Snu ,':"l-!C,l! In;tchint: C,l::-dnu 1\ currently ul!ckr con)trUI.:l.tOil in t)uc;;;t;;--;., ::.nd a portion ofdH\'< nuchlnc.'''' i..-:""ltld
be npCI:,J1i\)!;(i! '..,v;thin ".-i,\ lr~onlh'!,

• \/ou:-r", gav.: ,lppni\·ul. h) /,~',n:ng (h;,n1~~=::-; th~q wnu!d ..'n.a~jlc:.i ,~ ISO :;101 111a'.,h:nt..: u.l;-tin{) ll; b<:- open in \nnc
/\rundd edunty. \.f'aryLmd,

• A s~ci)!1d r;'l'.)llft i;:; pianflcd for Ph~I~lL::ph;d,

:S,l<.tlc-n:cnto(Sl.:na«)(' \\'heLll UIl S920 SUbll"lIH...:d 10 rh..: Selia!;.:: ECUJ)l)~Tlic Gnj\vlh Cornnlilt(:c, r~bruary j~ 2010.
~'\\'iltk('}\<.'.'dc, Don;.dd. "f !or"'::-t ~t)r !\tiant!c Cicy n:--:.: \\-'lth RC-\' ...·1·· Pn.!_'l·,\ o{:·i,:;'ti};{!l' ('irr~ '\UgU~it r~. ;f"j(J9.
,'SZ~. F:~miiy, '·.-\Uantli: CJl~~' {':L')!J)(I :11h1 I1nU:l \'1ark>:! Outldl)k ~uln.·· H'..'S, jaru~H-Y ~:f}, 2UI[i

,j" , r j ,.' ",'

~'~'r... i)!~..;- '.v~ h:1V~_: ::':'lun1..::d H\.lr~;~lt(!-:ikl..:' rcY\...'nli(:~ Jnd ~(J1Tlr', ,,",ullr('c: (rl":.:' fl. lo ...t.::pll. "I:hiyd (rtii11.IIl~ C!!"l,}llp_" JP
\·l(~rgan. :\Ugu;-,l 9. ::I~;, n.

!\Dtc: :h<:- inter::.:,... ! I',de, "':(lIT;:T~p(;nJ to th: lir.:-.{ and :-.ccf1rH! tnt!ii;:h~. f:'jj" ''::\~:lJ'''lph', "(I(;';J, 1: 5') ,j.' n~:'::l!1:"; ;)"'j ,n; lb-.::
iir:-t t: ar:~hL' !inJ i.2 )(;'" on [he ~ccond .

.' !-}cyd (TiI;'lU1g.., ~I;~(}, S~ph:n;bcr 31), 20i{i, ii. 2~1.

:, /~iI'Ct:lL :\n\ir·.:\'.', ',[h
'
>d (i;JIlHI1;l,.·- Dculsch(' B:lHk, lkhlb;,:'" 25. 2U; u

.<; \'1 i·.;hlK, :v~i(h:.u,:J., "L nion Pl.lsh\., ..L Tror FdL" L.j.~ L't',~~iiS Sun. \tuy i), ~f)O~;.

'" \f!,;J-,,:k. \lichael. hI 'nilil1 Pibhed. 'IreI' F..:,li " Lu,; r'"g<1,' :':UI1, ;Vlay ''>. 2;JO><
\ViuGko\\~ki, Donald, "Trop S'Ncars 'Yung h:ts 'nil" in rJ Ul; 11((' ,. Pre:...·'.- u/Ai/dn/il Cii.':, July ~8. ~1)n9.

':' Lh:-rZ(Hl, ;'\lcx~lndr~l, ~-Ho ....\' odds of ~ucu.:~,;~~ gOl !nngLf I()I' iv!org:ln Stanky', ca.;.;in(J pla11 1
' Irati ,\·h·<,.'<'f )U(,''-;;U/'

!\I'd ',2010
"/\thntic ('it)" Rc\,.::,{ cd;'lnu >\'~ry cLJ\c' ti." S i H deal wl!h ('1';'11\:'1 tel l:un;pkk Pl·'~.i:.~·(:t." ,"i.'l'\·(,(·jared j-);,c'S\, \-1;JfCh

:0:0
r:h~!'/Dn, .:\iC(HndrJ, '''i''Lv.,\' odd,,;, of" \ur~>.;\' .. gut lpn~;t~r rl,)r \'iorg;;m SUlnky·:;-;.

'\rH';! 5. ~:(.! J ()

"p"",,):~\. SU'ItHc, "I, :\, :il'li b:,L; jor \iCi\i', :~(J"',;"ak..: i:llhr,,::lil, 'lui",Je'.!'!,,!: h,,!!!,!',:, , >':(,hT'';',,,' .=UI!I,

D:u!y c.ld! \-\in ;hil> !,Ibk \-\-in. ,:;, rHJl1-il.~ln1!nt~ rt.:\l'!nl~. i.,'(Hn;t r:~t~; dnd CC)P ni;H~~ln :,ilC: a) 1;.lkl.'!'1 rHJ!ll (d·:..'iT
.roscr-h, 'ndyd (j~Hnj;~g erdap -, .!P \'{cirgi.Ul. "\UgU:-f 9. ~~I'I; II,

.' \Viako\,\'"kL I)(lnald. "Rc\'d t T:O cnnfiJent !jn~l \\'ill ;.c·.,.:ur\." S!.3 h;jj:(}n m ftn,llking f(lT" ul\l~;~i:,h~d (U~,ll;O.··

/>n.:.\.'J fit 'l:l~JJft!(' C,;7)'. l'~o\'c:nbC'r b, 201 O. ~~

'\ '\o,"c !i: ... · irlt ...:n:;-..t 1.1t.::-- n!n~'\p(\riil to tho.: :i!·q .Jlid -,l:L:IJIHl {!~m;.:hi..:. !~)f :'-:.-.:iurq·\·, '"1)'1, i 2. -;1' '-' nh.?i!lh lr~" i't!'l i!-~\.·

l~r>1. l;-~:n":~"'!(' ~~nd l,! ".' , i}~1 1h\.: ,,~:ci)nd
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Unite Here Gaming Research Issues Investor Alert and
Launches Website on Revel Entertainment's Atlantic City
Casino Project

Thursday November 11, 2010 -15:50 PM EST

Source: Business Wire News Releases
Author: Unite Here

Click here to read the oriz:inal story

Responding to the dearth of independent research on the Revel casino project as it prepares for a $1.3 billion
high-yield debt offering, Unite Here Gaming Research today issued its first report on Revel Entertainment,
and launched www.revelwatch.or~, a website providing an independent source of information on the Atlantic
City casino project.

The report analyzes the significant risks to investors associated with Revel's debt offering, including 1) Revel
may have trouble making interest payments on the debt; 2) a potential major labor dispute with South Jersey's
largest labor union, Unite Here Local 54; and 3) the likelihood, in the event of a default by Revel, that
investors would be unable to recover significant value due to declining property values in Atlantic City.

"Given the paucity of independent analysis and information available on this project, especially the potential
for a labor dispute, we felt it was important to create a resource that would be available for all stakeholders in
the project," said Ben Begleiter, senior research analyst for Unite Here.

The website will satisfy the need for up-to-date information on this project, providing critical information for
prospective investors, lenders, residents, and other stakeholders so they can make an informed decision about
their respective involvement and support of the casino project.

www.revelwatch.org will provide breaking news and detailed information not available anywhere else. The
website will also provide continuing coverage of the project's risks, including the likelihood of major labor
unrest.

Visitors to the website can register for breaking news updates.

Revel's majority owner, Morgan Stanley (NYSE' MS), recently wrote down its $1.2 billion investment in
Revel to just $40 million and announced plans to sell its stake in the casino.

UNITE HERE Local 54 represents workers at all II casinos in Atlantic City. In 2004, Local 54 waged a 34
day strike at seven Atlantic City casinos, the longest strike in Atlantic City history. In 2007, Local 54 opposed
the license renewal of the Tropicana Casino and Resort in Atlantic City.

Contacts:

Unite Here
Ben Begleiter 609-344-5400 x.lll
bbe~leiter@unitehereor~
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